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Zoning Commission Recommendation:
Denial by a vote of 9-0

Owner / Applicant: Ben Patterson

Site Location: 6245 Granite Creek Dr. Mapsco: 44C

Proposed Use: Group Home for Recovering Drug and Alcohol Addicts

Request: From: "A-5" One-Family

To: "PD/A-5" Planned Development for all uses in "A-5" One-Family plus group home
with eight residents and one resident supervisor; site plan waiver requested

Land Use Compatibility: Requested change is not compatible.

Comprehensive Plan Consistency: Requested change is not consistent.

Background:
The proposed site is located on Granite Creek Dr. just east of Boat Club Road. The applicant is
proposing a zoning change from "A-5" One-Family to "PD/A-5" Planned Development for all uses in "A-5"
plus group home with eight residents and one resident supervisor. Group Homes are allowed by right in
multifamily districts, mixed-use districts, and the "CF" Community Facility district.

The owner/applicant has been operating a "sober house" at the site for approximately a year. According
to information about the business, the purpose of the facility is to teach recovering alcoholics and addicts
a set of spiritual principles and hold them accountable for their recovery. The business operates as a
non-profit and offers a home setting. The facility has eight beds for residents and one bed for live-in
management. The use of mind altering substances is not tolerated and random urine screenings and
breathalyzer tests are required; the facility operates with an established set of rules. The facility is
intended to be a transition residence where residents may stay from two weeks to several months.

The facility was issued citations by Code Compliance for operating a business in a residential district. In
May 2012, the municipal court judge found that the applicant/owner was running a business in the
residential neighborhood which is prohibited in a single-family zoning district. The transcript of court case
was emailed to each Zoning Commissioner and is available for review at City Hall in the Planning and
Development Department.

The requested rezoning to a group home would allow a maximum of eight residents and one resident
supervisor for a total of nine residents living in the home on a 24 hour basis. The definition of "family" per
the Zoning Ordinance includes no more than five unrelated persons living and cooking as a single
housekeeping unit or home, expressly excluding lodging, boarding or fraternity houses. An alternative to
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the request for nine total residents could be to allow a maximum of five residents in the group home,
which is more consistent with a typical "family" structure and more compatible with the surrounding single
family neighborhood. The maximum of five persons would include a resident supervisor. A non-resident
supervisor would be allowed and would not be included in the determination of who resides in the group
home. An alternative to the requested zoning could also include a limitation of the on-site parking to not
exceed one vehicle per bedroom or one vehicle per resident. The group home would also be required to
obtain a Certificate of Occupancy from the City.

The owner/applicant's request should be considered a request for a reasonable accommodation under
the federal Fair Housing Act.

At the Zoning Commission, neighbor opposition included parking concerns, both in number of cars and
location. The parking concerns also included the inability of emergency vehicles to use a primary road
within the subdivision to respond to calls. Other neighbors were concerned about blocking the sidewalks
and increased traffic in the neighborhood.

Site Information:
Owner: Ben Patterson

PO Box 92
Morgan, TX 76671

Agent: James W. Schell
Acreage: 0.13 acres
Comprehensive Plan Sector: Far Northwest
Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:

North "A-5" One-Family / single-family
East "A-5" One-Family / single-family
South "A-5" One-Family / single-family
West "A-5" One-Family / single-family

Recent Relevant Zoning and Platting History:
Zoning History: None
Platting History: None

Tran rt ti fAspo a Ion ccess
In Capital

Street/Thoroughfare Existing Proposed Improvements
Plan (CIP)

Granite Creek Dr. Residential Residential No

Public Notification:
The following Neighborhood Associations were notified:

The Trails of Marine Creek
Marine Creek Ranch
Fort Worth Stone Creek Ranch

Eagle Mountain Alliance
Eagle Mountain-Saginaw ISO

Development Impact Analysis:
1. Land Use Compatibility

The applicant is proposing a zoning change from "A-5" One-Family to "PD/A-5" Planned
Development for all uses in "A-5" plus group home with eight residents and one resident
supervisor. The proposed site is surrounded by single-family residents, the proposed use does
not meet the City and State definition of Group Home, and exceeds the number of residents
allowed by right as a "family" for this single family zoning district. In addition, the site will be
offering treatment services that are outside of the confines of a standard residential neighborhood.

As a result, the proposed zoning is not compatible with surrounding land uses.
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• Encourage development type and intensity appropriate to existing or planned street
infrastructure. (pg. 38)

• Encourage appropriate development and redevelopment within central city commercial
districts and neighborhoods. (pg. 38)

2. Comprehensive Plan Consistency
The 2012 Comprehensive Plan designates the subject property as single-family. The proposed
"PD/A-5" plus group home zoning is not consistent with the following Comprehensive Plan
policies:

Based on the conformance with the future land use map and policies stated above, the proposed
zoning is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.

To view the Comprehensive Plan: http://www.fortworthgov .org/planninganddevelopmentlm isc.aspx?id=81678

Attachments:
• Location Map
• Area Zoning Map with 300 ft. Notification Area
• Future Land Use Map
• Aerial Photograph
• Human Resources Code, Chapter 123 Community Homes For Disabled Persons Location Act
• Minutes of the Zoning Commission meeting
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Area Zoning Map
Applicant: Ben Patterson
Address: 6245 Granite Creek Drive
Zoning From: A-5
Zoning To: PD for A-5 uses plus group home with 8 residents & 1 supervisor, site plan waiver
Acres: 0.13
Mapsco: 46C
SectorlDistrict: Far Northwest
Commission Date: 10/10/2012
Contact: 817-392-8043
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1          Transcript of Audio Segments entitled,
2          "Court 9_20120307-1418_01ccfc6d2efe3bf0"
3          "Court 9_20120307-1427_01ccfc6e733d6fb0"
4          "Court 9_20120307-1546_01ccfc79745e9620"
5          "Court 9-20120319-1303_01cd05d0bc324540"
6          "Court 9-20120319-1328_01cd05d42d691740"
7          "Court 9-20120319-1340-01cd05d5e13f7e20"
8          "Court 9-20120319-0809_01cd327221992e80"
9          "Court 9-20120319-0810_01cd327221992e90"
10          "Court 9-20120515-1002_01cd3281c7936cbO"
11          "Court 9-20120515-1115_01cd328c1ae3810"
12          "Court 9-20120515-1233_01cd3296fl1921ba0"
13          "Court 9-20120515-1325_01cd329e32b9a060"
14          "Court 9-20120515-1333_01cd329f51e51950"
15          "Court 9-20120515-1344_01cd32a0e8e09180"
16          "Court 9-20120515-1350_01cd32a1b442799b0"
17          "Court 9-20120515-1414_01cd32a50b0f7f10"
18          "Court 9-20120515-1428_01cd32a707d5ed00"
19
20
21
22
23     Transcribed by:  Suzanne Kelly, CSR
24
25
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1                    (Segment 1 of DVD labeled as:  "Court
2     9_20120307-1418_01ccfc6d2efe3bf0":)
3                    THE COURT:  Ms. Pacheco, if you want to
4     come forward, I will hear your motion.  Is the State
5     ready?  Just for the pre-trial.
6                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes.
7                    THE COURT:  And we are on the record in
8     this matter.
9                    MS. PACHECO:  Before we start, I

10     believe that there were seven notices that were
11     received by the Defense today, attached by Mr.
12     (Inaudible.)  There were a couple of cases that we
13     received tickets for and never did receive the notice.
14     I don't know if there's a way to figure out what
15     numbers those are so that everything can be heard at
16     once because it's my understanding the tickets were
17     all identical.  Just issued in rapid succession.
18                    THE COURT:  Okay.  (Inaudible) on the
19     remaining ones, see where they are.  I don't know if
20     they were issued.  Sometimes if they are issued by
21     a -- different officers, then those officers have
22     different court times, different days.  And that could
23     be.  What we may want to do is depending upon how long
24     this could take to try, once we get past the pre-trial
25     matters, may want to arrange for a special setting on
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1     this so that we have plenty of time to hear it all at
2     once.
3                    FEMALE SPEAKER:  The other two show to
4     be set to jury -- going to be set to jury.
5                    THE COURT:  Did you request a jury
6     trial on those?  (Inaudible) request (inaudible.)
7                    FEMALE SPEAKER:  It shows on here the
8     Defendant wants a jury trial.
9                    THE COURT:  So at some point a request

10     was made for jury --
11                    FEMALE SPEAKER: (Inaudible.)
12                    THE COURT:  Depends.  Who is the
13     officer on those?
14                    MS. PACHECO:  The same officer.
15                    THE COURT:  Same officer?  Okay.  All
16     right.  Like I said, we'll have to see what our time
17     constraints.  I'll listen to the pre-trial at this
18     point, and make a decision and see if we need to reset
19     these to have them specially set.  We do have a 3:00
20     o'clock docket and it's 2:20.
21                    And with this number of cases,
22     sometimes what I'll do in order to not get unduly
23     behind, because we have a 3:00 o'clock docket and I
24     have an appointment at 4:15, we'll just have to
25     arrange a time outside the normal dockets for all of
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1     these cases to be heard together.  All right?
2                    Okay.  And you had some pre-trial
3     matters you want to move before the Court?
4                    MS. PACHECO:  Yeah.  It was a Motion to
5     Dismiss the claim.  If I may give a very brief
6     overview of the facts.
7                    THE COURT:  Well, do you have anything
8     in writing today for me to consider?
9                    MS. PACHECO:  No.  But if you give me

10     five minutes I'll handwrite it and file it.
11                    THE COURT:  No.  I want to make sure we
12     stick to the law on this and don't get too much into
13     the facts.  If it's a Fair Housing Act issue, you
14     know, I'm aware of the protected classes --
15                    MS. PACHECO:  Right.
16                    THE COURT:  -- under that.  And I
17     didn't know if you were going to first start arguing
18     the exceptions on the one hand and the protections on
19     the other hand, we need to go ahead and go to trial
20     but if there's a Motion to Dismiss based on procedural
21     issues.
22                    MS. PACHECO:  It's simply based on the
23     fact that the individuals living in the house are
24     recovering alcoholics or drug addicts and therefore,
25     they are considered to be disabled under the Americans
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1     with Disabilities Act.  The Fair Housing Act requires
2     that any land use restriction that is impacting a
3     disabled person's ability to live in the community,
4     those restrictions are subject to reasonable
5     accomodation and these individuals -- it's eight
6     individuals that live together as roommates and -- but
7     that's all that goes on there.
8                    They -- they live there.  They share
9     the cost of the mortgage.  They share the electricity

10     bill.  They share the food bill.  And to my knowledge,
11     them living there is the only basis for the -- for the
12     claim that they are running a business out of that
13     house.  And --
14                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Is there a response
15     from the State?
16                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes.  Rule 5 of the
17     Municipal Court rules, pre-trial motions, pre-trial
18     motions shall be filed in writing in all cases where
19     any -- let's see -- where Defendants claim there are
20     legal issues involving sufficiency, the criminal
21     complaint or the law from which the complaint is
22     drawn, which -- that's what this is.  And so this is
23     not in writing.  This is oral.
24                    Deadline to file, unless either of the
25     leave has been granted, all pre-trial motions have
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1     been filed at least fourteen days prior to trial and
2     shall be heard no later than three days prior to trial
3     unless otherwise set by the Court.  This is an oral
4     motion that we're -- Defense counsel is asking to hear
5     right before trial, and we submit that it's not timely
6     and not written.
7                    Also, it relies on representations that
8     Defense counsel makes, which may or may not prove to
9     be true at trial and, therefore, an issue that is best
10     decided at trial.
11                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Do you have the
12     April calendar over there?  Dorothy?
13                    FEMALE SPEAKER:  Yes.
14                    THE COURT:  You do?
15                    MS. PACHECO:  Judge, I don't think this
16     is going to take more than about five minutes from my
17     side.  I don't know how long Mr. Durkin needs for his
18     evidence.  But what I just gave you is the crux of the
19     case.  There's -- there are no more facts other than
20     putting him on the stand to verify that what I just
21     told you is true.  That's the extent (inaudible.)
22                    THE COURT:  What's your best time
23     estimation?  My -- what I was going to do was reset
24     this for April, and that would allow Defense counsel
25     time to file any pre-trial motions.  If it's really
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1     that simple, I can see a brief by both sides and
2     consider that then and allow -- there's a lot of
3     tickets here to be considered.
4                    Truly, five minutes?  Do you think you
5     can get through this?
6                    What's your time estimate for the case?
7     I was thinking no less than an hour with the number
8     that we have.
9                    MR. DURKIN:  Oh, well, first off, I'm
10     going to inform the Court I'm going to try one case
11     today.
12                    THE COURT:  Okay.
13                    MR. DURKIN:  Whenever we go to trial,
14     I'm going to try one case.
15                    THE COURT:  Okay.
16                    MR. DURKIN:  And I would ask the
17     Court -- instead of deciding to reset it, I would ask
18     the Court to deny Defense counsel's oral motion not
19     timely filed.
20                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, if we try one
21     today, obviously, we do have time before the 3:00
22     o'clock docket to probably get through that.  So we
23     can get through one.
24                    Yes.  Defense counsel's motion is
25     denied and we can go forward on the oldest of the
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1     tickets.
2                    MR. DURKIN:  Sure.  Okay.
3                    THE COURT:  All right.  Get ready for
4     that.
5                    (End of audible portions of DVD
6     segment.)
7                    (Segment 2 of DVD labeled as:  "Court
8     9_20120307-1427_01ccfc6e733d6fb0":)
9                    All right.  At this time, the Court
10     calls Cause Number G778029, the State of Texas versus
11     Benny C. Patterson, II.
12                    Is it correct today that you are
13     waiving your right to a trial by jury?
14                    UNIDENTIFIED VOICE:  Yes.
15                    THE COURT:  Okay.  I am going to hand
16     you a waiver.  If you agree with it, you can sign the
17     bottom and date it today's date, which is March 7th.
18                    All right.  Thank you.  And just to
19     make sure we're clear, I know we had one letter of
20     representation on the file in the other case but Ms.
21     Pacheco, you are attorney of record for Mr. Patterson.
22     Correct?
23                    MS. PACHECO:  Yes, Your Honor.
24                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Is the State ready
25     on this matter?
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1                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes, Your Honor, Bill
2     Durkin, for the State.
3                    THE COURT:  At this time if you want to
4     go ahead and read the complaint.
5                    MALE SPEAKER:  Thank you.  Complaint --
6     "Cause Number G778029, State of Texas versus Benny C,
7     Patterson, II, in Municipal Court, City of Fort Worth,
8     Tarrant County, Texas, in the name and by the
9     authority of the State of Texas."

10                    "Before me, the undersigned authority
11     (inaudible) known to be a credible person who being by
12     me duly sworn, proposes and says applicant has good
13     reason to believe and does believe that one Benny C.
14     Patterson, II, hereinafter called 'actor,' on or about
15     May the 23rd, 2011, and before the making and filing
16     of this complaint within the territorial limits of the
17     City of Fort Worth, Texas, did then and there
18     unlawfully, knowingly, as a person in control of the
19     premises located at 6245 Granite Creek Drive, within
20     said city, maintain said premises in violation of the
21     comprehensive zoning ordinances of said city, to wit,
22     operating a business in an A5 residentially zoned
23     district, contrary to the ordinances of said city, and
24     against the peace and dignity of the state."
25                    THE COURT:  Okay.  How do you plead?
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1                    MR. PATTERSON:  Not guilty.
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  And
3     you're protected today, Mr. Patterson, by the Fifth
4     Amendment that protects you against
5     self-incrimination.  That means that you do not have
6     to testify today if you don't wish to do so.  If you
7     choose to testify, the prosecutor will have the
8     opportunity to cross examine you.  Your silence,
9     should you choose not to testify, would not be held

10     against you.
11                    All right.  Does the State wish to make
12     an opening statement?
13                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.  I
14     anticipate that the evidence is going to show that
15     Mr. Patterson is the owner of the property located at
16     6245 Granite Creek Drive.  I anticipate the evidence
17     is going to show that he was operating a business
18     whereby he would charge people to live there in a
19     group environment as a recovery center for substance
20     abuse.  Thank you.
21                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Pacheco, an
22     opening statement?
23                    MS. PACHECO:  Your Honor, this case
24     involves Mr. Patterson who does own the home on
25     Granite Creek Drive.  Mr. Patterson is there with
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1     several other individuals who are all recovering
2     alcoholics or drug addicts.  It's not a treatment
3     center.  The evidence will show there is not any type
4     of counseling that goes on there.  There are no type
5     of meetings that go on there.  There are eight
6     individuals who are roommates who share the cost of
7     the mortgage payments, the cost of electricity, water,
8     of food.  That is the extent of it.
9                    It is no more a business than two
10     people who are leasing a house.  Somebody leases their
11     garage apartment in the back.  If it is the City's
12     interpretation that Mr. Patterson is running a
13     business simply by having roommates, then that is
14     going to entail a lot of other individuals in the City
15     of Fort Worth who are also running a business simply
16     by virtue of leasing a home, leasing an apartment,
17     something of that nature.
18                    As I had indicated, these individuals
19     are protected under the Americans with Disabilities
20     Act.  Individuals who are disabled under the Americans
21     with Disabilities Act are entitled to certain
22     protections under the Fair Housing Act.  The Fair
23     Housing Act does require that if there is a land use
24     restriction in place which the zoning ordinance in
25     this case is, then that land use restriction is
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1     subject to a reasonable accomodation requirement.  And
2     in this case, the reasonable accomodation is to
3     require these individuals to continue living in the
4     manner that they are.
5                    The alternative, if this is a business,
6     is for them to go lease an office space to operate
7     their business and have eight individuals sleeping in
8     an office.  They're supposed to go lease the space
9     between the Wendy's and the McDonald's on the side of
10     the freeway and live there.
11                    No, these are people who are living in
12     a home.  And it is a good and positive thing that
13     these individuals are living in a home together.
14     They're recovering alcoholics or drug addicts and --
15     and living together, able to offer each other the type
16     of support necessary to stay clean and sober.
17                    THE COURT:  All right.  The State?
18                    MR. DURKIN:  First, I would like to
19     call Officer Oomging.
20                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Sir, can you come
21     forward?  Raise your right hand.
22                    (The witness' oath administered.)
23                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.
24                    MR. DURKIN:  May I proceed?
25                    THE COURT:  Yes.
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1                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.
2                           EXAMINATION
3     BY MR. DURKIN:
4          Q.   Would you please tell us your name.
5          A.   Boyd Oomging.
6          Q.   How are you employed?
7          A.   City of Fort Worth Code Enforcement.
8          Q.   As a code compliance officer.  Is that
9     right?
10          A.   Yes, sir.
11          Q.   How long have you been a Fort Worth code
12     compliance officer, now?
13          A.   Twelve years.
14          Q.   And as a part of your job, have you seen
15     property located at 6245 Granite Creek Drive?
16          A.   Yes, I did.
17          Q.   Is that located within the territorial
18     limits of the City of Fort Worth in Tarrant County,
19     Texas?
20          A.   Yes, it is.
21          Q.   What part of town?
22          A.   Northwest part of town.
23          Q.   And is a -- is there a residence at -- on
24     that location?
25          A.   Yes.

Page 14

1          Q.   And is that property then in an A5
2     residentially zoned district?
3          A.   Yes, sir.
4          Q.   How did that property come to your
5     attention?
6          A.   Received numerous complaints, you know, in
7     the neighborhood concerning activities going on in the
8     property.
9          Q.   What were the nature of the complaints?

10                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection.  I don't know
11     what the relevance is on the nature of the complaints.
12     Not related to the operation of a business.
13                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, if the objection is
14     relevance, I submit the nature of the complaints are
15     relevant to this case.
16                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Proceed.
17          A.   There have been a lot of activities of
18     people coming, going during the day and especially in
19     the evening.  They have seen up to 15 people in the
20     house.  They have seen some kind of --
21                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection; hearsay.
22          A.   -- meeting.
23                    THE COURT:  Make sure I understand, who
24     saw 15 people?
25                    MR. DURKIN:  Okay.
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1                    THE COURT:  Sustained.  Okay.
2                    MR. DURKIN:  All right.
3          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) So, when did you become
4     aware that these complaints had been made?
5          A.   Starting August 7th, 2010.
6          Q.   What did you do?
7          A.   Investigated a little bit, trying to find
8     out what's going on.  At that point, I spoke to my
9     supervisor to find out whether it was a violation

10     occurred at that property for having too many people
11     staying at the house.  We have some complaints --
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection; relevance.
13     He's talking about the number of people at the home.
14     That's not what's at issue here.  That's entirely
15     separate.
16                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go on.
17          A.   That's a lot of people staying at the
18     residence.
19          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Okay.  So, then, who was the
20     supervisor you discussed this with?
21          A.   Supervisor Shawn Elder.
22          Q.   Is he the person who is back in the -- back
23     here?
24          A.   Yes, sir.
25          Q.   Okay.  All right.  So you discussed it with
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1     your supervisor about the best way to proceed and
2     there is, among the -- among the various laws that
3     might apply, includes a law that limits the number of
4     unrelated people that can live together in a home; is
5     that right?
6          A.   Yes, sir.
7          Q.   Do you know what that limit is?
8                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection, Your Honor.
9     This is not the basis of the complaint.  The complaint
10     is operation of a business.  He is getting into the
11     laws that regulate the number of people.  I have case
12     law that is 100 percent on point from the U.S. Supreme
13     Court that makes this entirely irrelevant.
14                    THE COURT:  Overruled.
15          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Do you know what that limit
16     is?
17          A.   No more than five unrelated people in one
18     residential neighborhood.
19          Q.   All right.  So you discussed your options,
20     and then how did you proceed with your investigation?
21          A.   I advised my supervisor concerning the
22     violation going on at the residence.  He contacted his
23     superintendent at the time.
24          Q.   I want to -- I want to -- I want to focus in
25     here.  All right?  I hear a lot -- lot of testimony
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1     about what -- about discussions and what other people
2     are doing.  I want to know what you did to investigate
3     the problem.  Did you go out to the scene?
4          A.   Yes, I did.
5          Q.   Tell us about that.  Tell us about that.
6          A.   I went out to the scene, tried to find some
7     information.  At that time, some of these people at
8     work monitored the property.
9          Q.   All right.  How long -- how long did you --

10     for what kind of time period did you monitor the
11     property?
12          A.   From August 7th, 2010, to April, 2011.
13          Q.   And what did -- how many times do you think
14     you were out there during that time?
15          A.   Eight times.
16          Q.   Okay.  And during that time, did you ever
17     meet or talk with Benny C. Patterson, II?
18          A.   Before, no, I did not.  I did not spoke to
19     him until the last --
20                    (End of audible portion of DVD
21     segment.)
22                    (Segment 3 of DVD labeled as:  "Court
23     9_20120307-1546_01ccfc7974e9620":)
24                    THE COURT:  And we called --
25                    MR. DURKIN:  I think we were -- we left

Page 18

1     off where Officer Elder was still on the stand.
2                    THE COURT:  Officer Elder, this is a
3     reminder you are still under oath.  You can take the
4     stand.
5                    For the benefit of counsel, we will be
6     needing to stop at five minutes until 4:00.
7                    Okay.  Whenever you're ready.
8                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.  I'll pass the
9     witness.

10                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Your witness.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  At this time, we would
12     move for a directed verdict.  The only evidence that's
13     been put in is that Mr. Oomging saw different cars
14     there once a month for eight months.  There's been no
15     additional evidence put forward in before the Court of
16     any operation of a business.  There is a lack of
17     sufficient evidence that would support a finding of
18     guilty on this charge.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm not done yet.
20                    THE COURT:  Exactly.  I'm going to deny
21     the directed verdict at this time.
22                    MS. PACHECO:  Thank you.  I have no
23     questions at this time.
24                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you for your
25     testimony.

Page 19

1                    MR. DURKIN:  I would like to recall
2     Officer Oomging.
3                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Officer, if you can
4     come forward, please.
5                    MS. PACHECO:  Is it appropriate?  Maybe
6     I'm --
7                    THE COURT:  As a reminder, you are
8     still under oath.
9                    MS. PACHECO:  -- wrong but Mr. Oomging

10     was already on the stand and was already dismissed by
11     counsel.  He passed with no further questions and I --
12     I have not asked anything that would necessitate him
13     to be recalled.  So I don't know if it's really
14     appropriate to recall the same witness.
15                    THE COURT:  Any response from the State
16     on that?
17                    MR. DURKIN:  It may not be necessary
18     for Defense counsel to warrant a recall but it's
19     necessary for me to recall him.
20                    MS. PACHECO:  I don't think it's
21     appropriate procedurally.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  It's perfectly appropriate
23     until I rest my case.
24                    THE COURT:  I'm going to allow it.  You
25     can go ahead.  Have a seat.

Page 20

1                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm going to ask that
2     these two documents as State's exhibits "9" and "10."
3                    THE COURT:  Yes.  Are we on 9?  There
4     is 9.  And 10.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  Could I please take a look
6     at the waiver of the Defendant's right (inaudible)?
7                    THE COURT:  Yes.  (Inaudible.)
8                    MS. PACHECO:  Yes.
9                    MR. DURKIN:  We have State's Exhibit 8

10     already in evidence.  Okay.  I'm going to show you
11     State's Exhibit 9.
12          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) During the break, did you
13     take some efforts to match signed green cards to the
14     documents that they went with?
15          A.   (Inaudible.)
16          Q.   And let's double check.  Did you -- did you
17     verify that this green card on State's Exhibit 9
18     matches the copy of the ticket, also State's
19     Exhibit 9?
20          A.   (Inaudible.)
21          Q.   Okay.  Do you have any other green cards
22     that are signed by Ben Patterson?
23          A.   Yes, I do.
24          Q.   (Inaudible), please.  While you're doing
25     that, answer this question before you do it.  Is this
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1     an actual green card associated with this case that
2     came back as well as a true and accurate copy of the
3     ticket that went out associated with this green card?
4          A.   Yes, sir.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  While he is looking for
6     that, I will show Defense counsel State's Exhibit 9,
7     and I will offer State's Exhibit 9.
8                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object.
9     It's still not the right citation.  This is a citation
10     from September 6th, 2011.  We're on a May 23rd case.
11     It's not relevant.  Whether you received notice for
12     the September violation has nothing to do with whether
13     he received notice of a May violation.
14                    MR. DURKIN:  May I respond, Your Honor.
15                    THE COURT:  Yes.  Uh-huh.
16                    MR. DURKIN:  Or may I ask a few
17     follow-up questions?
18                    THE COURT:  All right.  I will allow
19     it.
20          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Officer Oomging, is this --
21     did you issue this ticket, State's Exhibit 9, to the
22     same Defendant in State's Exhibit 8?
23          A.   Yes, sir.
24          Q.   Does it involve the same violation address?
25          A.   Yes, sir.

Page 22

1                    MR. DURKIN:  I would ask is that --
2     okay.  In that case, Your Honor, my response is that
3     this is -- the issue is not as to notice.  One of the
4     things I have to do -- excuse me -- is to prove that
5     this Defendant is the right Defendant.  And you'll
6     notice that I didn't offer -- I did not offer the
7     ticket, any -- any green card associated with this
8     actual case.  Okay?
9                    But I am offering a green card with
10     Ben -- Benny Patterson's signature involving the same
11     location violation addressed to the same Defendant.
12     And that is relevant on identity.
13                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object again
14     because this green card is an address listed in Fort
15     Worth, and Mr. Oomging has already testified that what
16     he mailed went to an address in Lubbock.  And it's his
17     testimony that Mr. Patterson was in Lubbock as of
18     May 23rd, 2011.  He needs to offer the green card
19     establishing where he sent the actual.
20                    THE COURT:  I'm going to overrule the
21     Defense objection at this time, and go ahead and allow
22     that in, Number 9 is admitted.
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.  And, in fact,
24     I guess I would ask that this be marked as "State's
25     Exhibit 10," as well.
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1                    THE COURT:  We already marked Exhibit
2     10.
3                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm sorry.  So many
4     exhibits, it's hard to keep track of them all.
5                    Okay.  Thank you.
6          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Likewise, is State's
7     Exhibit 11 a true and accurate copy of the ticket that
8     you mailed to the same Defendant, Benny Patterson,
9     regarding the same violation address regarding

10     6-21-2011?
11          A.   (Inaudible.)
12          Q.   Listen to my question.  Same Defendant, same
13     violation.  This is the actual green card that came
14     back signed by the Defendant, signed by Benny
15     Patterson?
16          A.   Yes, sir.
17                    MR. DURKIN:  All right.  In that case,
18     I will show State's Exhibit 11 to Defense counsel, and
19     I will offer State's Exhibit 11.  This also is on the
20     issue of identity.
21                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, I'm still going to
22     object.  It still isn't relevant to the case that's
23     before the Court.  It's a different complaint,
24     different citation.  And now those green cards are
25     showing two different addresses.  So I think that
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1     makes them irrelevant.
2                    THE COURT:  All right.  And you're
3     going to shore this up as far as the identity issue?
4                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes, Your Honor.
5                    THE COURT:  Okay.  I'm going to
6     overrule the objection.  It is admitted.
7                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.
8                    THE COURT:  And it's 11, correct?
9                    MR. DURKIN:  Before we --

10                    THE COURT:  State's 11 is admitted.
11                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.
12          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  The reason we
13     didn't offer the green card on this actual ticket is
14     because it was signed by somebody else, right?
15          A.   Right.
16          Q.   Okay.  Now, we're going to leave in one
17     minute so we'll see if we can make the point by then.
18                    Here we have the waiver that this
19     Defendant, Mr. Patterson, signed in court waiving his
20     right to have a jury trial.  That's this Defendant's
21     signature.
22                    Now, I want you to take a look at that
23     waiver with this Defendant's signature.  I want you to
24     compare them with two -- with the two signatures of
25     the Benny Patterson that signed State's Exhibit 9 and
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1     11.
2                    I want you to tell me when you're done
3     looking at them.
4          A.   Yes, sir.
5          Q.   All right.  Now, I'd like to know if you
6     have an opinion as to whether or not the same person
7     signed all those documents.
8          A.   It appears to be the same.
9          Q.   All right.

10          A.   The same location.  I'm sorry.
11          Q.   No.  I'm talking about with regard to the
12     signature.
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   All right.  Now, therefore, is it your
15     opinion that this Defendant, this -- this Benny
16     Patterson right here is the one that signed the two
17     green cards, State's Exhibit 9 and 11?
18          A.   This appears to be the same person.
19          Q.   My question is:  In your opinion, is it this
20     Defendant that signed them?
21          A.   Yes, sir.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  We will tender them to the
23     Court.
24                    THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.
25                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm not done with my

Page 26

1     questions.  We're going to go onto a different topic
2     in just a second.
3                    THE COURT:  All right.  It's five until
4     4:00.  So, I promised we'll need to take a recess
5     until tomorrow.  This Court does have dockets at 8:00,
6     9:00, 10:00, 11:00 and 1:00 tomorrow, and the 1:00
7     o'clock docket always is quite lengthy, but I'm open
8     to almost any time to accommodating 8:00 o'clock, if
9     you can be here at 8:00.
10                    MS. PACHECO:  I had a mediation set
11     tomorrow morning.  But it's in Fort Worth, so.
12                    THE COURT:  We can try for -- we could
13     try for 1:30.
14                    MS. PACHECO:  How -- how much longer do
15     you think that you have?
16                    MR. DURKIN:  Fifteen minutes.
17                    THE COURT:  What time do you anticipate
18     being finished with your mediation?
19                    MS. PACHECO:  Probably by 11:30, and
20     it's downtown.
21                    THE COURT:  A couple of options.  I'm
22     open for suggestions on this, I'm flexible.  We
23     could -- 12:30, a little edge before the 1:00 o'clock
24     docket.  I'm fairly confident we'll go to trial on
25     that 1:00 o'clock docket.  So, we'll have to just have
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1     those wait or call a recess and call it (inaudible.)
2                    Okay.  So, we will resume this matter
3     at 12:30 tomorrow.  That would be March 8th.
4                    All right.  Thank you.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.
6                    THE COURT:  We're off the record.
7                    (End of audible portion of DVD
8     segment.)
9                    (Segment 4 of DVD labeled as:  "Court
10     9-20120319-1303_01cd05d0bc324540":)
11                    THE COURT:  All right.  If the parties
12     are ready, I'm ready to hear the motion in the case,
13     the State of Texas versus Benny C. Patterson, II.
14                    If counsel wants to approach.
15                    MS. PACHECO:  Your Honor, I believe
16     everyone that is sitting in the courtroom are all
17     witnesses.  We do have the Rule invoked.
18                    THE COURT:  We do have the rule
19     invoked.  That is correct.
20                    MS. PACHECO:  Would all of you --
21                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Just a moment,
22     please.
23                    (End of audible portion of DVD
24     segment.)
25                    (Segment 5 of DVD labeled as, "Court
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1     9-20120319-1323_01cd05d371cc38a0":)
2                    FEMALE SPEAKER:  Thank you very much.
3     Appreciate it.
4                    THE COURT:  All right.  This is a
5     continuation from an earlier recording regarding the
6     State of Texas versus Benny C. Patterson, II, before
7     we lost the electricity, and the Rule has been invoked
8     in this case.
9                    Defense counsel, there are witnesses

10     that you plan to call that are present in the
11     courtroom.  Is that correct?
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Yes, Your Honor, I think
13     everybody is sitting about behind the prosecutor are
14     subject to be called.
15                    THE COURT:  All right.  If that's the
16     case, and those are our witnesses in the case --
17                    MR. DURKIN:  May I respond, Your Honor?
18                    THE COURT:  Yes, certainly.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  First, let me --
20                    MS. PACHECO:  I mean, they need to be
21     outside of the courtroom while this is going on.
22                    THE COURT:  All right.
23                    MR. DURKIN:  I object to that.  They
24     need to be outside when evidence is being presented.
25     There is no problem with them being inside when
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1     motions are being heard, when arguments are being
2     made.
3                    The goal of the Rule is to make sure
4     when -- when evidence is being presented, that people
5     in the court can't hear it and adjust their testimony.
6                    If there is no evidence, there is no
7     reason for the Rule, and, in fact, in traditional
8     trial-type settings, motion, the Rule is not invoked
9     during -- or is not typically applied during motions,

10     during opening statements.  Only when evidence is
11     begun.
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, the Rule actually
13     it does apply during opening statements.  In opening
14     statements you give a description of what the evidence
15     is expected to be.  And Motion to State and Motion for
16     Continuance both do have evidence attached and are
17     going to contain pieces of evidence relevant to this
18     proceeding and there is -- these witnesses have no
19     interest in being in here to hear it.
20                    MR. DURKIN:  That's not necessarily the
21     case.  I mean, motions don't necessarily have
22     evidence.  And it's a fact that the Rule -- it's not
23     necessary for the Rule to be invoked until after
24     opening statements.  If I need to find a case on that,
25     I'll find a case.  But it's only when evidence begins.

Page 30

1                    And, furthermore, if I could at least
2     make an argument to Defense counsel's claim before the
3     Court decides so that the Court can at least hear my
4     side of it, too.
5                    THE COURT:  All right.  Go ahead.
6                    MR. DURKIN:  First off, if I may
7     address the group.
8                    THE COURT:  Yes.
9                    MR. DURKIN:  Is there anybody here who
10     wants to be a witness?  Anybody?  No?  Okay.  Fine.
11                    My response is this, Your Honor:  I
12     submit that in America, citizens have the right --
13     have certain fundamental rights, including the right
14     to equal protection of the laws, the right to
15     peaceable assembly, the right to watch the public
16     administration of justice unfold before their eyes,
17     especially on matters that are most important to
18     themselves, like the right to peaceable enjoyment in
19     their own home, for example.
20                    Now, I submit that right wouldn't mean
21     very much if a Defense counsel could just, in a
22     blanket statement, say, "Oh, I want them out because
23     I'm going to call them."
24                    And I further submit that attorneys are
25     officers of the Court and as such, we both have
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1     obligations to at all times deal with good faith with
2     the Court, and, therefore, if an attorney does, in
3     fact, have a good-faith belief that he or she will be
4     calling some or all of the people here in court, then
5     we have something to -- then there's a basis to
6     entertain that motion.
7                    But I submit that if there is no
8     good-faith belief that counsel is going to call them,
9     then there is no basis for that.  I submit that she

10     has no good-faith belief.  Because these folks are
11     neighbors and they don't have anything of any value to
12     say to her client.
13                    In fact, I dare say she has never even
14     talked to a single one of them.
15                    I submit she doesn't even know their
16     names.
17                    I submit it's just a way for her to
18     clear them out of the courtroom because they might be
19     some sort of embarrassment to her or her client, just
20     them being here.
21                    And I submit that her embarrassment or
22     inconvenience does not trump their fundamental right
23     to see justice being done in a public place as
24     citizens.
25                    THE COURT:  All right.  Your response
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1     Ms. Pacheco.
2                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, first of all, I
3     don't consider any one of you to be an embarrassment
4     in any way, so, please, don't let the prosecutor put
5     any words in my mouth as to that.
6                    I understand this is America, and we
7     all have rights.  That includes the right to a fair
8     trial.  There are rules that dictates how that occurs.
9     One of the rules that dictates how that occurs is the

10     Rule.  The Rule says that if there is going to be any
11     type of evidence presented, there are witnesses that
12     might be -- people that might be witnesses to the case
13     cannot be present in the courtroom when that evidence
14     is presented to the Court.
15                    I'm glad that Mr. Durkin thinks he
16     knows what my contentions are in trying this case, but
17     I would submit to the Court that I do have a
18     good-faith basis to believe that the individuals
19     sitting back here are going to be called as witnesses
20     in this matter.
21                    THE COURT:  So, as an officer of the
22     Court.
23                    (End of audible portion of DVD
24     segment.)
25                    (Segment 6 of DVD labeled as, "Court
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1     9-20120319-1328_01cd05d42d691740":)
2                    THE COURT:  In good faith, you can tell
3     me now that one, two, three, four, five, six,
4     approximately seven people that are sitting here, you
5     will be calling as witnesses in this trial?
6                    MS. PACHECO:  I will be calling these
7     individuals as witnesses in this trial.
8                    THE COURT:  Okay.  It is the finding of
9     this court that the Rule has been invoked.  What that

10     means when the Rule is invoked is that all witnesses
11     except the Defendant must remain outside the hearing
12     of the courtroom at all times while testimony is being
13     heard except when testifying or until discharged.
14                    If you are a witness, you must stay
15     close enough so that you may be reached when needed.
16                    You may not converse with each other or
17     with any other person about the case, and you're not
18     to read any reports of or comment upon the testimony
19     in the case while under the Rule.
20                    You may, however, discuss the case with
21     attorneys in the case outside the presence of other
22     witnesses.
23                    So at this time, if you can direct the
24     people that you will be calling as witnesses, identify
25     them, and then you'll need to wait outside the Court.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  Actually, I have one
2     other issue because the prosecutor was addressing them
3     all as a group already.  I think that you've just
4     indicated that's not really appropriate.  I think he
5     knows what the Rule means, and in doing so, I mean, he
6     may have possibly tainted this entire pool of
7     witnesses.
8                    THE COURT:  All right.  We can take
9     that up.  If you can at this time identify who you'll
10     be calling as a witness and I'll ask you to please
11     step outside and the Bailiff will direct you out.
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  The wife of Mike
13     Smith.  Mike Smith, the blue shirt right here, and his
14     son.
15                    Chris Beasley.
16                    Brent Hamilton.
17                    Okay.  And these two gentlemen are
18     neighbors.  I don't actually know their but I --
19                    THE COURT:  All right.  You can follow
20     them outside, please.
21                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  And I -- are you a
22     neighbor of?
23                    FEMALE SPEAKER:  Yes.  I'm a neighbor.
24     I didn't have any intention of testifying either.
25                    MS. PACHECO:  It's not really whether
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1     witnesses want to testify, unfortunately, in these
2     matters.
3                    THE COURT:  All right.  And we've
4     already -- she's been here before.  So no other
5     witnesses in the Court at this time?
6                    And you had a Motion?
7                    MS. PACHECO:  I do, Judge.  It's a
8     Motion for a Stay or in the alternative, a Motion for
9     Continuance.

10                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Counsel, would you
11     both approach for this, please?
12                    Okay.  And what's the basis for needing
13     a continuance today?
14                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, the basis for the
15     Motion to Stay, Judge, is that a reasonable request --
16     request for reasonable accomodation has been sent to
17     the City of Fort Worth, and 30 days has been given to
18     the City to respond to that request.  In the event it
19     is granted it is going to render this proceeding moot.
20                    And so for that reason, I think it
21     would probably be worthwhile to -- everybody's time to
22     not continue with trial that may eventually be moot,
23     or may end up resulting in a verdict against my client
24     that is, you know, directly in contradiction with what
25     the City of Fort Worth intends to do.
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1                    If the City responds in less than 30
2     days, we can take that up in less than 30 days.  But
3     given the fact that the request has been made and the
4     City is taking it under advisement, I think that
5     supports the Motion for the Stay.
6                    In the alternative, on the Motion for
7     Continuance, I think I had advised the Court that I
8     did have the case re-filed on Monday.  It's a case
9     that's been going on for six years, it's a

10     seven-figure case.
11                    I now have to conduct a conference with
12     opposing counsel that's court-ordered this afternoon
13     on a joint trial memorandum the Court has requested.
14     In order to do that, I'd have to be back to my office
15     by 4:30 in order to have time to do that, within
16     normal business hours, even with that Court's orders.
17                    Additionally, I think it the
18     prosecution had indicated that he was not going to be
19     bringing a lot of rebuttal evidence and that he felt
20     he could be done in the afternoon.
21                    If the Court would turn to Exhibit 2 of
22     the Motion, there is a copy of a flier that was
23     distributed around the neighborhood at Ebby's Place
24     indicating the date and time for the hearing, and
25     stating that the City Attorney wanted everyone to show
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1     up to show the judge that the City has our support.
2                    Given the number of people that were
3     called down here, that were sitting in the courtroom
4     and we just asked to leave, I think it's fair that
5     there's going to be more than just Mr. Patterson
6     putting on evidence.
7                    Additionally, once this came to light,
8     I mean, I'm under an obligation to zealously represent
9     my client.  If we are going to turn this into a
10     three-ring circus, I have to call down witnesses that
11     support my client's credibility which has been
12     attacked.
13                    So, I see no way that this could
14     possibly be finished within a couple of hours.  And if
15     I have any hope of making the conference with opposing
16     counsel, I would have to leave by 3:30 to make it back
17     to Dallas by 4:30 in order to conduct that conference.
18                    THE COURT:  All right.  How many people
19     are in your law firm?
20                    MS. PACHECO:  We have three people that
21     do litigation.  I have a partner that I work directly
22     for, Mr. Hamilton.  His wife just joined our firm in
23     August, and it's the first time she's worked in a
24     litigation environment.  So she is not capable of --
25                    THE COURT:  All right.  And how much --
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1                    MS. PACHECO: -- the time that it takes.
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.  And how much time do
3     you feel that you need to complete this trial?
4                    MS. PACHECO:  If I'm trying to
5     guesstimate my time plus the cross examination, I
6     think it will be a full week.
7                    THE COURT:  All right.  Response from
8     the State?
9                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes.  Defense -- Defense
10     counsel is submitting the paperwork asking the City
11     for some sort of reasonable accomodation, and then
12     claiming that as a reason for a continuance is like
13     saying, "Well, Your Honor, if my client's convicted,
14     we're going to appeal, and that could overturn this
15     court hearing.  And so there is really no reason even
16     to have this court hearing since it could happen."
17                    There are a lot of things that could
18     happen.  And I would ask the Court to simply proceed.
19     Just not worry about any of the things that Defense
20     has -- any other paperwork they've created, or demands
21     they've made to the City, or letters they have sent.
22     And just continue with the trial that we have had.
23     Don't worry about the rest of that stuff, you know.
24     Either -- who knows what the City will do.  But we
25     started a trial.  It's important to see it through to
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1     its conclusion.
2                    Next, I would submit that a person can
3     only be one place at one time, and that if Defense
4     counsel is here, she can't be in the other court.  And
5     she won't have to worry about it.  She can devote her
6     full attention to what's going on here for as long as
7     she's here.
8                    I will submit that that point is well
9     taken if there are other people at the firm that might

10     be able to pick up the slack.  But if they can't,
11     then -- and Defense counsel is here, I guess they will
12     just have to do that other thing sometime else.
13                    And then, with regard to the Defense
14     counsel's comment about being a three-ring circus, I
15     mean, you saw how many witnesses I was looking to
16     call.  I mean, I name one in addition.
17                    Defense counsel is the one who made a
18     big show about saying, "I'm going to call everybody
19     here."
20                    So, I would ask the Court to consider
21     who is trying to make this into a three-ring circus
22     if, in fact, that's the case.
23                    THE COURT:  All right.  How much time
24     do you feel you need to complete this trial?
25                    MR. DURKIN:  That -- so much of that is
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1     dependent upon what Defense counsel does, I can't even
2     say.
3                    THE COURT:  All right.  And why do you
4     feel like you need a week?
5                    Okay.  I feel like I probably have
6     about a day and a half of direct testimony to elicit
7     from my witnesses.  The prior two hearings, it seemed
8     that for about every minute I spend, counsel spends
9     about three to four.  Just time-wise it looked to be
10     about that balance.
11                    Mr. Durkin has been very thorough as
12     the State has the burden.  So, I don't fault him for
13     that.  But if I have a day and a half, I would
14     guesstimate that he would have probably at least
15     double that (inaudible.)
16                    MR. DURKIN:  I object to the Defense
17     counsel trying to impute what my time is going to be.
18     She has no idea.
19                    MS. PACHECO:  Best guess.
20                    THE COURT:  All right.  As far as the
21     Motion for the Stay, that is.  Denied as far as the
22     Motion for the Continuance, I think with all fairness
23     for judicial economy, for what I'm looking at, for
24     really wanting to hear this in one setting and not
25     have to reset it again and again.
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1                    And, also, taking into account the
2     information I received from Mr. Parides, who was just
3     here working with my computer, we've had several
4     electrical outages today and we can expect several
5     more.  That is not going to help get through this
6     process.
7                    So I am going to grant the Motion for
8     Continuance.  And what I would like to do, our April
9     docket is full.  I do not feel like it is fair to the

10     citizens that are set in April, and we have a full
11     docket in this Court for April.  There is no available
12     time to reset their cases.  I'm not going to send them
13     cancellation notices on that.
14                    I would like to find a Tuesday,
15     Wednesday, Thursday that are contiguous in the month
16     of May.  It can be the 1st, 2nd and 3rd, or the 8th,
17     9th and 10th.  Those are preferable.  So if you can
18     check your calendars to see if either one of those
19     would work.
20                    MS. PACHECO:  I already know that I
21     have a trial that has been set at the beginning of May
22     that's expected to be a two-week trial.
23                    THE COURT:  Okay.  When in May are you
24     available?
25                    MS. PACHECO:  I will have to check my
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1     calender.  I believe the rest of May is perfectly
2     open, but I don't want to represent that to the Court
3     until I've actually had an opportunity to look at --
4                    THE COURT:  We need to hear it in May.
5     If we can't hear it in May, we're going to have to
6     work something else out.  And that can affect my
7     decision regarding the continuance.
8                    Do I have assurance from you there are
9     three days in May?
10                    MS. PACHECO:  Yes.
11                    THE COURT:  Okay.  We cannot work a
12     Monday in May due to the fact that we have jury trials
13     set.  So Mondays will not work.
14                    We could move to a Wednesday, Thursday,
15     Friday, if we need to do so.  I'd rather do the
16     Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, reserving some time on
17     Friday in case I need to issue an opinion following
18     the trial from -- not at the bench at that time.  But
19     we do have a little bit of flexibility there.
20                    Also, just be mindful that Memorial Day
21     weekend does work in toward the end of the month and
22     we need to work around that.
23                    But it is continued only until the time
24     in May and it will need to be three contiguous days
25     that are set together.
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1                    And so, I'm confident the parties can,
2     hopefully, conclude this within the amount of time and
3     move along when -- when necessary to -- to get that
4     done?
5                    Okay.  Is there anything further?
6                    MS. PACHECO:  There is not.  Is
7     there -- who should I advise of the availability?
8     Who --
9                    THE COURT:  The clerk, Mr. Halbert,

10     yes.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  -- do that?
12                    MALE SPEAKER:  (Inaudible.)
13                    THE COURT:  We can -- anything further
14     from the State?
15                    MS. PACHECO:  Do you have a card?
16                    MR. DURKIN:  We have a whole bunch of
17     people out there --
18                    MS. PACHECO:  They won't give me your
19     number.
20                    MALE SPEAKER:  (Inaudible.)
21                    THE COURT:  Yes.
22                    MALE SPEAKER:  We got a whole bunch of
23     people out there not knowing what's going to happen.
24     I would ask the Court to call them back in, and tell
25     them what the Court just decided.
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1                    THE COURT:  I do like to make things
2     clear to our citizenry if you don't have an objection.
3     I don't think that this is anything other than a
4     procedural matter to let them know what is happening
5     with the case as far as it's reset.
6                    MS. PACHECO:  No.  I have no objection
7     to the Court just advising that a continuance has been
8     granted until the month of May, and the parties are
9     conferring on -- on the dates.
10                    THE COURT:  All right.  Anything
11     further?
12                    MALE SPEAKER:  (Inaudible) go ahead and
13     call up to your office and get your calendar?
14                    THE COURT:  Okay.  We're going to go
15     off the record at this point from this hearing, and
16     ask the Deputy please to call in --
17                    MS. PACHECO:  I really can't.  I am
18     going to have to...
19                    (End of audible portions of DVD
20     segment.)
21                    (Segment 7 of DVD labeled as, "Court
22     9-20120319-1340-01cd05d5e13f7e20":)
23                    THE COURT:  Just take that aside for a
24     moment, please.  All right.  As a general announcement
25     to those who are interested in the Benny C. Patterson
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1     case.  It looks like from a time perspective that we
2     are going to need at least three days, hopefully, we
3     can find in a row to complete this trial.
4                    As such, and given the fact that we are
5     experiencing some electrical difficulties this
6     afternoon, we will not be completing this trial today.
7     It is going to be reset to three contiguous days in
8     the month of May, which is dependent upon the State's
9     and Defense Counsel's schedule.

10                    I had advised them on the days that the
11     Court is available, and that Motion for Continuance
12     has been granted until the month of May.
13                    The Motion to Stay the case that was
14     filed by Defense counsel was denied.  All right?
15                    Anything further from the State?
16                    MR. DURKIN:  No, Your Honor.
17                    THE COURT:  Anything further from the
18     Defense?
19                    MS. PACHECO:  No, judge.
20                    THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  We
21     are recessed until -- continuing of May.  Thank you.
22                    (End of audible portion of DVD
23     segment.)
24                    (Segment 8 of DVD labeled as, "Court
25     9-20120319-0809_01cd327221992e90":)
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1                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Ready?
2                    MS. PACHECO:  We are, Your Honor.
3                    THE COURT:  We're not on the record
4     yet.  So, get ready to go, and I'll put us on the
5     record.
6                    MS. PACHECO:  Before we go on the
7     record, and then you can tell me if you want to put
8     this on the record.
9                    (End of audible portion of the DVD

10     segment.)
11                    (Segment 9 of DVD labeled as, "Court
12     9-20120319-0810_01cd327221992e80":)
13                    THE COURT:  All right.  This is a
14     continuation of Cause Number G778029, the State of
15     Texas versus Benny C. Patterson, II.
16                    Okay.  Is the State ready?
17                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes, Your Honor, Bill
18     Durkin for the State.
19                    THE COURT:  All right.  Defense ready?
20                    MS. PACHECO:  Yes, Your Honor.
21                    THE COURT:  Okay.  And where we left
22     off on this matter was the Cross Examination of
23     Mr. Patterson.  But there is a matter you would like
24     to bring to the Court before we continue that?
25                    MS. PACHECO:  Yes.  This morning I was
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1     having a conversation with Terry German who is with
2     the HUD office here in Fort Worth.  Mr. Patterson has
3     filed a -- a complaint with HUD, and Mr. German was of
4     the opinion that a continuance of this matter might
5     possibly give HUD the opportunity to work out a
6     settlement agreement with the City of Fort Worth.
7                    He said that he has been in contact
8     both with Steve Polen, who is an attorney who is also
9     assisting me with Mr. Patterson's case, and he is, I

10     think, attempting to work with Chris Mosley with the
11     City of Fort Worth.  And his position was that a
12     continuance of the matters relating to the zoning
13     issues might help HUD in getting a resolution to the
14     entire proceeding.  So I wanted to bring that to the
15     Court's attention.  I know that last time, the Court
16     was not wanting to do a continuance on a basis for
17     that type of reason but I did want to at least put
18     that out there.
19                    THE COURT:  Okay.  What is the City
20     Attorney's position, Mr. Mosley's position?  Are they
21     in agreement with this?
22                    MR. DURKIN:  I've not talked to
23     Mr. Mosley about that.
24                    THE COURT:  Okay.  What's the State's
25     position?
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1                    MR. DURKIN:  The State's position is --
2     I would ask the Court to proceed.  The Defense request
3     is flawed.
4                    First off, there's no evidence
5     presented.  One thing that Defense could have done is
6     to bring Mr. German to say what she is saying he said.
7     So, there is only representations.
8                    Second, Mr. German is -- is not related
9     to this trial.  That's a whole separate thing.  That's

10     something that the Defense filed, that they filed.
11                    And the City is responding, and that's
12     going on completely separate from this.  The two
13     things are not related.
14                    Next, I would note that this is yet
15     another attempt at a continuance.  And I would submit
16     that that is -- that is the real posture of the
17     Defense, to avoid a resolution of this case.  And I
18     would submit -- I would ask the Court to take this
19     request for a continuance in conjunction with the
20     Defense's last request for a continuance wherein the
21     Defense said to the Court that she wanted to call
22     everybody that was out here as a witness.
23                    And she represented to the Court, "I'm
24     going to call them all, Your Honor.  And we don't have
25     time to do it because I am going to call all of these
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1     witnesses."
2                    And I would submit that was a material
3     representation in the Court's granting of the
4     continuance, and yet, I would note that in the
5     Defense's most recent communication with the Court,
6     she has informed the Court that their only witness is
7     going to be the Defendant and not a single person that
8     she represented to the Court is here as her witness.
9                    So I would ask that this trial proceed

10     to a resolution.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  And if I may respond
12     briefly, Your Honor.
13                    THE COURT:  Okay.
14                    MS. PACHECO:  Mr. German did give me
15     his telephone number and his e-mail address and ask
16     that I provide that information to you if you wanted
17     to call and confirm what I just relayed to you as his
18     position.  That he would be more than happy to speak
19     with you and to affirm what I just stated to you.
20     This morning is the first time we have ever actually
21     been in contact with each other.
22                    As for the continuance, I believe the
23     basis for the last continuance was that -- I mean, we
24     went forward, I guess, at one point.  But I also had
25     another trial set in Judge Loftin's court, it was
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1     specially set, it was a two-week trial.  We did
2     proceed to trial in that matter to resolution.
3                    And, I guess, when this was going
4     forward two months ago, there was the possibility of
5     calling more witnesses.  Obviously, a lot of things
6     have occurred in the last two months.  Mr. Durkin
7     wants to totally separate these proceedings.  However,
8     they are part and parcel of the same issue.  Federal
9     law does apply across the board.  It specifically

10     relates to the zoning provisions of the City of Fort
11     Worth, and this is a zoning violation.
12                    THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Thank
13     you for that.  I appreciate it.  We started this
14     proceeding back in March.  After that, we -- we did
15     have a continuance granted that -- following that.
16     And part of that was due to building issues that day,
17     the weather was quite bad, and the electricity going
18     out.  But a continuance had been granted at that time.
19                    And so, there's been quite a bit of
20     time passed since -- since March, since we started
21     this as well as now we have set aside three days
22     specially to -- to hear this matter and have cleared
23     this court's docket.  So from a judicial efficiency, a
24     court efficiency point-of-view, and we need to go
25     ahead and get this resolved.  So we're going to go
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1     ahead and proceed today.  All right.
2                    Okay.  So, my best recollection, having
3     listened to the record, was that Mr. Patterson was on
4     the stand and cross examination was occurring.
5                    So, as a reminder, sir, you are still
6     under oath.  Okay?
7                    You can go ahead and take the witness
8     stand.
9                        CROSS EXAMINATION
10     BY MR. DURKIN:
11          Q.   Mr. Patterson, you represent yourself to be
12     the executive Director of Ebby's Place, L.L.C.  Is
13     that correct?
14          A.   I do.
15          Q.   You formed that L.L.C. in January.  Correct?
16          A.   Yes.
17          Q.   Who else is a member of that L.L.C. besides
18     you?
19          A.   I don't believe anybody else is a member.
20          Q.   What other L.L.C.s, did you form in January?
21          A.   We also formed a -- it's a completely
22     separate deal.  It's called "Vessel Component Sales."
23          Q.   What is the entity address for Ebby's Place,
24     L.L.C.?
25          A.   The entity address is 6245 Granite Creek
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1     Drive, Fort Worth, Texas 76179.
2          Q.   What is the entity address for Vessel Sales,
3     L.L.C.?
4          A.   It is 6245 Granite Creek Drive, Fort Worth,
5     Texas 76179.
6          Q.   What is your position within Vessel Sales,
7     L.L.C.?
8          A.   I'm a broker.  I -- I buy product and sell
9     product.  It doesn't come into the house.  Nothing.

10     That's phone calls and e-mails.
11          Q.   Well, let's explore that.
12          A.   Sure.
13          Q.   Do you have -- do you list any other address
14     than your home address for Vessel Sales, L.L.C.?
15                    MS. PACHECO:  Judge, I'm going to
16     object to the relevance as to questioning relating to
17     Vessel Sales, L.L.C.
18                    As Mr. Patterson testified.  That was
19     not even formed until January, 2012.  We're dealing
20     from citations from, I believe, 2011 or 2010.
21                    THE COURT:  All right.  How is this
22     related to whether he is running a business?
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, it relates to a
24     variety of things.  It relates to his credibility.  It
25     relates to -- this is a unitary trial.
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1                    I mean, in addition to deciding whether
2     or not the Defendant is guilty, a punishment is
3     appropriate if he's guilty.
4                    What activities are occurring, have
5     been occurring at his home?
6                    It's relevant if he has been doing
7     that, if I can pursue it, as to how long he has been
8     doing it.
9                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.

10     Overruled.
11          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  So you're a
12     broker for Vessel Sales, L.L.C.?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   How long have you been doing that?
15          A.   The actual brokering?
16          Q.   Yeah.
17          A.   I think it was -- I think it was October,
18     2011.  I probably made my first phone call.
19          Q.   What type of Vessels do you broker?
20          A.   It's not a vessel, actually.
21          Q.   Well, what is it?
22          A.   It's a steel fabrication industry.  I worked
23     in the steel fabrication industry for about 15 years
24     and -- it's components that make a vessel.  It's steel
25     pipe and tank heads which looks like a large metal
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1     bowl.
2          Q.   For what purpose?
3          A.   It's for the oil and gas industry.  It's all
4     connected to the drilling around here.  You see the
5     oil and gas, the big trucks you see driving down the
6     highway.  That's steel pipe and tank heads.  And I
7     worked in that industry for about 15 years.
8                    And I eventually started brokering the
9     same parts.  None of the parts ever come to the house

10     or anything like that.  It's not like that.  It 's
11     phone calls and e-mails, and I buy from a manufacturer
12     and get it shipped across the United States or in
13     Texas.  I just make phone calls is all.
14          Q.   And you do that out of your home?
15          A.   I -- well, actually, I do it out of my truck
16     and my home happens to be my address where I receive
17     invoices.
18          Q.   How much money do you make at that?
19          A.   Like, actually in my pocket money?
20          Q.   Well, that you report -- let's say report on
21     your income tax.
22          A.   I don't have my income tax here.  The last
23     income tax, a deal from Vessel Component Sales, I
24     would have to look.  I'm just going to guess at
25     probably $10,000.
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1          Q.   All right.  So you make money as the
2     Executive Director of Ebby's Place, L.L.C., and the --
3     you also are the Executive Director of Vessel Sales,
4     L.L.C.  Is that -- is that your title?
5          A.   No.  For Vessel Component Sales, it's
6     probably, just, I think -- I think on one side, it
7     says "founder."  But I'm not really positive.
8          Q.   Okay.  Is there any other members of Vessel
9     Component Sales?

10          A.   No.
11          Q.   All right.  You make money at that.  Do you
12     have any other sources of income?
13          A.   No, sir.
14          Q.   What is your educational level?
15          A.   I dropped out of 9th grade and got a GED and
16     went to a couple of college classes.  And I didn't --
17     I didn't go back to college.
18          Q.   How many hours of college.  Do you think you
19     have?
20          A.   Not -- I don't have any logged.  I just
21     started trying to -- trying to do something and I
22     didn't stick with it.
23          Q.   Okay.
24          A.   I don't claim any hours.
25          Q.   So the -- you have a GED?
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1          A.   GED, yes, sir.
2          Q.   You have a high school GED?
3          A.   Yes, sir.
4          Q.   All right.  What other licenses or
5     certifications do you hold?
6          A.   Licenses?  Well, you said what other.
7          Q.   What -- of any kind.  Okay.  Not -- take off
8     the other.  What licenses or certifications do you
9     hold?

10          A.   Well, I have a certification for a
11     toxicology screening that I obtained to read drug
12     tests, at one point.  I don't have any other
13     certificates or degrees or licenses.
14          Q.   Why did you get the -- the toxicology
15     screening certification?
16          A.   To read -- to properly read drug tests.  I
17     have a daughter that's -- has some issues.  And I,
18     obviously, know a lot of people that are recovering.
19          Q.   Now, I'm not going to get too personal, but
20     how old is your daughter?
21          A.   She is 20.
22          Q.   When was the last time she lived at the
23     Granite Creek home?
24          A.   Let's see.  The last of June.  June of 2009.
25     I think that's it.  Yeah.
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1          Q.   Were you taking in --
2          A.   June, 2009.  Yes, sir.
3          Q.   Were you taking in drug addicts or
4     alcoholics, then?
5          A.   No, sir.
6          Q.   Okay.  All right.  Let me see here.
7                    Do you currently have a lien against
8     your home?
9          A.   Not that I'm aware of.

10                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm going to ask that this
11     be marked as an exhibit.
12                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Do you have
13     (inaudible)?  Exhibits from the case.  We need the
14     exhibits so we can refer to them.
15                    State's 12.
16                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm going to staple that
17     to the second page.
18                    May I approach the witness, Your Honor?
19                    THE COURT:  Yes.
20          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Let me show you State's 12.
21     Take a look at it, and tell me when you are done.
22          A.   Okay.
23                    MS. PACHECO:  Would the State mind if I
24     took a look at these exhibits since I haven't actually
25     seen it and don't know what's being shown to the
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1     witness?
2                    MR. DURKIN:  I don't mind if she sees
3     it.  I mean, and I just haven't offered it yet.  And I
4     mean, I haven't asked him any substance about it yet.
5     I am just trying to authenticate it.
6                    THE COURT:  Do you want to look at it
7     while I rearrange these?  We are going to have to
8     re-mark it anyway.  That's fine.  You can approach and
9     look at it if you'd like.

10                    Now, that we have the exhibits out, I'm
11     going to re-mark that as "State's 16."  It looks like
12     we already have a State's 12.
13                    So if you can hand that to me, I'll
14     remark it right quick.  And we will get back on track.
15                    Okay.  So State's 16.
16                    All right.  Mr. Patterson, have you had
17     an opportunity to look at that?
18                    THE WITNESS:  Yes, I have.
19                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Durkin?
20          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Do you know what that is?
21          A.   I -- it appears to be an official document
22     from the State of Texas saying that there's a lien
23     against my house.
24          Q.   Okay.  Do you know what it involves?  Are
25     you familiar -- is that -- is that a surprise to you
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1     about that, about that filing, or do you know what
2     they are talking about?
3          A.   No, sir.
4          Q.   Do you know what they are talking about?
5          A.   It says there was a $901 to the Fort Worth
6     Stone Creek Ranch Homeowners Association and that's
7     who filed it.
8          Q.   Do you know why?
9          A.   I don't know why you would have this.

10     Because I have a receipt on my phone that shows that
11     bill was paid $2,225, I think it was, seven days ago.
12     So I don't -- this is the first I've ever heard of
13     this.  I -- I would have to call the Homeowners
14     Association and see if that $901 is part of the 2255
15     that I just paid about seven days ago.
16          Q.   What was the nature of that dispute?  Why --
17          A.   Homeowners Association fees.
18          Q.   Fees?
19          A.   Yes, sir.  When I signed -- when I signed --
20     when I bought my house, and we sat down to do all
21     the -- it was the first house I had ever bought.  We
22     sat down to do the escrow, and they -- they put the
23     escrow out like insurance, and I thought that this
24     stuff was done.  And it was about a year after that I
25     realized that I was, in fact, supposed to be paying
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1     it.
2                    It was one of those bills that I didn't
3     pay on time, it was at the bottom of my stack.  And it
4     accrued up, and they finally, Mr. Spencer, Charles
5     Spencer & Associates contacted me a couple of weeks
6     ago to let me know that the balance was $2,255.26.
7     And I sent them a check that day -- well, a couple of
8     days later.  And I asked for a receipt just in case it
9     ever came up.

10          Q.   So your position is that's -- that's all
11     cleared up now?
12          A.   My position is, yes, sir.
13          Q.   Okay.  There came a time when you declared
14     bankruptcy.  Is that right?
15          A.   No, sir.
16          Q.   You've never declared personal bankruptcy?
17          A.   I never declared personal bankruptcy.
18          Q.   Okay.  You do have a mortgage on your house?
19     Right?
20          A.   Yes, sir.
21          Q.   Okay.  What's the -- you bought that house
22     for what?  Approximately $101,000?  Is that about
23     right?
24          A.   I thought it was more than that.
25          Q.   More than that?  What do you think it was?
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1          A.   I thought it was 129.
2          Q.   One-twenty-nine?  Okay.
3          A.   I thought so.
4          Q.   Do you know what the lien on the house is
5     now?
6          A.   This lien?
7          Q.   No.  I mean the mortgage.  The mor -- yeah,
8     mortgage is a type of lien.  But I mean, you know what
9     your -- you know what the extent of the -- what you

10     owe on the house is?
11          A.   It's right around 100,000.
12          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  All right.  So you bought it
13     for 129, and you took out a loan for approximately a
14     little more than 100,000, or whatever.  Right?
15          A.   Yes, sir.
16          Q.   Okay.
17          A.   Because I put a down payment on it.
18          Q.   Okay.  There we go.  Okay.  So do you have a
19     monthly mortgage payment?
20          A.   Yes, sir.
21          Q.   How much is that?
22          A.   At this point?
23          Q.   Yeah?
24          A.   One thousand -- roughly $1,100.
25          Q.   Does that include -- is that just principal
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1     and interest, or does that include taxes and
2     insurance, too?
3          A.   It includes taxes and insurance.
4          Q.   Roughly --
5          A.   It's escrowed out.
6          Q.   Okay.  Yeah.
7          A.   Yes, sir.
8          Q.   So 11 -- $1,100.  Did I get that right?
9          A.   Roughly, yes, sir.
10          Q.   And --
11          A.   Give or take 50.
12          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.
13                    MR. DURKIN:  May I approach to see
14     what -- refresh my memory as to what documents are in
15     evidence, Your Honor?
16                    THE COURT:  That's fine.
17          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) I'm going to show you
18     State's Exhibit 15.  I want to talk about that.  Okay?
19                    That's going to be the contract that
20     you said was in place during the time that this ticket
21     was issued.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  And so that everybody can
23     be on the same page, if I may -- may I approach the
24     witness again, Your Honor?
25                    THE COURT:  Yes.
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1                    MR. DURKIN:  Make sure we verify this.
2     I want to give everybody a copy, if we're talking
3     about this, so everybody can follow along.
4          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) And would you agree that
5     these copies here are all going to be true and
6     accurate copies of State's 15?
7          A.   Yes, sir.
8          Q.   Okay.  Good.  Thank you.  I will give that
9     back.

10                    MR. DURKIN:  I'd like to pass out to
11     the Court --
12                    THE COURT:  Thank you.
13                    MS. PACHECO:  Thank you.
14          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) I want to ask some questions
15     about this.
16                    Who drafted this?
17          A.   I did.
18          Q.   Did you have any legal help?
19          A.   No, sir.
20          Q.   How did you come up with all this stuff?
21          A.   I have -- I have friends that are in the
22     sober house industry.  And just in my own studying, I
23     came up with the format of this.
24          Q.   Okay.
25          A.   Asked a lot of questions.
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1          Q.   Yeah.  Well, the first thing that it says
2     below Ebby's Place is "contract."  Correct?
3          A.   Yes, sir.
4          Q.   It does not say, "lease."  Correct?
5          A.   That is correct.
6          Q.   And, in fact, you specifically -- you go to
7     great lengths to make sure that it is not a lease?
8     Correct?
9          A.   That is correct.

10          Q.   And, in fact, you make sure you specifically
11     refer to someone who signs this as a guest, not a
12     tenant?  Right?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   Would it be fair to say that's one of your
15     main goals in -- that was one of your main goals in
16     drafting this document, to make sure that they were
17     not tenants?  Correct?
18          A.   For specific reasons.  Yes, sir.
19          Q.   All right.  Well, we will get into that.
20                    All right.  So, well, one of the main
21     effects of referring to them as guests and not tenants
22     is, you don't have to go through eviction proceedings?
23     Right?
24          A.   Yes, sir.
25          Q.   I mean, that -- that was paramount in your
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1     mind?  Right?
2          A.   Yes, sir.
3          Q.   All right.  So you wanted to -- is it -- and
4     it's fair to say that eviction proceedings allow
5     tenants to remain in a house that they rent while the
6     proceeding goes on and while the landlord has to do
7     certain things?  Right?
8          A.   That is correct.
9          Q.   All right.  And you wanted to avoid that?

10     Right?
11          A.   That is correct.
12          Q.   All right.  You want the ability -- you
13     wanted the ability to, if necessary, have somebody
14     leave that house immediately?  Right?
15          A.   That is correct.
16          Q.   You -- I mean, literally, if -- if you
17     determined that they break the rules or break the
18     contract or are not satisfied in some way, you want
19     the ability to put their stuff on the curb?  Right?
20          A.   No, sir.
21          Q.   Well, what protections are in place to
22     prevent you, you, from putting their stuff on the curb
23     and saying, "Don't come back"?
24          A.   I've never put anybody's stuff on the curb.
25     So --
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1          Q.   I didn't ask you that.  What protections are
2     in this document that prohibits you from saying, "I
3     don't want you here.  You're out"?
4          A.   Because they -- they have agreed to these
5     house rules.
6          Q.   Right.
7          A.   And part of that is there are certain things
8     that an individual needs to fulfill to remain there.
9          Q.   Uh-huh.  What happens if there's any

10     litigation?  Who bears the cost of that under this
11     contract?
12          A.   I would imagine I would.
13          Q.   Yeah.  Let's turn to the back page.  Okay?
14                    Right above where people sign, "By
15     signing below, the guest whose name appears on this
16     contract releases Ebby's Place and its house manager
17     from any financial liabilities or responsibilities for
18     any loss, injury or death to themselves or any other
19     persons for whatever the reason by nature.  Guest
20     assumes all legal fees and costs for parties in the
21     event of any lawsuit of any kind."
22                    That's if they bring a lawsuit upon
23     you?  Right?
24          A.   It's an old contract, but yes, it does say
25     that.  Yes, sir.
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1          Q.   Yeah.  Well, but I mean, that was the
2     contract that was in effect during the time of this
3     ticket?  Right?
4          A.   During the time.
5          Q.   So it's relevant, right?
6          A.   Yes, sir.
7          Q.   Okay.  So, you specifically put the cost of
8     any litigation on them?  That was very intentional?
9     Right?
10          A.   Apparently, it was.
11          Q.   Well, I mean, you did it.  Right?
12          A.   I did this (inaudible) contract.  Yes, sir.
13          Q.   All right.  All right.  Now, let's go back
14     to the top.
15                    "Guest agrees for the provision of
16     substance-free living, the sum of blank dollars
17     weekly."
18                    And I think you testified that it was
19     $200 a week at the time.  Right?
20          A.   At the time, yes, sir.
21          Q.   Yeah.  All right.  What is it now?
22          A.   It's different for several people.
23          Q.   What's the lowest for -- you've got now?
24          A.   Two-fifty a week.
25          Q.   The lowest is --
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1          A.   I'm sorry.  No.  I'm sorry.  A hundred.
2          Q.   Okay.  What's the highest you've got?
3          A.   The highest?
4          Q.   Yeah.
5          A.   Is 500.
6          Q.   Why that difference, now?
7          A.   Well, there is a -- we have a partner in
8     Master's level, LPC, LCDC, that the guys meet with at
9     her office.  So I have to pay for that.

10          Q.   Is it fair to say there is a different level
11     of services now?
12          A.   Yes, sir.
13          Q.   Okay.  But back then, 200 a week?
14          A.   Yes, sir.
15          Q.   Okay.  All right.
16          A.   Yes, sir.
17          Q.   All right.  "Fees are due Saturday at
18     midnight for the following week.  Guest is responsible
19     for getting for -- with management for payment.  There
20     is a one-time non-refundable deposit of $200
21     required."
22                    So let's take talk about that.
23                    First off, was there even -- was
24     there -- prior to the non-refundable deposit, was
25     there an application fee?
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1          A.   No.  It's all the same.  It used to say
2     "deposit."  And I thought, well, hold on a minute.
3     This is confusing.  So I -- I turned it into an
4     application fee because deposit insinuated that it was
5     going to be provided back to them.
6          Q.   Okay.  So --
7          A.   It was time spent getting everything going.
8          Q.   Yeah.  All right.  So, it's fair to say that
9     among possible fees that can be charged, it's possible
10     to charge an application fee to -- to apply to live at
11     a place and to run a background check and credit and
12     all of that kind of stuff?  Right?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   Okay.  And then, there's also a -- a -- it
15     is possible to have a deposit.  Right?  And you
16     decided to just --
17          A.   It's not separate.
18          Q.   Yeah.  I mean, I'm not talking about with
19     this.  But is it fair to say that for -- for your
20     contract, you decided to just call it a
21     "non-refundable deposit"?  That's one fee?  Right?
22          A.   During the time of this contract.
23          Q.   Yeah.
24          A.   I did, yes, sir.
25          Q.   Okay.  It's different now?
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1          A.   Yes, sir.
2          Q.   Do you have separate application and
3     deposits now?
4          A.   No.
5          Q.   No?
6          A.   Just application fee.
7          Q.   Okay.  Okay.  I got it.  All right.  And
8     that's $200, at the time?  Right?
9                    Well --

10          A.   I'm going to say yes.
11          Q.   Okay.  So, the thing that was -- that the
12     non-refundable deposit was supposed to cover, was
13     there -- did you do any kind of background checks at
14     that time?
15          A.   Yes, sir.
16          Q.   What kind?
17          A.   publicdata.com.
18          Q.   For what?
19          A.   What do you mean?
20          Q.   Well, what kind of things were you looking
21     for?
22          A.   I was looking for -- to check and verify if
23     they were a -- a sexual -- if they were an offender,
24     sex offender (inaudible.)  Sex offenders.
25          Q.   Uh-huh.
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1          A.   And violent crimes.  Like, armed robbery, or
2     something like that.
3          Q.   Yeah.  You know there's a separate state
4     website for sex offenders?  Do you know that?
5          A.   In -- this is completely in -- in
6     PublicData, there is actually a completely separate
7     one, too.  Yeah.
8          Q.   Yeah.  You would agree PublicData is a
9     secondary commercial source?  Right?
10          A.   Yes, sir.
11          Q.   And that's as opposed to the originating
12     state source that lists sex offenders?  Right?
13          A.   I don't know enough about PublicData to be
14     honest with you to be able to answer that question
15     truthfully.  I don't know enough about it.
16          Q.   But you didn't go beyond PublicData?  You
17     just did PublicData?
18          A.   That's correct.
19          Q.   Okay.  Any kind of separate credit check?
20          A.   We don't run a credit check.
21          Q.   Doesn't need to because you -- you get the
22     money every week?  Right?  If they don't pay, they're
23     out?  Right?
24          A.   Not necessarily.
25          Q.   Okay.  Well, how did that work when the
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1     money was due?
2          A.   There has been instances where if somebody
3     was showing they weren't a very positive individual in
4     their recovery, they weren't making progress --
5     forward progress.  They were dragging their feet,
6     maybe causing some problems.  And if they weren't
7     paying rent, then, yes, I would evict them or ask them
8     to leave.
9          Q.   Okay.

10          A.   But there are some people who didn't pay
11     rent because they -- they were actually doing really
12     good.  And so I'm giving them, you know, some time to
13     make it all right.
14          Q.   Yeah.  That's completely up to you?  Right?
15          A.   It is completely up to me, yes, sir.
16          Q.   I guess, what I -- what I was trying to ask
17     is:  Is the -- is the $200 due at the beginning,
18     before they actually spend the time there?  Is it due
19     at the beginning of the week?
20          A.   It is due at the beginning, yes, sir.
21          Q.   Okay.  So -- and let's see.  Let's see.
22                    According to the contract, that was
23     Saturday at midnight?
24          A.   According to this contract, yes, sir.
25          Q.   All right.  All right.  And under the terms
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1     of this contract, you have them represent to you that
2     if they fail to abide by this contract/house rules,
3     they agree to immediately vacate?  Right?
4          A.   Yes, sir.
5          Q.   Okay.  So there's not a -- any kind of
6     waiting period, notice period?
7          A.   No, sir.
8          Q.   Like you tell -- you say, "You've got to get
9     out."  They get out?

10          A.   Yes, sir.
11          Q.   Okay.  How many times have you had to remove
12     somebody?
13          A.   That I've had to remove somebody?
14          Q.   Or --
15          A.   If I were to make a guess, I would say 25.
16          Q.   How is that done?
17          A.   We sit down and talk and establish what the
18     problem is.  And I just let them know, "It's not
19     working out here."
20          Q.   Uh-huh.
21          A.   Here are some numbers to some other places.
22     I'd be more than happy to give you some other numbers,
23     but."
24                    That's typically how it goes.  Every
25     situation is different.  There are some situations
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1     that, you know, if it's a relapse situation -- one
2     example was somebody relapsed one time and they were
3     drinking.  They came to the house and they were too
4     drunk to drive.  So I just drove him to a hotel, put
5     him up in a hotel so that he could sleep it off.  And
6     the next day he was allowed to come and get his things
7     and go.
8          Q.   I'm sure it varies?
9          A.   It does.
10          Q.   But, I guess what I'm getting at is:
11     Typically, how much belongings -- how much volume of
12     belongings do people bring with them?
13          A.   Typically, two suitcases, maybe a couple of
14     bags, sometimes a television, personal belongings,
15     toiletries, things like this.
16          Q.   Okay.  And you have -- it's fair to say you
17     have some limits on what they can bring?  For example,
18     they can't bring pictures to hang on the wall, even?
19     Right?
20          A.   During the time of this, that's correct.
21          Q.   Okay.  So -- all right.  That -- that --
22     that was -- you wanted to be sure they didn't bring
23     too many -- too many things with them?  Right?
24          A.   I did.  Yes, sir.
25          Q.   So, it's -- it's something they can load up
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1     in a car, carry -- carry with them in the house in a
2     trip or two?  Right?
3          A.   Yeah.
4          Q.   Do most people show up with a car?  Do they
5     get dropped off, or what?
6          A.   It's probably, I would say it's split 50/50.
7     I try to keep a few guys in the house with vehicles.
8     Because some don't have vehicles. (Inaudible.)
9          Q.   Yeah.  So, about half of the people have

10     cars?
11          A.   I would say half would be a good estimate.
12          Q.   You've got room for two cars in your
13     driveway?  Right?
14          A.   I have room for two cars in the driveway.
15     Right.
16          Q.   Okay.  Everybody else parks on the street?
17     Right?
18          A.   Yes.
19          Q.   All right.
20          A.   Sometimes they park a car in the garage.
21          Q.   How many cars do you personally have?
22          A.   Me?  I have one.
23          Q.   So, does your car stay in the driveway, or
24     does that go in the street?
25          A.   My car goes in the driveway.
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1          Q.   All right.  Who was that person in the
2     audience there?
3          A.   That's my girlfriend, Kim (inaudible.)
4          Q.   Does she ever stay over at that house with
5     you?
6          A.   She has, yes.
7          Q.   While the other people are there?
8          A.   Yes, sir.
9          Q.   Overnight?

10          A.   Yes, sir.
11          Q.   How -- how regularly does that occur?
12          A.   Well, I would say probably prior to three
13     weeks ago, probably three to four nights a week.
14          Q.   Anybody else have their girlfriends over?
15          A.   No, sir.  Yeah.  Yeah.  Actually, yeah.
16          Q.   Can they sleep over?
17          A.   No.  No, sir.
18          Q.   Why do you do that?
19          A.   Because it's my girlfriend.
20          Q.   Why is that okay to have your girlfriend
21     sleep over?
22                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object to
23     the relevance to his relationship with his girlfriend.
24     We're here in the operation of a business.  That's the
25     citation.  This is getting into some personal matters
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1     that frankly don't need to be on the Court record.
2                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, sure it does, Your
3     Honor.  I would submit that he represents himself to
4     be -- to providing therapeutic services for recovering
5     alcoholics and drug addicts.  And so what goes on in
6     that house is very relevant.  And -- and that goes to
7     the -- a main part of the State's case is that the
8     State's going to show that he is completely
9     unregulated, completely unregulated.

10                    And this goes to part of that, him
11     having his girlfriend stay over for -- while he's got
12     10 other guys sleeping there.
13                    THE COURT:  All right.  Overruled.  Go
14     ahead.
15          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Why is that okay with you?
16     How do you think that is therapeutic or beneficial to
17     them?
18          A.   I guess I would say that so they can see
19     somebody that's sober and that's in a healthy
20     relationship.
21          Q.   Okay.  Well, why can't they do it, then?
22          A.   Because they're fresh out of treatment
23     and --
24          Q.   Is that the -- is that the -- is that the
25     difference?
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1          A.   Yes, sir.
2          Q.   When was the last time you relapsed?
3          A.   I reestablished a sobriety date in January,
4     2012.
5          Q.   Yeah.  So, you relapsed before then?  Right?
6          A.   Relapsed before January of 2012?
7          Q.   Yeah.
8          A.   It was right around January, 2012, I
9     reestablished a sobriety date.

10          Q.   From what?
11          A.   July, 2009.
12          Q.   Well, what does that mean, "reestablished a
13     sobriety date"?  What does that mean?
14          A.   I -- when I got sober in July of 2009, and
15     that was for cocaine and alcohol, and I stayed sober,
16     and I had -- I'd been diagnosed ADD a long time ago,
17     but I didn't want to take ADD medication.  And in
18     January of 2012, I took ADD medication that was not
19     prescribed to me.  And I felt horribly guilty, talked
20     to my sponsor and my grand sponsor, and I felt the
21     need to -- I felt the honest integrity thing to do was
22     to reestablish my sobriety date.
23                    Right after that, I went to my doctor,
24     told my doctor what I did.  And they immediately gave
25     me a prescription for Strattera, and I've been on it
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1     ever since.
2          Q.   Well, why did you feel guilty?
3          A.   Because I didn't have a prescription for it.
4          Q.   Well, was it -- what kind of drug was it?
5          A.   It's -- Ritalin is used to treat ADD.
6          Q.   Were you taking speed during that time?
7          A.   No, sir.
8          Q.   No?  Okay.  So you were fresh out of
9     treatment?

10          A.   In July, 2009, I was.
11          Q.   Not in -- not in January, 2012?
12          A.   No, sir.
13          Q.   Okay.  Now, to follow up, when you say,
14     "Hey, bro, this is just not working out."
15                    Hopefully, they go voluntarily.  Right?
16          A.   Yes, sir.
17          Q.   Yeah.  Do you make sure they've got a place
18     to go, or do you really --
19          A.   Sometimes I do depending on the situation.
20     The majority of time, parents are notified.  I call
21     immediately, and I let them know what's going on.
22          Q.   Yeah.
23          A.   And again, there are variables -- sometimes
24     it's a little bit, you know, sometimes that happens
25     and sometimes it doesn't.
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1          Q.   So there are times where you put somebody
2     out and they don't have a place to go?  Right?
3          A.   There has been times, I'm sure, yes.
4          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  What if they say, "I don't
5     want to go"?
6          A.   It's never happened.
7          Q.   Have you ever changed the locks after they
8     leave?
9          A.   We have a digital lock on the front door and

10     I will change the code, yes, sir.
11          Q.   So they don't have a key?  It's all digital?
12     Okay.  And that's specifically so you have the ability
13     to lock them out, essentially?
14          A.   To change the locks.
15          Q.   Okay.
16          A.   Or change the code, yes, sir.
17          Q.   Yeah.  So because once they are out, you
18     don't want them to have the ability to come back?
19     Right?
20          A.   No, sir.  I don't want them to have the
21     ability.
22          Q.   One of the guys you put out was a guy by the
23     name of Tim Gorton?  Right?
24          A.   Tim Gorton did live with me.  Correct.
25          Q.   Yeah.  He didn't pay?  Right?



Job No. 13795 Transcript of CD Re:  Ebby's Place
State v. Patterson May 29, 2012

Phone:  817-336-3042 depos@merittexas.com Fax:  817-335-1203
Merit Court Reporters LLC

21 (Pages 81 to 84)

Page 81

1          A.   He paid some.
2          Q.   Yeah.  He ended up selling his car to pay
3     you?  Right?
4          A.   I found that on Facebook about two months
5     after he left that he got a car title loan,
6     supposedly, is what he was saying --
7          Q.   Yeah.
8          A.   -- to pay me the rent.
9                    And actually the car title loan place

10     called me.  And that was the first -- Let me back up.
11     That was actually the first time I ever heard that.
12     And I sent Mr. Gordon a Facebook message saying, "I
13     have a don't want a title loan company calling me, and
14     they want money for whatever loan you took out."
15          Q.   Okay.  So do you know whether or not he gave
16     up his car to pay you?
17          A.   No.  He took a car title loan and very
18     minimal payment was ever given to me.
19          Q.   Okay.  So you're not aware as to whether or
20     not he -- he got rid of his car in an attempt to pay
21     you?
22          A.   I heard that he was saying that he did.  But
23     that wasn't -- I had no prior knowledge of any of that
24     stuff going on.
25          Q.   Yeah.  Yeah.  What happened to Tim Gorton?
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1          A.   Tim Gorton died.
2          Q.   He was killed as a pedestrian on the
3     roadway?  Right?
4          A.   After leaving a different sober house.  Yes,
5     sir.
6          Q.   When he was walking down the road?  Right?
7          A.   After leaving a different sober house.  Yes,
8     sir.
9          Q.   By hit and run?  Right?

10          A.   Yes, sir.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  I object to the relevance
12     of the death of someone who was leaving a different
13     sober house.  I don't see --
14                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
15          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) About halfway through your
16     contract, you referenced the house manager.  I want to
17     talk about house manager.
18                    Where any medications must be -- when
19     it talks about "guest" in bold, and it says, "Any
20     medications must be verified at the time of arrival
21     with the house manager."
22                    It's been a little while.  So, please
23     refresh my memory.  The house manager has -- has no
24     special certifications or anything, or had no special
25     certifications at this time?  Right?
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1          A.   No, sir.
2          Q.   I mean, it's a correct statement?  Right?
3          A.   It is a correct statement.
4          Q.   All right.  How did somebody become a house
5     manager?
6          A.   This is being taken out of context right
7     now.  And, actually, what this is referring to is
8     myself.
9          Q.   Oh.  Yeah.  Were you living there at the

10     time of the ticket or not?  I forgot?
11          A.   At the time of the ticket, no.  I was not
12     living there at that time.
13          Q.   You were in Lubbock?  Right?
14          A.   Yes, sir.
15          Q.   Are you still married, or not?
16          A.   No, sir.
17          Q.   All right.  I mean, then.  Then.  At the
18     time of the ticket.
19          A.   At the time of the ticket, what month was
20     it?
21          Q.   Oh, gosh.  That's okay.  I withdraw that
22     question.
23          A.   Okay.
24          Q.   All right.  So any medications must be
25     verified at the time of arrival with the house
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1     manager.  That couldn't have been you because you
2     weren't living there?  Right?
3          A.   That's correct.
4          Q.   Okay.  So, the house manager had no special
5     licenses or certifications?  Right?
6          A.   No, sir.
7          Q.   Okay.  How did somebody become house
8     manager?
9          A.   They proved that they were responsible, a

10     leader, that they had a level of honestly and
11     integrity where they could, you know, hold people
12     accountable, at least --
13          Q.   To who?
14          A.   Hold -- what do you mean?
15          Q.   Who do they have to prove that to?
16          A.   Myself.
17          Q.   In Lubbock?
18          A.   Well, I was living in the house prior to
19     that.  I wasn't in Lubbock very long at all.
20          Q.   Okay.
21          A.   These are people that had been with me for
22     quite some time.
23          Q.   All right.  Next, "Guests are required to
24     attend at least four meetings each week and/or
25     carrying a message to new guys at local institutions."
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1                    So what did you want them to do as a
2     part of that to abide by their contract?
3          A.   To attend four meetings a week.
4          Q.   Well, and you wanted them to do more than
5     that?  You wanted them to -- to get other people to
6     come to stay with you?  Right?
7          A.   There has been times when guys that have
8     been there for awhile that I told them that I would --
9     that I would pay them $100 if they found us residents.

10     Sure.
11          Q.   You paid them a commission, then?
12          A.   I guess you could consider it commission.
13          Q.   Okay.  And so, by the terms of this
14     contract, "Carrying the message to new guys at local
15     institutions."  That included -- you wanted them to go
16     to like AA meetings?  Right?
17                    And say, "Hey, I want you to know about
18     this -- Ebby's Place."  Right?  "Come stay at Ebby's
19     Place."
20          A.   Yes, sir.
21          Q.   Well, how is that different?  What --
22          A.   It's a lot different.
23          Q.   Well, what does that mean?  "Carrying the
24     message to new guys"?
25          A.   The actual -- the actual times that that has
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1     actually happened where somebody was paid commission,
2     I think -- I think it's two times that that's
3     happened.
4          Q.   Uh-huh.
5          A.   And these are guys that they may have met
6     anywhere, not at local institutions, that they may
7     have met anywhere.  And they probably started
8     sponsoring that person maybe or became friends with
9     them.  And if that person was looking for a safe,
10     sober environment, then, yeah, that's -- that's the
11     point at which that conversation would take place.
12          Q.   Okay.
13          A.   No, we don't want them to -- my 12 -- our
14     12-step work is separate from business.  Twelve-step
15     work is carrying a message of the 12 steps to guys in
16     rehabs.  All right?
17          Q.   Uh-huh.
18          A.   The other stuff is completely separate.
19          Q.   Okay.  So what does that mean, then?  Carry
20     what message?  Carrying what message to new guys at
21     local institutions?  What message?
22          A.   The big book, Alcoholics Anonymous, has
23     nothing to do -- that is 12-step work.  It has nothing
24     to do with the Ebby's Place.
25                    It is where you go into a rehab and the
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1     directors invite us in, or we go to them all over Fort
2     Worth and Dallas.  And you have meetings and you,
3     maybe, share a little bit of your story, and, maybe,
4     explain to them what Step 1 is.
5          Q.   Okay.
6          A.   Usually steps 1, 2, and 3.  That's usually
7     what it is.
8          Q.   So, it's fair to say that the commissions
9     you paid for people getting people to come stay with
10     you is separate from the contract terms?  That was a
11     separate deal?  Right?
12          A.   It was just a word of mouth.  Yes, sir.
13          Q.   Okay.  Since we are on that topic, I want to
14     vary a little bit from the contract.
15                    MR. DURKIN:  Since we're talking about
16     advertising.  I am going to ask that this be marked.
17                    THE COURT:  17?
18                    MR. DURKIN:  I think so.  This one is
19     15.  I've got a -- I've got a 16 that I didn't offer.
20     17.
21                    THE COURT:  Okay.  State's 17.
22          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Do you recognize State's 17?
23          A.   Yes, sir.
24          Q.   What is that?
25          A.   I think this is a picture I took from my
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1     cell phone.
2          Q.   Yeah.  That you got posted on Facebook?
3     Right?
4          A.   Did I -- I posted this on Facebook.
5          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  And that's a true and accurate
6     picture of your exhibit.  Right?
7          A.   It is.
8                    MR. DURKIN:  May I approach the
9     witness, Your Honor?

10                    THE COURT:  Yes.  You may.
11                    MR. DURKIN:  I will show this to the
12     Defense, and I will offer State's 17.
13                    THE COURT:  All right.  State's 17 is
14     admitted.
15                    MR. DURKIN:  I will hand State's 17 to
16     the Court.
17                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.
18          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) So, where was that taken?
19          A.   That was taken -- I think it's the Sheraton
20     in Arlington.
21          Q.   Was it at a conference?  What kind of --
22     what kind of --
23          A.   It is a conference.
24          Q.   Okay.  What type of get together was that?
25          A.   It was Fort Worth TAAP, TAAP is Texas
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1     Association of Addiction Professionals.
2          Q.   All right.  All right.  And you -- you --
3     Did you have to buy a kiosk?
4          A.   I did.
5          Q.   And you set that up there?
6          A.   I did.
7          Q.   People would come through?
8          A.   Yes.
9          Q.   What type of people?
10          A.   People from the addiction profession,
11     treatment centers, counselors, things of that nature.
12          Q.   And that's a way that you were advertising?
13     Right?
14          A.   It is.
15          Q.   To get more people to come to your house?
16          A.   It is.
17          Q.   To make more money?  Right?
18          A.   It is.
19          Q.   Let's get back to the contract.
20                    Okay.  Let's go -- just maybe an inch
21     up from the bottom.  Do you see where it says, "Guests
22     are to keep the residents in the house anonymous at
23     all times."
24                    Why?
25          A.   The 12-step movement in the United States
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1     was founded on anonymity.  That's why it's called
2     "Alcoholics Anonymous."
3                    And I would say that when I wrote this
4     contract, that I felt an obligation to -- some people
5     in the recovery community are real sticklers for
6     anonymity and some people aren't.  And I felt like
7     that that was -- that that was important to do that.
8          Q.   Okay.  Well, there -- you -- it's fair to
9     say that you don't have any sign of any kind on your

10     home to indicate that you're running Ebby's Place out
11     of there?  Right?
12          A.   Right.  Yes, sir.
13          Q.   And you -- you never have?  Right?
14          A.   No, sir.
15          Q.   You've gone to great lengths to try to make
16     it appear just like a house, just like a home?  Right?
17          A.   I've gone to -- I would say the word
18     "appear" is a pretty far stretch.  We are a home.  And
19     just to -- just a home just like any other family
20     does.
21          Q.   Uh-huh.  Yeah.  Except they're not tenants?
22     Are they?
23          A.   They're not tenants.  They're guests.
24          Q.   They are not your family?  Are they?
25          A.   Blood related, no.
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1          Q.   No?  Okay.
2          A.   Do I consider my brothers in recovery
3     family?  Absolutely.
4          Q.   Well, all right.  Yeah.  But.  I mean,
5     they're not -- they're not -- they're not the same as
6     your daughter?  Come on?
7          A.   No.
8          Q.   Okay.
9          A.   They're not blood related.
10          Q.   All right.  They are not even close?  Right?
11     They're not -- they are not -- you can say, okay, my
12     brother, blah, blah, blah, but I mean, but you -- you
13     would die for your daughter.  Right?
14          A.   Uh-huh.
15          Q.   To protect her?  Right?
16          A.   Yes, sir.
17          Q.   Okay.  There ain't nothing like that going
18     on with these guys?  Right?
19          A.   Some of them get pretty close to you.
20          Q.   Yeah.  All right.  Okay.  But, anyway, no
21     sign on the -- no sign on the house?  Right?
22          A.   No sign on the house.  No, sir.
23          Q.   Okay.  And, in fact, when you drafted this
24     contract, it wasn't just about being Alcoholics
25     Anonymous?  You said, "The house anonymous."  And that
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1     means you were thinking, right, that you wanted to
2     have the house to have the outward appearances of a
3     home?  You did not want it to --
4          A.   Correct.  Correct.
5          Q.   All right.  And part of that is, is that you
6     didn't want people to -- you didn't want your guys
7     staying there to just start broadcasting the address?
8     Right?
9          A.   It would defeat the purpose for some folks

10     in recovery, yes, to have neighbors look at them
11     differently.
12          Q.   All right.
13          A.   I think that's what brought this up.  Yeah.
14          Q.   Okay?  You -- it's fair to say that's the
15     plain meaning.  You wanted to keep the house
16     anonymous?
17          A.   Yes, sir.
18          Q.   "Each guest is expected to work, school, or
19     volunteer while living at Ebby's Place," last line.
20          A.   Yes, sir.
21          Q.   There was a time when you were running a
22     lawnmower services, and they were working for your
23     lawnmower service?  Right?
24          A.   Briefly, yes.
25          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  Well, all right.  How briefly?
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1          A.   Well, I would say four months.
2          Q.   Okay.  Well, how did that go during that
3     four months?
4          A.   It didn't work out very well.
5          Q.   What was -- well, okay.  Well, what was --
6     how was it supposed to work out?
7          A.   Well, it was supposed to make some income.
8          Q.   Yeah.  All right.  What was the problem?
9     Why didn't that happen?

10          A.   Well, you know, some guys -- some guys know
11     how to get up and go to work every day and some guys
12     don't.
13          Q.   Okay.
14          A.   And it was just -- it became much more of a
15     hassle that I had originally dreamed.
16          Q.   Yeah.  Part of the -- part of the goal
17     toward making money was during that time you had a
18     lawn mowing service?  That --
19          A.   (Inaudible.)  Yes, sir.
20          Q.   Yeah?  And -- and the goal was they would
21     work at this lawn mowing service?  Right?  And you
22     would pay them something?  Right?
23          A.   Yes, sir.
24          Q.   And you would receive a cut?  Is that right?
25          A.   That was the original -- original goal.
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1          Q.   What was -- how much -- how much were you
2     supposed to receive?  How was that going to work?
3          A.   It -- it wasn't really -- it wasn't really
4     like that.  It was -- oh, man, (inaudible) it wasn't a
5     specific designated amount that I was supposed to
6     receive.  I just, kind of, took care of everything
7     and -- and paid the guys what I could, or whatever we
8     had agreed on.
9          Q.   You had some lawnmower equipment at your

10     house during that time?  Right?
11          A.   Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.
12          Q.   Like what?
13          A.   Lawnmower, weed eater, edger, blower.
14          Q.   A special truck, or no?
15          A.   At one point for a few weeks we did.  I'm --
16     let's say six weeks.
17          Q.   Let's go to the next page, please.  Yeah.
18     Here in the actual contract is -- is where you
19     reference payment.  It's going to be about two inches
20     down from the bottom -- I mean, from the top.  "Guest
21     fees are due Saturday by midnight for the following
22     week."
23                    Do you follow me on that?
24          A.   Are you on the second page or the first
25     page?
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1          Q.   I'm on the second page.  Let's go to the
2     second page about two inches from the top.
3          A.   Okay.
4          Q.   Okay.  You got it?
5                    "Guest fees are due Saturday by
6     midnight for the following week?"
7                    And we -- we talked about that.  It's
8     due in advance?  Right?
9          A.   It is due in advance.  Yes, sir.
10          Q.   And you went -- and you called them -- you
11     called them "guest fees," and not rent, and that was
12     purposeful?  Right?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   Let's go -- skip the next line and let's go
15     to "weekend passes."
16                    What are weekend passes?
17          A.   Well, they go to stay with mom and dad for a
18     night.  It's actually not a weekend.  It's really just
19     one night.
20          Q.   Okay.  Well -- well, is it -- is it a
21     physical pass?  Is it --
22          A.   No, sir.
23          Q.   Is it a piece of paper?
24          A.   No, sir.
25          Q.   How does somebody get -- how does somebody
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1     know when they have a weekend pass?
2          A.   When they get to Level 3, they say, "I'm
3     going to go stay with mom and dad for the night," and
4     they ask me and -- and if they're at Level 3, and they
5     have met all those obligations, then they can do that.
6          Q.   What's a protege?
7          A.   A protege, steps (inaudible) and have a
8     protege.  It's what the big book Alcoholics Anonymous
9     refers to layman's terms is sponsee.  You have a

10     sponsor and a sponsee.  Protege is the same thing.
11          Q.   If somebody doesn't have a weekend pass, are
12     they allowed to leave?
13          A.   Allowed to leave the house?
14          Q.   Yeah.
15          A.   Sure.  It's where they're living but it's
16     not lockdown.
17          Q.   Well, why -- why do you even have weekend
18     passes, then?  What does -- how does that
19     differentiate?
20          A.   If they left unannounced, I suppose,
21     disappeared and didn't come home for a night, then we
22     wouldn't allow them to come back.
23          Q.   Okay.  So, a weekend pass is like to be gone
24     overnight?
25          A.   It's an overnight, yeah.
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1          Q.   Overnight.  Okay.
2          A.   Got it.
3          Q.   All right.  And one of -- one of the things
4     that they have to do to be allowed to leave overnight,
5     was to be current on all financial obligations?
6     Right?
7          A.   That is what it says, yes.
8          Q.   Right.  That's -- it says that because that
9     was true?  Right?

10          A.   It says that.  There are -- there have been
11     times when that's not --
12          Q.   Yeah.  Enforced; fair to say?
13          A.   That portion of it, yes, sir.
14          Q.   Okay.  Who decides?
15          A.   I do.
16          Q.   You do.  You are the sole person who decides
17     whether or not that's enforced?
18                    So, but under the contract, you have
19     them sign something that says if they don't pay you,
20     they can't leave overnight unless they say you can?
21     Right?
22          A.   It is insinuated, yes, sir.  It is, yes.
23          Q.   Okay.  So under the contract, you could --
24     you could say -- you could say, "You pay me, or you
25     are not going to go see your mom"?
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1          A.   I suppose I could say that.
2          Q.   All right.  Okay.  Well, you -- you
3     reference sexual conduct in your contract here.
4     "Visitors are only allowed in common areas at all
5     times.  Sexual conduct is not permitted at any time."
6     Right?
7          A.   Yes, sir.
8          Q.   Except for you?  Right?
9          A.   It doesn't say that.
10          Q.   Yeah.  Except the practical effect is except
11     for you?  Right?
12          A.   Hum.
13                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object.
14     He's -- he already testified that was not --
15          A.   I'm not sure --
16                    MS. PACHECO: -- in the contract.  He is
17     asking questions about the contract.  There is not a
18     contractural provision that excepts Mr. Patterson's
19     sexual behavior.
20                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
21          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Ebby's Place manager
22     reserves the right to amend any rules at any time?
23     Right?
24          A.   Yes, sir.
25          Q.   Okay.  That -- that meant that when they
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1     signed this, whoever signed this, accepted whatever
2     else you wanted to add?  Right?
3          A.   Sure.
4          Q.   So you had them sign a document that left it
5     open ended for you to say and enforce whatever you
6     wanted?  Right?
7          A.   Sure.  That's safe to say.
8          Q.   Because that is correct?  Right?
9          A.   Sure.  Yes.

10          Q.   What would you call somebody who is in
11     charge of an organization who can do whatever they
12     want?
13          A.   Can you rephrase the question?
14          Q.   Would you call them a "dictator"?
15          A.   No.
16          Q.   What would you call them?
17          A.   Rephrase the question.
18          Q.   What would you call somebody in charge of
19     people in an organization where they can do whatever
20     they want?
21          A.   A boss.
22          Q.   Okay.  "Guests with dual diagnosis must be
23     prepared to discuss their current treatment plan with
24     the house manager."
25                    What kind of dual diagnosis?
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1          A.   In recovery community, a lot of addicts and
2     alcoholics, from my experience, -- some I should
3     say -- have other diagnosis that they have gotten from
4     a doctor.  Depression, ADD, bipolar, possibly.
5                    Dual diagnosis.  That's what they refer
6     to that as.
7          Q.   Okay.  So --
8          A.   Dual diagnosis being addiction --
9          Q.   And --

10          A.   -- and another underlying, reoccurring or
11     co-occurring --
12          Q.   And --
13          A.   -- diagnosis.
14          Q.   And things that can and often do accompany
15     drug addiction, alcohol addiction, include Attention
16     Deficit Disorder like what you suffer from?
17          A.   Yes, sir.
18          Q.   Okay.  Like depression?  You suffer from
19     depression?  Don't you?
20          A.   I've been diagnosed depressed before.
21          Q.   And depression can run the full gamut from
22     mild to severe?  Right?
23          A.   Depression can be mild or severe, yes.
24          Q.   Yes.  To the point where somebody wants to
25     kill themselves?  Right?
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1          A.   Correct.
2          Q.   You have gotten people come to stay with you
3     who got one foot on a banana peel almost wanting to
4     kill themselves.  Haven't you?
5          A.   Have I -- we have a policy in our house that
6     anybody that -- that I feel, or maybe somebody from a
7     treatment center feels, that they are suicidal they're
8     not allowed in the house.
9          Q.   How close?  What's the cutoff point?  How

10     close does somebody have to be to suicidal before you
11     say, "I don't think so"?
12          A.   If somebody even, if I ask the question:
13     "Have you had suicidal thoughts?"
14                    And they say, "A little bit," or,
15     "Yes," then they can't stay at our house.  We're not
16     qualified to -- we're just not -- I don't have the
17     experience to pretend like I know what to do in that
18     situation, so we refer them to professionals.
19          Q.   Who makes the decision then as to whether or
20     not they stay?  It's you?
21          A.   I do.  Yes, sir.
22          Q.   Of course, depression is one form of rage
23     turned inward.  Have you ever heard that term?
24     Depression is rage turned inward?  Have you ever heard
25     that?
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1          A.   No.
2          Q.   Have you ever heard of people -- well, you
3     get people that -- you've had people come wanting to
4     stay with you who not only want to kill themselves but
5     who want to kill other people?
6          A.   No.
7          Q.   No?  Okay.  That's something that's a big
8     concern of yours, though, was a big concern at the
9     time and is a big concern now?  That somebody could

10     die in your facility?  Right?
11          A.   Is it something that I've -- have thought
12     about?  Sure.  Absolutely.
13          Q.   You thought about it to the extent that you
14     make them release any liability on your part if they
15     die at your house?  Right?
16          A.   I do.
17          Q.   You want to make sure, you want -- by this,
18     you wanted to make sure that for whatever reason, if
19     somebody died staying at your house, that their
20     relatives -- you wanted to put up every protection
21     possible to any relatives who would sue you?  Right?
22          A.   Yes.
23          Q.   For whatever reason?  Right?
24          A.   Yes.
25          Q.   Accident?  Right?
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1          A.   Yes.  Yes.
2          Q.   Your negligence?  Right?
3          A.   Yes.
4          Q.   That's one of the reasons why you have now
5     formed an L.L.C., is to separate the entity finances
6     from your own personal finances?  Right?
7          A.   No, sir.
8          Q.   That's -- you are well aware that's one of
9     the effects, though?  Right?
10          A.   Do you want me to answer that honestly?
11          Q.   Yeah.  Well, yeah.  I'm hoping you will
12     answer all of the questions honestly.  Right?
13          A.   I -- I -- to be honest with you, I don't
14     know enough about that --
15          Q.   All right.
16          A.   -- to answer that honestly, because that's
17     not how I look at it.
18          Q.   All right.  Why did you -- why would you
19     even say that, "Do you want me to answer that
20     honestly"?  You know you swore an oath to answer
21     everything honestly?  Right?
22          A.   Right.
23          Q.   Is it just a habit, just sort of a careless
24     habit?
25          A.   I don't know enough about the L.L.C.
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1     (inaudible.)
2          Q.   All right.  You have answered honestly?
3     Right?
4          A.   I tried to.  Yes, sir.
5          Q.   Well, have you succeeded?
6          A.   Yes, sir.
7          Q.   All right.  Okay.  So, as we go through
8     this, one thing we can agree on then, is that you want
9     to make sure that these folks are not renters and they

10     do not have any of the rights of renters?  Right?
11          A.   Can you clarify "rights of renters"?
12          Q.   Well, I'll back up.  You don't want the --
13     you don't them referred to, treated in any way as
14     renters or tenants?  Correct?  They're guests, it's
15     completely different.
16          A.   They are guests for the (inaudible.)
17          Q.   And your intent is to make them -- is to try
18     to differentiate them completely, separate class, from
19     renters or tenants?  Correct?
20          A.   Tenants, yes, sir.
21          Q.   Well, before I get into renter rights,
22     hotels and motels have guests.  Right?
23          A.   Sure.
24          Q.   Do you pay -- have you ever paid any hotel
25     or motel tax to the City?
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1          A.   No, sir.
2          Q.   All right.  Well, we've alluded to renters'
3     rights.  Did you ever bother to look up those renters'
4     rights in the property code?
5          A.   When I first started, I looked at a few
6     things, and I don't -- I didn't really study it  to
7     know it with any certainty.
8          Q.   Okay.  Well, I have.
9                    MR. DURKIN:  May I approach the
10     witness, Your Honor?
11                    THE COURT:  Yes.
12                    MR. DURKIN:  I have made copies of
13     relevant portion of the property code as they relate
14     to renters' and tenants' rights.  And I would like to
15     give a copy to yourself, Your Honor, and Defendant and
16     Defense counsel, and I'd ask the Court to take
17     judicial notice of these relevant portions of the
18     property code so I can ask the Defendant about how his
19     arrangement differs from them.
20                    THE COURT:  All right.
21                    MR. DURKIN:  That's pretty thick, and I
22     don't expect you to read all that because we're just
23     going to go through some relevant portions.
24                    But after the Court reviews them, I
25     would ask the Court to be willing to take judicial
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1     notice of these provisions.
2                    THE COURT:  All right.  The Court will
3     take judicial notice of these provisions.
4          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  Let's look at
5     the first page where it talks about attorneys' fees.
6     It says that a party who prevails in a suit under this
7     subchapter of the property code as it relates to
8     tenants is entitled to recover attorneys' fees.
9                    Under your contract, you specifically

10     wanted to void that out.  You wanted to make sure that
11     the guests were responsible for all the fees including
12     attorneys' fees?  Right?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   Okay.  Let's go to the next page.  We're
15     going to -- let's see.  The next page is -- it
16     references Section 92.0081.  Go to B.
17                    "A landlord may not intentionally
18     prevent a tenant from entering the leased premises
19     except by judicial process unless the exclusion
20     results from bona fide repairs, abandonment," a whole
21     bunch of other stuff.  All right.
22                    But the point is, is that by calling
23     them "guests," and under the terms of your contract,
24     you specifically avoid that limitation on landlord
25     power?  Right?
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1          A.   Yes.
2          Q.   There's a reference here to if the landlord
3     wants to do some sort of short-term lockout, there's
4     provisions where they have to give the tenant notice
5     and a chance to call somebody and get the key within a
6     certain amount of time.
7                    And in addition to voiding that out in
8     the contract, your digital lock sidesteps that as
9     well.  Right?

10          A.   Yes, sir.
11          Q.   There's a provision -- let's see.  On the
12     next -- on the next page, D, there is a reference to
13     some sort of notices.  It's underlined in bold print,
14     the tenants' -- the tenants' right to receive a key to
15     the new lock at any hour regardless of whether the
16     tenant pays delinquent rent.  That talks to notice.
17                    You are not able -- you are not
18     obligated, nor do you provide any guest rights posted
19     anywhere at your house?  Do you?
20          A.   No, sir.
21          Q.   Let's go to, oh, the next page, where it
22     talks about Section 92.009 right at the bottom.
23     That's going to be -- tell me when you've found that.
24     Okay.  Got it?  All right.
25                    "Residential tenant's right of re-entry
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1     after unlawful lockout."
2                    All right.  Here is where it talks
3     about if the landlord has locked out the tenant, the
4     tenant may recover possession of the premises provided
5     by this section and get back in.  Your guests can't
6     get back in under any circumstances?  Correct?
7          A.   No.  That's not correct.
8          Q.   Okay.  Well, unless you say?  Let's put it
9     that way.

10          A.   That is correct.
11          Q.   You don't have to serve them with any legal
12     process?  You don't even have to serve them with
13     written notice?  You can just tell them?  Right?
14          A.   Yes, sir.
15          Q.   Let's go a few pages until you get to
16     92.010, Occupancy Limits.  Tell me when you got there.
17          A.   Page number?
18          Q.   It say -- well, you know, these -- these
19     skip around.  It's going to say "1 of 1."  But you're
20     going to go a couple of pages.  It's right at the top
21     Section 92.010, Occupancy Limits.  Okay?
22          A.   Okay.
23          Q.   All right.  Now, I'm not saying you exceed
24     these right now.  Okay?  But -- but you will agree
25     with me once you read this that there are occupancy
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1     limits for tenants?  Right?
2          A.   I would agree with you, yes, sir.
3          Q.   Under the state property code.  And there is
4     other -- there are other definitions under the City
5     Code.  But we're talking about the state property
6     code.
7                    Okay?  And under the State, the
8     occupancy limits say, "A landlord may allow a occupied
9     dwelling three times the number of bedrooms in the

10     dwelling."
11                    And then it says, "A landlord may allow
12     an occupancy rate of more than three adult tenants per
13     bedroom if" -- whatever.  Okay?
14                    But the point is that under the state
15     law, there is a limit to the number of tenants a
16     landlord can put in the residence?  Right?
17          A.   Right.
18          Q.   You have no such limits?  Do you?
19          A.   I -- I do have limits.
20          Q.   They're personal limits, though?  Aren't
21     they?
22          A.   No.  I made an agreement with the Homeowners
23     Association.
24          Q.   Based on what you decided?  Right?
25          A.   No.  What we decided, their attorneys.
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1          Q.   Okay.
2          A.   Threw a number out there and we agreed to
3     eight.  And that's what we did.
4          Q.   That's less than you had at the time of this
5     ticket?  You had 10 at the time of this ticket?
6     Didn't you?
7          A.   At the time of this ticket, yeah.  I had
8     more than that.  Yes, sir.
9          Q.   All right.  So, what -- all right.  Let's

10     explore that, then.
11                    When did you come to this agreement
12     with the Homeowners Association as to eight?
13          A.   Do you want an exact date?
14          Q.   If you got it.
15          A.   Got it pretty close.  I'd say it's around
16     May 2nd, 2011.  I don't know if that's the actual date
17     that we made the agreement but that's -- that's when
18     we sent the attorney representing the Homeowners
19     Association a response to the letters that they were
20     sending us.
21                    Within a couple of weeks, we sat down
22     with them in a meeting at my attorney's office with
23     the attorneys from the HOA and Ms. Pacheco, and that's
24     when -- everything kind of changed from that point on.
25     They asked us to --they asked us to not have more than
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1     eight.  And so that's what we agreed on.
2          Q.   Is that in writing anywhere?
3          A.   It is, and I don't think I have it here.
4     It's in -- in my e-mail?  I have it, if I can get it
5     from my attorney, she has it.
6          Q.   Well, we'll deal with that during a break,
7     or something.  That's okay.
8          A.   (Inaudible) agreement.  We would no do that
9     any longer.  Because we did have too many people
10     there.  I agree.  We absolutely didn't.
11          Q.   Well, how many?  What's the most you had
12     there?
13          A.   At that house?
14          Q.   Yeah?
15          A.   The absolute most that lived there was -- I
16     believe it was 13.  I have a hard time saying no.  I
17     had to learn I couldn't do that.
18          Q.   Yeah.  You have a four-bedroom house?
19     Right?
20          A.   One, two, three, four.  Yes, sir.
21          Q.   Yeah.  All right.  Well, what did you get in
22     return for your agreement with the Homeowners
23     Association to keep it to eight?
24          A.   What did I get?
25          Q.   Yeah.
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1          A.   They quit sending me letters.  They weren't
2     mad at me anymore.
3          Q.   They quit bugging you?
4          A.   They quit bugging me.
5          Q.   Okay.  All right.  That's a -- that's a
6     private agreement?  Right?  That's between you and
7     another private entity?  Right?
8          A.   Yes.  Private agreement, yes, sir.
9          Q.   Separate from the City, separate from the

10     State?  Right?
11          A.   Separate from the City.  Yeah.
12          Q.   All right.  What if you decided, you know,
13     I'm sick of this.  I want to put more people in there.
14                    You could do it, couldn't you?
15          A.   In that neighborhood, probably not.
16          Q.   Well, you could.  You just -- they would
17     start bugging you again.  Right?
18          A.   I could, I suppose if that's what I decided
19     to do, I suppose I could.  It's just not something
20     that I would ever entertain doing again.  I didn't
21     mean to piss everybody off.
22          Q.   Yeah.  Again, it's up to you?  Right?
23          A.   Yes, sir.  It is.
24          Q.   All right.  Let's go to the next page,
25     92.056.  "Landlord liability and tenant remedies.
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1     Notice and time for repair."
2                    You would agree that in a house, things
3     break down from time to time?  Right?
4          A.   Yes, sir.
5          Q.   I mean, among the things that can break
6     down -- I'm not saying they have -- but among the
7     things that can break down are mechanical systems like
8     heating and air conditioning, dishwasher, garbage
9     disposal, plumbing can back up, toilet can get clogged

10     up.
11                    Things that can significantly impair a
12     person's ability to enjoy the comfort of where they
13     are staying.  Right?
14          A.   Absolutely.
15          Q.   All right.  And -- and you would agree that
16     the property code provides tenant rights to get those
17     things fixed if they break?  Right?
18          A.   Yes, sir.
19          Q.   Guests have no such right?  Do they?
20          A.   Actually, if we can refer back to the
21     contract --
22          Q.   Uh-huh.
23          A.   -- on the second page.  I'm sorry.  It's on
24     the first page.  It's the third bullet point from the
25     bottom.
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1                    It says, "Any damage to the house or
2     property must be reported to the house manager
3     immediately," so I can get it taken care of, which has
4     happened.
5          Q.   Okay.  So they have not just the right but
6     the duty to report any damage?  Right?
7          A.   True.
8          Q.   All right.  So they say, "You know, the air
9     conditioning is not working.  It's 90 degrees in
10     here."
11          A.   Yeah.
12          Q.   All right.  So where in your contract does
13     it say you have to get it fixed?
14          A.   Where does it say that I have to?
15          Q.   Yeah.
16          A.   It's just common knowledge.
17          Q.   Okay.  So the answer is "nowhere"?  Right?
18          A.   It does not say that in the contract.  No,
19     sir.
20          Q.   Where does it give them any kind of rights
21     whatsoever if you decide, you know what?  I can't
22     afford it this month.  That's too bad.
23          A.   I don't know.  It's never happened.
24          Q.   Yeah.  Well, I didn't ask if it ever
25     happened.  My question is:  What rights do they have

Page 115

1     under your contract if you decide, I just can't do it
2     right now.  I'm not going to do it.  Too bad.
3          A.   I suppose they -- I suppose they don't.
4          Q.   Let's go to the next page, 92.0561.  Tenants
5     repair and deduct remedies.  The property code goes on
6     for tenants where it imposes the responsibility to
7     repair on landlords.
8                    And then, it goes on to say that if
9     landlords don't do that, that the tenants can do it.
10     And it allows provisions to deduct for rent under
11     certain circumstances.
12                    So, there is no such right for any
13     guests to take it upon themselves to fix something
14     that goes wrong and deduct what they owe you?  Right?
15          A.   (Inaudible.)
16          Q.   You would never even stand for that?  That's
17     your house?  Right?  You would never stand for that?
18     Would you?
19          A.   I take care of it.
20          Q.   Well, you would never stand for somebody
21     else fixing it?  Would you?
22          A.   I mean, if somebody else did it, I suppose
23     that would be okay.  But that's just not --
24          Q.   Well, let's take a hypothetical situation.
25          A.   Okay.
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1          Q.   Okay?  I'm not saying -- again, I'm not
2     saying it's going to happen.  But I want to take a
3     hypothetical situation as to what could happen.  All
4     right?
5                    The heating or the air-conditioning
6     system goes out.  Right?
7          A.   Okay.
8          Q.   It's going to cost 1500 bucks to fix it.
9          A.   Okay.
10          Q.   And they say, "Boss, this is broken.  I want
11     you to fix it."
12                    And you go, "I'm not going to fix it."
13                    And so they say, "I can't stand this
14     anymore."
15                    And so they get a guy, somebody to fix
16     it.  And they say, "You know what?  This cost me 1500
17     bucks and so I am not going to pay you your $200 a
18     week for the next seven weeks."
19          A.   Uh-huh.
20          Q.   All right.  You would never stand for that?
21     Would you?  That could not, would not happen?
22          A.   Why would I say that I wasn't going to fix
23     it?
24          Q.   My point is, is that if a guest ever took it
25     upon themselves to want to fix something that was
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1     broken, they could never deduct the money they owe
2     you?  Correct?  Under this contract?  Right?
3          A.   Under this contract, correct.
4          Q.   Let's go to -- let's skip several pages
5     until we get to 92.109.  Liability of landlord.  It
6     talks about security deposits.
7                    Now, you've rented before?  Right?
8     You've been a tenant before?  Right?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   You're familiar with your traditional
11     deposit where a -- a renter puts down money as
12     security to guarantee that they are not going to tear
13     up the place?  Right?
14          A.   Yes.
15          Q.   All right.  And if you, as a renter, you
16     recall that if you left the apartment or house or
17     whatever you were renting in good repair, then you
18     would be entitled to get your security deposit back?
19     Right?
20          A.   Yes, sir.
21          Q.   And this references that?  Requirement of
22     the landlord to return the deposit.  Right?
23          A.   Right.
24          Q.   Now, you made it clear in your contract,
25     from the beginning, that your deposit was going to be
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1     non-refundable?  Correct?
2          A.   In this contract, yes, I did.
3          Q.   Let's talk about the next page, Section
4     92.331.  Retaliation by landlord.  Let's go to 3.
5                    A landlord may not retaliate against a
6     tenant -- a tenant, because the tenant, let's say, 3,
7     complains to a governmental entity responsible for
8     enforcing building or housing codes -- oh, gosh.
9     There is a variety of other provisions there.

10                    But the point is, is that tenants have
11     protections from retaliations against landlords.  Your
12     guests have no such protection from you?  Correct?
13          A.   Well, everybody has protection.  We all have
14     access to the Police Department and local authorities.
15          Q.   Yeah.  Well, let's say that there was some
16     sort of substandard condition that your guests didn't
17     like, and they decided to report that to the -- a Code
18     Compliance Department.  You have the authority under
19     your contract to put them out?  Right?
20          A.   Probably.  This is hypothetical again?
21          Q.   Yeah.
22          A.   What we're doing?  Okay.  Sure.  Yes.
23          Q.   Especially since you have the ability to
24     amend the rules at any time.
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   You can say, "You know what?  I just decided
2     that I'm going to put you out for reporting this to a
3     code official."
4                    Boom, done.  Right?
5          A.   Hypothetically, sure, yes.
6          Q.   Let's go a couple of more pages, 92.333,
7     tenant remedies.
8                    In addition to other remedies provided
9     by law, if a landlord retaliates against a tenant

10     under this subchapter, the tenant may recover from the
11     landlord a civil penalty of one month's rent plus
12     $500, damages, court costs and attorneys' fees.
13                    Now, let's just -- you would agree as
14     an aside that attorneys' fees can get to be pretty
15     expensive?  Right?
16          A.   They can.
17          Q.   Yeah.  Under your contract, you specifically
18     remove that protection that tenants have from your
19     guests?  Right?
20          A.   Can you repeat the question?
21          Q.   Tenants, if they are retaliated against
22     their landlord, have the right to recover a month's
23     rent, 500 bucks, damages, court costs, attorneys'
24     fees, in addition to recovery for property damages,
25     moving costs, actual expenses, civil penalties, blah,
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1     blah, blah.
2                    The point is, is that in your contract,
3     you say that your guests have to pay for all legal
4     fees.  Your guests have no such protection and they
5     have to pay for any litigation?  Right?
6          A.   It does say that.  Yes, sir.
7          Q.   And that's -- that -- the effect of that is
8     to completely wipe out that tenant protection?
9     Correct?

10          A.   Correct.
11          Q.   Let's skip over to the next page where it
12     talks about forceable entry and detainer, page after
13     next.
14                    This is essentially the eviction law,
15     and you can see it runs for 18 pages.  Right?
16          A.   Yes, sir.
17          Q.   Did you study up on eviction law at all
18     prior to writing your contract?
19          A.   No, sir.
20          Q.   You understand that before a landlord can
21     evict somebody, they have to give them notice, file a
22     lawsuit, let the lawsuit run, and the tenant can stay
23     there during the pendency of that.  Right?
24          A.   Yes, sir.
25          Q.   And the effect of your contract is to
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1     completely separate your guests from the effect of
2     these 18 pages of eviction law?  Right?
3          A.   Yes, sir.
4          Q.   We're right here.
5                    THE COURT:  We're going to call for a
6     10 minute recess.  Would this be a good time to do
7     that?  Okay.
8                    It's about a quarter 'til so we'll be
9     back here at five minutes until the hour.

10                    At this time, we are off the record.
11     Thank you.
12                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
13     segment.)
14                    (Segment 10 of DVD labeled as, "Court
15     9-20120515-1002_01cd3281c7936cbO":)
16                    THE COURT:  We are back on the record.
17     Continuing Cross Examination.
18                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.  May it please
19     the Court.
20          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Mr. Patterson, I'd like to
21     now go onto a different topic.  So, we won't need to
22     be looking at all those property laws.
23                    You know that the City defines family
24     as up to five unrelated persons living together in a
25     dwelling?  Right?  You've heard that before?  Right?
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1          A.   I have heard that before.  Yes, sir.
2          Q.   Okay.  So in a -- in a tenants capacity?
3     Right?  And we can get to the -- if the -- if the law
4     is not in there, you know, the law is what -- in fact,
5     let me see if I can go ahead and refer to it.
6                    I'll get to that in a minute.  But --
7     but the point is, is that among the things you could
8     do.  I'm not saying what you are doing, but you could
9     do.  You could have decided that you wanted to rent

10     out your home to -- to up to five unrelated people?
11     Right?
12          A.   Yes.
13          Q.   Right?  You could have decided that?
14          A.   Yes, sir.
15          Q.   And you could have decided, you know what?
16     I want to try to help alcohol -- recovering alcoholics
17     and drug addicts.  So I'm going to rent out my house
18     to up to five unrelated people who happen to be
19     recovering alcoholic and drug addicts.  Right?
20          A.   I could have done that, yes.
21          Q.   Yes.  And -- and I mean, and you could
22     have -- they could have signed just your standard, you
23     know, residential lease, put in a month to month and
24     just been tenants.  It's just that they happened to be
25     recovering alcoholics and drug addicts?  Right?
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1          A.   Correct.
2          Q.   Okay.  But that is not in any way, shape, or
3     form what you want to do?  Right?
4          A.   Correct.
5          Q.   That doesn't suit your vision?  That's not
6     what you want to accomplish?  Right?
7          A.   That's correct.
8          Q.   Okay.  And realistically, I mean, you would
9     agree that nobody in their right mind is going to pay

10     200 bucks a week if you weren't offering the -- the
11     services separate from a -- some -- from living there?
12     Right?
13          A.   Correct.
14          Q.   Would it -- would you agree that you -- a --
15     a core part of the product that you offer is, then,
16     alcohol and drug addiction recovery services?
17                    Would you agree with that?
18          A.   Yes.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  And may I approach the
20     bench, Your Honor?
21                    THE COURT:  Yes.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  All right.  And I think we
23     have in evidence already, State's 10, some of the
24     alcohol and drug addiction recovery services that you
25     were advertising at the -- the time of the ticket, on
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1     or about May the 23rd, 2011.  Is that correct?
2          A.   That's correct.
3          Q.   And it's fair to say that over time, you
4     have expanded the range of alcohol and drug addiction
5     recovery services that you offer?
6          A.   What we've expanded to is not what we offer
7     in the house.
8          Q.   Okay.  But that wasn't my limitation.
9     You -- you offer an expanded range of recovery

10     services now, over time, from what you were doing
11     then?
12          A.   Yes, sir.
13                    MR. DURKIN:  I would ask that this be
14     marked as "State's Exhibit 18."
15          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Make sure that that's an
16     accurate printout from your current website, and tell
17     me when you're done.
18          A.   No.  It's not an accurate printout of my
19     current website.
20          Q.   Why not?
21          A.   Because it was obviously printed -- I
22     don't -- I don't know.  I mean, you don't have a date
23     on here so I don't know when it was printed.  When did
24     you print it?
25          Q.   I don't know --
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1          A.   It's not accurate though.
2          Q.   Why not?
3          A.   Because there are changes that have been
4     made since this was printed.
5          Q.   Okay.  Well, I won't offer it then.
6     That's fine.
7          A.   What --
8          Q.   What?  Why are you looking over there all
9     the time?

10          A.   I'm saying it's close, but it's not an
11     accurate -- the question was:  Is it accurate?  And
12     it's not accurate.
13          Q.   Okay.  I'll back up then.
14                    Do you still offer the same recovery
15     services now, that you offered whenever that was
16     printed out, a couple of weeks ago, or whatever it was
17     for the?
18          A.   No.
19          Q.   Then I won't offer it.  That's okay.
20     Let's -- let's go down this route instead.
21                    MR. DURKIN:  Your Honor, my next area
22     of inquiry is going to be relating to the law
23     regarding community homes.  And I'm going to ask
24     the -- I'm going -- I would like to pass out some law
25     for everybody and ask the Court to take judicial
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1     notice as we go.
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.
3                    MR. DURKIN:  Would that be all right?
4                    THE COURT:  Go right ahead.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.
6                    THE COURT:  Thank you.
7                    MR. DURKIN:  Tender that to the
8     Defendant, the Court, and get my copy and then I'll be
9     able to proceed.

10          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  The -- the first
11     thing I want -- I would like to ask you about is this
12     diagram.
13                    Do you see this that I'm talking about?
14          A.   Yes, sir, district table.
15          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  That -- that table is from the
16     zone --
17                    MR. DURKIN:  First off I'd ask if the
18     Court feels comfortable having reviewed those items,
19     I'd ask the Court to take judicial notice of the
20     portions of the zoning code of the City, and of the
21     Texas Human Resources Code that I have tendered to the
22     Court.
23                    THE COURT:  Okay.  The Court will take
24     such notice of the zoning code from the City of Fort
25     Worth as well as the Human Resources Code.
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1          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  So this
2     residential use table, that is a table that shows
3     allowable uses in an A5 residential district.  Okay?
4     With me so far?
5          A.   Yes, sir.
6          Q.   All right.  And among the permissible uses
7     is a single family home.  Okay.  Right?
8          A.   Correct.
9          Q.   All right.  That's where the up to five

10     unrelated people comes in for a definition of family.
11     With me?
12          A.   Yes.
13          Q.   As to what's a family.
14          A.   Yes.
15          Q.   Okay.  All right.  Now, among the other uses
16     that are permitted and not permitted, second from the
17     bottom, when you go to -- on the A5 category, you
18     notice boarding or lodging house?  All right?
19                    There is nothing in that square when
20     you do -- when you do the cross reference.  Right?
21          A.   Yes, sir.
22          Q.   Okay.  That means that a boarding or lodging
23     house is not allowable in a A5 residential district.
24          A.   That's what it says.  Yes, sir.
25          Q.   All right.  Okay.  That doesn't matter to
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1     you because you don't represent yourself to be a
2     boarding or lodging house anyway?  Right?
3          A.   No, sir.
4          Q.   I mean, that's a correct statement?  Right?
5          A.   It is a correct statement.
6          Q.   Okay.  Ah, but it does say that a community
7     home is -- has a "P" there with an asterisk.  All
8     right?  Well, what does that mean?  Let's go to the
9     next page.

10                    Do you see how we got Section 4.601,
11     key to table designations where it says "A, permitted
12     uses"?  All right?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   It says, "A, 'P' in a cell indicates that a
15     use is allowed by right in a respective zoning
16     district.  Permitted uses are subject to all other
17     applicable regulations of the zoning ordinance.  A 'P'
18     with an asterisk in any cell means that the
19     supplemental use standards apply, see Chapter 5.  The
20     specific section number of the standard number is
21     noted in the right-hand column titled 'supplemental
22     standards.'"
23                    So let's go to the far right box there
24     where it mentions "supplemental standards," and you
25     see how that has a 5.110 in front of it?  Right?
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1          A.   Yes, sir.
2          Q.   All right so far?  Well, let's see what
3     those standards are.  Let's go to the next one where,
4     first off, it defines a community home.
5                    Do you see that?
6          A.   Yes, sir.
7          Q.   All right.  "A community home -- a community
8     based residential home containing not more than eight
9     disabled persons, not more than eight disabled

10     persons, and two non-resident supervisory personnel,
11     and which otherwise meets the requirements of the
12     community homes for disabled persons location, at
13     Chapter 123.001 of the Texas Human Resources Code."
14     Right?
15          A.   Yes, sir.
16          Q.   All right.  And then we go to the next page
17     of that.  Where -- it's a City code still.  Where it
18     says, "A community home may be permitted in accordance
19     with the uses in Table 4," which would have been the
20     residential use table we just looked at, "subject to
21     the following conditions."  All right?
22                    "A, a community home must meet all
23     applicable licensing requirements of Chapter 123.001
24     of the Human Resources Code."  All right.
25                    Then it has spacing requirements.  And
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1     then it talks about motor vehicles on presidents -- on
2     premises.  Let's talk about that briefly.
3                    "Residents of a community home may not
4     keep on the premises of a home or on the public
5     rights-of-way adjacent to the home more than one motor
6     vehicle per bedroom for the use of residents of their
7     home."
8                    All right.  I'm not to the point
9     where -- where -- we're deciding whether or not you
10     are a community home.  I'm not to that point.  I'm --
11     I just want to ask about cars.  You don't -- you don't
12     meet that requirement?  Right?  About the vehicles?
13                    Because it's fair to say that you have
14     more than one vehicle per bedroom for the use of the
15     residents of the home?  Typically, at your house?
16     Right?
17          A.   Typically.
18          Q.   Okay.  So you're over that limit?  Right?
19          A.   I'm over that limit.
20          Q.   And you were over the limit at the time of
21     the ticket, back then?
22          A.   At the time, yeah.  Currently, I'm not.
23          Q.   But at the time, you were?
24          A.   Yes.
25          Q.   Okay.  So, I guess what we're looking at is
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1     to answer the question of whether or not you're a
2     community home, we have to look at the Texas Human
3     Resources Code.
4                    Would you agree with that?
5          A.   Yes, sir.
6          Q.   Well, let's go.  Let's go.  Let's go.  Texas
7     Human Resources Code.
8                    All right.  Let's talk about
9     definition, 123.002.  In this chapter, a person with a
10     disability means a person whose ability to care for
11     himself, perform manual tasks, learn, work, walk, see,
12     hear, speak, or breathe, is substantially limited
13     because the person has, and you go through these, "an
14     emotional illness," at the bottom.
15                    Well, do the people there have a
16     disability because of an emotional illness at your
17     place?
18          A.   Yes.
19          Q.   "B, a restriction reservation exception or
20     other provision in an instrument created or amended on
21     or after September 1st, 1985, that relates to the
22     transfer, sale, lease, or use of property may not
23     prohibit the use of the property as a community home."
24                    So this purports to provide protections
25     for community homes.  Right?
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1          A.   Correct.
2          Q.   Zoning laws can't prohibit the use of a --
3     an acceptable community home.  Right?
4          A.   Yeah.
5          Q.   All right.  Well, let's find out.  Let's
6     find out what qualifies as a legal community home.
7     Here we go, 123.004.  Qualification as a community
8     home.
9                    "To qualify as a community home, an

10     entity must comply with sections 123.005 through
11     123.008 and B."
12                    Let's find out if you are any of these.
13     Okay?  Let's find out if you are any of these things
14     that follow.
15                    Number 1, "A community based
16     residential home operated by A, the Texas Department
17     of Mental Health and Retardation."
18                    Are you one of those?
19          A.   No.
20          Q.   "B, a community center organized under
21     Chapter A, Chapter -- Subchapter A, Chapter 534,
22     Health and Safety Code that provides services to
23     persons with disability."
24                    Do you have any knowledge that that's
25     what you're organized under?
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1          A.   No.
2          Q.   All right.  You never heard of those?  You
3     don't purport to be organized under those?  Right?
4          A.   No.
5          Q.   I mean, that's a correct statement?  Right?
6          A.   That's a correct statement.
7          Q.   All right.  So that doesn't apply.  "C, an
8     entity subject to the Texas Non-Profit Corporation
9     Act."

10                    You're not one those?  Right?
11          A.   No.
12          Q.   "D, an entity certified by the Texas
13     Department of Human Services as a provider under the
14     medical assistance program, serving persons in
15     intermediate care facilities for persons with mental
16     retardation."
17                    Well, you are certainly not one of
18     those.  That's a correct statement?  Right?
19          A.   Right.  I'm not one of those.
20          Q.   Okay.  All right.  Well, let's go to 2.  "An
21     assisted living facility licensed under Chapter 247 of
22     the Health and Safety Code, provided that the exterior
23     structure retains compatibility with the surrounding
24     residential dwellings."
25                    Let's take that a piece at a time.
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1                    Your house retains the compatibility
2     with the surrounding residential dwellings?  Correct?
3          A.   Yes, sir.
4          Q.   All right.  You were certainly not licensed
5     under the -- under Chapter 247 of the Health and
6     Safety Code?  Correct?
7          A.   No, sir.
8          Q.   I mean, that's a correct statement?  Right?
9          A.   That's correct.

10          Q.   All right.  Well, let's find out if you are
11     an assisted living facility.  Hum?  All right?
12                    To do that we have to go to the
13     Assisted Living Facility Licensing Act.
14                    MR. DURKIN:  And I would like to pass
15     that out to everybody.  I would ask the Court to take
16     judicial notice of the Assisted Facility Licensing
17     Act.  This is the first three pages of it to start.
18     It includes definitions.
19                    THE COURT:  All right.  The Court will
20     take notice of the part of the Act.
21          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  Now, let's
22     connect the dots, Mr. Patterson.  Back in the Texas
23     Human Resources Code, it referred to Chapter 247 of
24     the Health and Safety Code.  Okay?
25          A.   Okay.
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1          Q.   And now, we're at the beginning part of 247
2     of the chapter -- of the Health and Safety Code.  Are
3     you with me?
4          A.   Yes, sir.
5          Q.   All right.  So, we're going to go to the
6     second page now, where it mentions assisted living
7     facilities.
8                    Do you see that?  I think I have
9     highlighted that for you.

10          A.   You did.
11          Q.   Okay.  So, "Assisted living facility means
12     an establishment that, A, furnishes in one or more
13     facilities food and shelter to four or more persons
14     who are unrelated to the proprietor of the
15     establishment."
16                    You did that at the time of the ticket
17     and you do that now?  Correct?
18          A.   I do, do those things, yes, sir.
19          Q.   And back at the time of the ticket and now?
20     Right?
21          A.   Yes, sir.
22          Q.   All right.  That's one.  One down.  "And, B,
23     provides personal care services."  What are personal
24     care services?  Let's turn the page.
25                    Highlighted.  Personal care services
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1     means -- let's go to B.  This is an "or."  Read the
2     whole -- do me a favor.  Read B and tell me when
3     you're done reading it to yourself.  Okay?
4          A.   Okay.
5          Q.   All right.  Now, there is an "or" in there.
6     Do you see the "or"?
7          A.   Uh-huh.
8          Q.   All right.  So here we go.  "B, general
9     supervision or oversight of the physical and mental
10     well-being of a person who needs assistance."
11                    Do you do that, and did you do that
12     then?
13          A.   Yes.
14          Q.   All right.  "To maintain a private and
15     independent residence in an assisted living facility."
16                    Okay.  Well.  "Or who needs assistance
17     to manage the person's personal life."
18                    So let's see if we can break that down.
19     We're going to go through the "or" part.  "General
20     supervision or oversight of the physical and mental
21     well-being of person," and you cut it off there.
22     Right?
23                    "General supervision or oversight of
24     the physical and mental well-being of a person," and
25     then you go to the or, "Who needs assistance to manage
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1     the person's personal life."
2                    Do you see how that works?
3          A.   Uh-huh.
4          Q.   You did that at the time of the ticket, and
5     you do that now?  Don't you?
6          A.   Yes, sir.
7          Q.   Then it says, "Regardless of whether a
8     guardian has been appointed for the person."  Okay?
9                    But that doesn't matter.

10                    So were you at the time of the ticket,
11     and are you now an assisted living facility?  Hum.
12     Let's see.
13                    A, you furnish food and shelter to four
14     or more persons who are unrelated to you, and you
15     provide personal care services.  So under that
16     definition, would you agree with me that at the time
17     of the ticket and now, under this definition, you were
18     running an assisted living facility?
19          A.   I think you twisted some words around.
20          Q.   How?
21          A.   Because if you look at the definition under
22     "Personal Care Services," under A, it sounded like you
23     were reading that line, but we don't assist with
24     feeding, dressing, moving, bathing.  I could have,
25     possibly, heard you wrong.  But it sounded like you
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1     were trying to repeat that by what you said.  We don't
2     assist in any of those things.
3          Q.   Yeah.  You don't do A?  Right?
4          A.   No, sir.
5          Q.   Okay.  And that's why you think you --
6     you -- you don't provide personal care services?
7     Right?  You don't do A?  Right?
8          A.   I don't do A.  Correct.
9          Q.   Okay.  What happened -- read all of A.  Read

10     the whole line.
11          A.   "Assistance with feeding, dressing, moving,
12     bathing, and other personal needs or maintenance."
13          Q.   Ah-ha.  Or.  Or.
14          A.   Yeah.  Okay.
15          Q.   Are you with me?
16          A.   Sure.
17          Q.   It's A or B, correct?
18          A.   Yes.
19          Q.   All right.  You don't do A.  You do B?
20     Right?
21          A.   Yes.
22          Q.   At the time of the ticket and through now,
23     you are an assisted living facility under this
24     definition?  Aren't you?
25          A.   Under this definition --
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object.
2                    MR. DURKIN:  Ah.  Oh.  This is very
3     important.
4                    MS. PACHECO:  Excuse me, Judge.  I am
5     allowed to state my objection.  And it is wholly
6     inappropriate for the commentary that's been going on
7     from prosecution.
8                    MR. DURKIN:  He is about to say, "yes,"
9     and she is wants to stop it.

10                    MS. PACHECO:  I have not stated my
11     objection yet.
12                    THE COURT:  I will listen to her
13     objection.  I will rule on it.  And then, we'll decide
14     if he is going to answer.
15                    MS. PACHECO:  My objection is that the
16     Prosecution is asking the witness to draw a legal
17     conclusion from the statute.  He is not an attorney.
18     He has a 9th grade education and a GED.
19                    THE COURT:  All right.  It's overruled.
20     Go ahead and answer the question, please.
21                    MS. PACHECO:  I would also like to
22     object to the continued side-bar that Counsel has
23     offered with the snickering and uh-huhs and the yeahs
24     and jumping out of his seat and interruptions.  And if
25     there could be an instruction that we try to conduct
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1     ourselves like civilized adults who practice law and
2     not like children on the playground, that would be
3     nice.
4                    THE COURT:  All right.  Sustained.
5                    Go ahead and answer the question,
6     Mr. Patterson.
7          A.   Repeat the question.
8                    THE COURT:  Okay.  This is -- this will
9     be the last time.  It's been repeated.  I'm thinking
10     four times, so.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, then can I object
12     as to asked and answered and can we --
13                    THE COURT:  It's not been answered.
14     It's never been answered.
15                    Go ahead one last time.
16          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) You would agree under this
17     definition, at the time of the ticket, through and
18     including now, you've been operating an assisted
19     living facility?  Correct?
20          A.   No.
21          Q.   Why?
22          A.   Because I'm not -- although I may be in a
23     supervisory role, I'm not a licensed professional that
24     can oversee the physical and mental well-being of a
25     person.
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1          Q.   Where are you getting that?
2          A.   From the very first line of the -- of that
3     of that B definition.
4          Q.   That provides --
5          A.   It's kind of -- in my opinion, it's kind of
6     vague.  It says, "general supervision."
7                    Do I do general supervision, yes.  But
8     do I do oversight of the physical and mental
9     well-being of a person?  I don't know.  In my head, it
10     seems like they're referring to somebody
11     that's -- that's a professional that -- like somebody
12     from the treatment center, that they do that.
13          Q.   You already answered "yes" to that question?
14     Didn't you?  You already said you did that before your
15     lawyer jumped up?  Right?
16          A.   I did say that, if I said that.
17          Q.   Right.  Well, you know you said that?  You
18     said that?  Right?
19          A.   Sure.
20          Q.   Okay.  Well, now you're starting to realize,
21     oh, this is kind of a hot-button issue so you're
22     crawfishing?  Right?
23          A.   If that's what you call it.
24          Q.   That's what you are doing.  Right?
25          A.   Okay.

Page 142

1          Q.   All right.  All right.  Well, what has
2     changed your mind from two minutes ago where you said,
3     yeah, you do that, other than your desire not to
4     answer that question "yes"?
5          A.   I have -- I feel being -- I feel like I'm
6     looking at something that I don't fully understand
7     exactly what you're asking.  I feel like I'm being --
8     ask something that I don't -- that I don't fully feel
9     comfortable answering.

10          Q.   All right.  You're not licensed in any way
11     as an assisted living facility?  Are you?
12          A.   No, sir.
13          Q.   Now, let's talk about the licensing
14     provisions for assisted living facilities and what has
15     to be inspected.
16                    MS. PACHECO:  I guess, I'm going to
17     object to this line of questioning.  I mean, I guess
18     we can go into it, but he's already said that he is
19     not licensed.  So what the requirements are is
20     irrelevant as to whether he is operating a business,
21     which is what the ticket is based upon.  We are about
22     to get on a rabbit trail with a huge packet of the
23     statutory code.
24                    If he's not licensed, he's not
25     licensed.  So what those requirements would be, he
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1     obviously doesn't meet them.  He has also testified to
2     that.
3                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  I will
4     allow it to the extent that we see where it goes and
5     then -- and I will keep your objection in mind.  Thank
6     you.
7                    Overruled for now.  Go ahead and
8     proceed.
9          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Okay.  Well, we've already

10     established up until now that you, because of that
11     contract, have differentiated guests from any of the
12     protections of tenants?  Right?
13          A.   Yes, sir.
14          Q.   All right.  Well, now, I'm going to find out
15     if you meet any of the licensing requirements of an
16     assisted living facility.  That's where this is going.
17     So I'm going to pass that out.
18                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm going to ask the Court
19     take judicial notice of the entire assisted living
20     facility packet.
21                    THE COURT:  The Court will take notice
22     of it.
23          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  All right.
24     Let's go to Page 6 of 42, please.  Definition of
25     "controlling person."
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1                    "A person who is a controlling person
2     if the person acting alone or with others has the
3     ability to direct or indirectly influence, direct or
4     cause the direction of the management, expenditure of
5     monies or policies of an assisted living facility or
6     other person."
7                    Now, I'm not going to be asking if --
8     okay.  We're going to separate out assisted living
9     facility.  We're just going to say, "your

10     organization."  You are the controlling person of your
11     organization?  Right?
12                    You have the ability to do all of those
13     things in there?  Right?
14                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, I'm going to
15     object.  He already testified that he does not believe
16     he is an assisted living facility, so we are kind of
17     convoluting requirements under the statute whether
18     someone is a controlling person and whether a
19     definition that specifically applies to an assisted
20     living facility.  And there's not -- we haven't
21     established what Ebby's Place is, and so whether he
22     would be a controlling person under whatever that
23     nebulous entity would be, it's not relevant to whether
24     it's under this definition.
25                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Is this different
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1     than what he has already been asked?  Is that a
2     different direction?
3                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes.  Even though the
4     Defendant has backtracked from his admission that he
5     met the definitions, that -- whether or not the
6     Defendant is essentially operating an assisted living
7     facility, an unlicensed assisted living facility and
8     unlicensed community home, is one of the issues of the
9     Court in determining whether or not he's running a

10     business in a residential, and it also applies to the
11     punishment that's anywhere from $1 to $2,000.
12                    I've spent great lengths to show how
13     the Defendant has differentiated himself and provided
14     none of the protections of tenants.
15                    And now, I want to show how he has
16     provided none of the protections that this law
17     requires of assisted living facilities because he's
18     not licensed.
19                    THE COURT:  All right.  I'll allow it.
20     Go ahead.  It's overruled.
21          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  Regardless of
22     whether you're an assisted living facility, you are
23     the controlling person in your organization?  Correct?
24          A.   I am.
25          Q.   Let's go to the next page, 247.007.  See if
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1     I got that.  Yeah.  You can put that there.  One of
2     the things it says, "An assisted living facility shall
3     comply with Chapter 260 A," and we'll get to that in a
4     little bit.
5                    And then, it says, the person including
6     the owner of an assisted living facility has to comply
7     with 260 A.  Again, we'll get to that.
8                    All right.  Now, we'll go to 247.021.
9     "A, a person may not establish or operate an assisted

10     living facility without a license under this chapter."
11                    Then we go to some of the requirements
12     of a license on the next page.  Where we would go down
13     to, among other things, 5 D 2, about a third of the
14     way up from the bottom.
15                    It says, "As a part of that licensing
16     procedure, the department shall conduct a life safety
17     code inspection of the facility as soon as reasonably
18     possible after the Department issues a provisional
19     license."
20                    No Department has ever -- no -- no
21     governmental entity of any kind has ever conducted a
22     life safety code inspection of your -- of that house
23     on Granite Creek?  Right?
24          A.   Correct.
25          Q.   Let's go to 247.022 on the next page, third

Page 147

1     of the way from the bottom.  "An applicant for an
2     assisted facility license must submit an application
3     to the Department on a form prescribed by the
4     Department."
5                    So not only are you not licensed, but
6     you have never even submitted an application.  Is that
7     correct?
8          A.   Submitted an application to be an assisted
9     living facility?

10          Q.   Yeah.
11          A.   No.  I have not.
12          Q.   Let's go to Page 11 of 42, 247.026.
13                    "The Board, by rule, shall prescribe
14     minimum standards to protect the health and safety of
15     an assisted living facility residents," and in
16     particular, the standards must, 3, "ensure that the
17     daily nutritional and special dietary needs of each
18     resident are met."
19                    So you have no -- because you
20     haven't -- you don't have a license, you have no
21     outside entity directing the -- any kind of health or
22     safety requirements within the house?  Correct?
23          A.   Correct.
24          Q.   And there is nothing to ensure that, among
25     other things, the daily nutritional and special
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1     dietary needs of each resident are met?  Correct?
2          A.   Correct.
3          Q.   Who decides what the residents eat?  What
4     your guests -- excuse me -- what your guests eat?
5          A.   They decide what they eat.
6          Q.   Who buys it?
7          A.   I buy it.
8          Q.   Who has the final say on what they eat?
9          A.   They do.

10          Q.   All right.  Well, what if your guest said,
11     "You know what?  We'd like some filet mignon and some
12     crab for dinner"?  All right?  So, you are not going
13     to go buy that for them?  Are you?
14          A.   Not crab.  I've never bought crab or filet
15     mignon before.
16          Q.   Yeah.  All right.  Because the -- you buy
17     food -- any money -- is it fair to say, any money you
18     spend on food takes away from the money that you keep?
19          A.   It is.
20          Q.   Now, I'm not saying you do this, but would
21     you agree that someone in your position, and, in fact,
22     you have an incentive to spend as little money on food
23     as you can?
24          A.   There would be an incentive to do that.
25          Q.   You take some pride in monitoring of blogs
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1     about your place?  Right?
2          A.   I do.
3          Q.   In fact --
4          A.   I don't know about pride.
5          Q.   Well, I mean, you take some care to respond
6     to them?  Right?
7          A.   Sometimes.
8          Q.   Yeah.  Let's see here.  The gripes on the
9     blog that you have been feeding them HotPockets?

10     Right?
11          A.   I don't remember that one.
12          Q.   Okay.  Let's go to Page 14 of 42, top of the
13     page.  "A, the Department may inspect an assisted
14     living facility annually, and may inspect the facility
15     at other reasonable times as necessary to assure
16     compliance with this chapter.  And the Department must
17     establish an inspection checklist based on the minimum
18     standards that describes the matters subject to
19     inspection."
20                    You have not received in any manner any
21     kind of inspection checklist or any set of minimum
22     state standards to which you must adhere?  Correct?
23          A.   Correct.
24          Q.   Let's go to Page 18 of 42, please.  247.042,
25     emergency suspension or closing order.  "If the
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1     Department finds an assisted living facility operating
2     in violation of the standards prescribed by this
3     chapter and the violations create an immediate threat
4     to the health and safety of a resident in the
5     facility, the Department may suspend the license or
6     order the immediate closing of all or part of a
7     facility."
8                    You don't have to worry about any of
9     that?  Do you?

10          A.   I'm not an assisted living facility, so I
11     would say no.
12          Q.   "D, the Department shall provide for the
13     relocation of residents of an assisted living facility
14     that is closed."
15                    You don't have to -- you don't --
16     nobody provides for any guest relocation when you put
17     them out?  Correct?
18          A.   I do sometimes.
19          Q.   But in the absence of that, no outside
20     agency does that?  Correct?
21          A.   No.
22          Q.   All right.  247.043, "The Department shall
23     conduct an investigation in accordance with Section
24     260 A.007 after receiving a report of abuse,
25     exploitation or neglect of a resident in an assisted
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1     living facility."
2                    Let's see here.
3                    MS. PACHECO:  Is there a question?
4                    MR. DURKIN:  There was.  I'm -- I'm
5     rethinking that one.  So, I think I'm going to
6     withdraw that.
7          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin)   Would you agree that the
8     way in which an organization is known to the attention
9     of the enforcement agency is through the licensing

10     procedure?
11                    MS. PACHECO:  Object.  That's vague and
12     ambiguous.  I don't quite understand it.
13                    THE COURT:  Sustained.  Can you
14     rephrase that?
15          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) That's the logical method by
16     which an organization comes to the attention of the
17     enforcement agency, is that they get licensed?  Right?
18                    MS. PACHECO:  Object, again, it's vague
19     and ambiguous.  It's the same thing.  I mean, there is
20     no -- they -- and this -- and it just needs to be
21     tightened up as to what he's specifically referring
22     to.
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, I don't think it
24     needs to be tightened up.  I think it's pretty tight.
25                    THE COURT:  I think I'm good with the
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1     second way.  Overruled.
2                    Do you understand the question,
3     Mr. Patterson?  Do you need him to repeat it?
4                    THE WITNESS:  One time.
5                    THE COURT:  Okay.
6          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) You would agree that the
7     logical way in which an organization comes to the
8     attention of the enforcement board here is through the
9     licensing procedure?

10                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object and,
11     if it's not a type of entity that requires licensing,
12     then it's not going to come to the attention of any
13     board through a licensing procedure.
14                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, the attorney said
15     that --
16                    MS. PACHECO:  It's vague and ambiguous.
17                    MR. DURKIN:  I want the Defendant to
18     say that.  The point is that if he ain't going to get
19     licensed, then he's not going to come to anybody's
20     attention and he avoids detection.
21                    THE COURT:  I understand.  Overruled.
22     You can answer the question, please.
23          A.   I have never really thought about it because
24     there is not a licensure for sober houses.  So I have
25     never thought about it in that context.
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1          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Can you think -- other than
2     licensure, can you think of any other way in which you
3     would come to the attention of the enforcement board?
4          A.   I come to the attention of them when I come
5     down to the zoning office and talk to them.  Ask them
6     questions about the district table and the definitions
7     of community homes and things of this nature.
8          Q.   Yeah.  That's what the City --
9          A.   And with the tickets I got, I came to their

10     attention.
11          Q.   That's all the City?  Right?
12          A.   The City.  Yeah.
13          Q.   Yeah.  That's all State.  State law
14     enforcement agency, that's what we're talking about.
15     I'm talking about to the state agency.
16          A.   Oh.  Okay.  I don't know of any other way to
17     do that.
18          Q.   Let's go to Page 37 of 42.  247.064,
19     Residents' Bill of Rights.  I'd like you to do me a
20     favor and read the rest of that page down through 10,
21     and tell me when you're done.
22                    And go to the next page and read down
23     through 14, and tell me when you're done.
24          A.   Okay.
25          Q.   All right.  So, you don't have any Bill of
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1     Rights posted in -- in the house?  Correct?
2          A.   Right.  No, sir.  I don't.
3          Q.   All right.  And, in fact, I don't want to go
4     through all of these individually.  But you would
5     agree, after reading them, that some of them run --
6     some of these Bill of Rights run directly counter to
7     the terms of your guest contract?  Right?
8          A.   I don't ever -- yes.
9          Q.   Let's go to 247.065, Provider's Bill of

10     Rights.  On a Provider's Bill of Rights is the right
11     to terminate a resident's contract for Just Cause
12     after a written 30-day notice.
13                    And, of course, in contrast, you can
14     decide to put them out on the street?  Right?
15          A.   I could, yes.
16          Q.   Let's go to Page 41 of 42, 47.068.  "A
17     person licensed under this chapter may not retaliate
18     against a person for filing a complaint, presenting a
19     grievance or providing good faith information relating
20     to personal care services provided by the licensors."
21                    And of course, you not being licensed,
22     are not subject to this regulation as well?  Correct?
23          A.   Yes, sir.
24          Q.   All right.  This 247. -- of the -- of the
25     Health and Safety Code referenced, at various points,
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1     Section 260 A, and so I would like to now reference
2     that as well if you can find that.
3                    MR. DURKIN:  I will tender that to the
4     Court, to Defendant, the Defense Counsel.  I would ask
5     the Court to take judicial notice of Chapter 260 A of
6     the Texas Health and Safety Code.
7                    THE COURT:  The Court will take such
8     notice.
9          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Now, again, this is a
10     separate question as to whether or not -- a separate
11     question from whether or not you are an assisted
12     living facility.  But you will agree that under
13     this -- the terms of this apply to 5 B, an assisted
14     living facility as that term is defined by Section
15     247.002, what we just talked about.
16                    That was what we were talking about
17     before.  Right?
18          A.   Right.
19          Q.   Okay.  So let's talk -- let's find out what
20     additional protections this law provides to licensed
21     assisted living facilities.  260 A.002 on Page 2.
22                    "A, a person including an owner or
23     employee of a facility who has cause to believe that
24     the physical or mental health or welfare of a resident
25     has been or may be adversely affected by abuse,
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1     neglect or exploitation caused by another person shall
2     report the abuse, neglect or exploitation in
3     accordance with this chapter."
4                    How many times have you reported abuse,
5     neglect or exploitation to any outside entity?
6          A.   To the residents in my house?
7          Q.   Yeah.  And -- yeah.  How many times have you
8     reported any abuse, neglect or an exploitation of any
9     of the people --

10          A.   None that I can think of.
11          Q.   None?  All right.  You have -- all right.
12                    You don't even view yourself under any
13     agency directive to do so?  Do you?
14          A.   No, sir.
15          Q.   That's a correct statement?  Right?
16          A.   That is correct.
17          Q.   Let's talk about -- on Page 4 of 13, 260
18     A.006, notice requirements.
19                    "Each facility shall prominently and
20     conspicuously post a sign for display in a public area
21     of the facility that is readily available to
22     residents, employees, and visitors."
23                    "B, the sign must include the
24     statement, cases of suspected abuse, neglect or
25     exploitation shall be reported to the Texas Department
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1     of Aging and Disability Services by calling hotline
2     number."
3                    "The facility shall provide the
4     telephone hotline number to an immediate family member
5     of a resident of the facility upon the resident's
6     admission to the facility."
7                    You have -- you have no notice that
8     comports with that displayed in your facility?
9     Correct?

10          A.   No, sir.
11          Q.   That's a correct statement?  Right?
12          A.   That is correct.
13          Q.   All right.  Let me find my paperwork here.
14                    So you would agree that -- and again,
15     this is a separate -- this is a separate issue about
16     whether or not you're in compliance -- as you exist,
17     are in compliance with the zoning.  I'm not asking
18     about that.  Okay?  But I want to ask other issues.
19                    MS. PACHECO:  Since we're here on a
20     ticket about compliance with zoning, the fact that
21     Counsel has just stated he is about to launch into
22     another line of question that doesn't have anything to
23     do with compliance with zoning, is -- that causes a
24     little concern as to the relevance of that.
25                    MR. DURKIN:  That's not what I said.  I
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1     didn't say it didn't have anything to do with zoning.
2     It has a lot to do with zoning.  It doesn't -- the
3     Defendant doesn't want to admit now he is an assisted
4     living facility.
5                    And, of course, he -- he is not going
6     to say, "You know what?  I'm in violation of the law."
7                    I'm not asking him that.  I want to
8     make -- I want to ask him other things that are going
9     to establish evidence as for the Court to decide

10     whether or not he is in violation of the law.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  And the Court has already
12     taken judicial notice of all these statutes.  And if
13     Counsel wants to, inclosing arguments, argue that none
14     of these are being complied with, that's fair game.
15     But I mean, we're spending a lot of time going through
16     a lot of questions when the witness has already
17     testified.
18                    MR. DURKIN:  She doesn't know what I'm
19     going to ask.
20                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Overruled for the
21     moment.  Go ahead.
22          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) You would agree that if you
23     wanted to rent your house out on a regular
24     landlord/tenant relationship to up to five unrelated
25     adults, you would agree that that's not going to
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1     create a zoning problem?  You would agree with that?
2     Right?
3          A.   I would agree with that.
4          Q.   All right.  It doesn't make any difference
5     that if it was up to five unrelated adults in a
6     standard landlord/tenant type agreement, wouldn't make
7     any difference if they were recovering alcoholics and
8     drug addicts?
9                    Do you -- would you agree with that
10     statement?
11          A.   I agree with that statement.
12          Q.   Okay.  Now, let's take the flip side.
13     Another way under the zoning law that the City --
14     another thing the City allows an A5 residential zoning
15     district is a community home that meets the
16     supplemental standards.  You would agree with that?
17     Right?
18          A.   I would agree with that.
19          Q.   All right.  And that includes parking
20     limitations, and that includes -- among the standards
21     it includes is community homes that are licensed?
22     Right?
23          A.   Correct.
24          Q.   All right.  And if a community home is
25     licensed under the Health and Safety Act and the --
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1     all of the different laws, the state laws that we've
2     discussed, you would agree with the statement that a
3     community home licensed and meeting the standards is
4     allowable in an A5 residential district?  Right?
5          A.   Yes.
6          Q.   And you would agree that tenants have
7     multiple provisions under the law that provides tenant
8     protections?  Right?
9          A.   Right.
10          Q.   And you would agree that licensed community
11     homes are subject to extensive inspection and review
12     procedures?  Right?
13          A.   I don't know about extensive.
14          Q.   Well, I mean --
15          A.   You can read the definition of a community
16     home again.
17          Q.   Well, I mean, we spent a lot of time going
18     over things that a licensed community home, a licensed
19     community home has to --
20                    MS. PACHECO:  Object.  He actually went
21     through things at an assisted care facility, not a
22     community home.  It's misleading as to --
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, actually,
24     assisted -- well, I would disagree with that.
25                    MS. PACHECO:  It's one format of a
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1     community home, but a community home does not --
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.  I think the evidence
3     is subset or a different variation of -- okay.
4     Overruled.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  Yeah.  Just so we're
6     clear, an assisted --
7                    MS. PACHECO:  Those -- those
8     requirements were for an assisted living facility not
9     for a community home.  All of the inspection and

10     requirements that were gone through, it's not -- I
11     mean, a community home could be a number of different
12     things.  It doesn't state that all of the requirements
13     of under assisted living facility apply to every
14     provision of the community home.
15                    MR. DURKIN:  That's a distinction
16     without a difference.  An assisted --
17                    MS. PACHECO:  It's very important.
18                    MR. DURKIN:  No.  It's not.  An
19     assisted care facility is a form of community home.
20     And that's subject to a lot of licensing procedures.
21                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, then the question
22     would be relating to an assisted care facility not to
23     a community home.  Because a community home does not
24     have to be a assisted care facility, but an assisted
25     care facility does have to be a community home.
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1                    THE COURT:  Okay.  I understand.  How
2     does this relate to your question?  Is there a
3     specific objection to his question for the witness?
4                    MS. PACHECO:  Well, yeah.  It's
5     misleading and it's misstating the law.
6                    THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Do you
7     want to rephrase that?
8                    MR. DURKIN:  All right.  Well, let's
9     see if I can back up then.

10          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  You would agree
11     then, that we've gone over extensive licensing and
12     inspection requirements for assisted living
13     facilities?  Right?
14          A.   I would agree with that.  Yes, sir.
15          Q.   All right.  And you would agree that a
16     licensed assisted living facility is one form of a
17     community home?  Correct?
18          A.   Yes, sir.
19          Q.   You've already established you don't -- you
20     don't meet any of the other requirements of a
21     community home?  Right?  I mean, we've already crossed
22     those off of the list.  Right?
23          A.   Yes, sir.
24          Q.   All right.  So extensive regulations for
25     tenants, extensive regulations for licensed community
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1     homes, you don't have to abide by any of those?  Do
2     you?
3          A.   I'm not licensed.  So, I don't -- I don't
4     know exactly what I need to be abiding by.  I try to
5     follow (inaudible.)  I try to follow what the federal
6     law tells me that I'm allowed to do.
7          Q.   You specifically excepted out of your
8     contract all of the protections for tenants that we
9     discussed?  Right?

10          A.   I did.
11          Q.   All right.  So that's out.  All right.  And
12     you have not abided by -- let's put it that way:  You
13     have not abided by a single requirement for licensed
14     community -- assisted living facilities that we've
15     discussed?  You haven't done any of those things?
16     Have you?
17          A.   Yes.  I have.
18          Q.   What have you done?
19          A.   Well, if you look at your definition of
20     community home, it says, "Spacing requirements, a
21     community home may not be established within one half
22     mile of a previously existing community home."
23          Q.   Listen to my question.
24          A.   Okay.
25          Q.   My question was:  As it relates to the State
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1     law --
2          A.   Okay.
3          Q.   -- for licensed assisted living facilities.
4     I have asked you if you have posted any notices, if
5     you've reported -- made any reports, if you've been
6     subject to any inspections.
7                    You've done -- if you had any oversight
8     of what goes on your house.
9                    And the answer to all of those

10     questions is, no, you haven't done any of those
11     things?  Right?
12          A.   Right.
13          Q.   You have made the purposeful decision not to
14     apply as a community home?  Correct?
15          A.   No.
16          Q.   The term "community home" is -- you know --
17     you have heard that term, "community home," before
18     this trial?
19          A.   Yes, sir.
20          Q.   You considered whether or not to apply as a
21     community home?
22          A.   I went to the zoning office to talk to them
23     about it, yeah.
24          Q.   All right.  You have filled out none of the
25     paperwork to do that?  Correct?
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1          A.   Correct.
2          Q.   All right.  There is no reason related to
3     disability to have more than five people at your
4     house?  Correct?
5          A.   I think I've read that the City makes
6     special exceptions when you have multiple kids.  Like,
7     more than five kids.  There are certainly families
8     that have more than five kids.
9          Q.   I didn't ask that.  You've claimed that

10     your -- the disability you are addressing is alcohol
11     or drug addiction recovery?  Right?
12          A.   Yes, sir.
13          Q.   All right.  There is no reason related to
14     that disability that requires you to have more
15     people -- more than five people in your house?  Is
16     there?
17                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm confused.  I'm going
18     to object to the relevance to this line of
19     questioning.  There is no citation issued for the fact
20     that more than five individuals live in the home.
21     It's for the operation of a business?
22                    Zoning could have issued a citation for
23     violating the provision of the code that relates to
24     the number of individuals unrelated in the home.
25     That's not the case we're on here today.
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1                    THE COURT:  All right.  I understand
2     that.  It's overruled.  But let's keep moving along
3     here.  Go ahead and answer his question.
4          A.   Can you repeat it one more time?
5          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) There is no reason related
6     to the claimed disability of alcohol or drug addiction
7     that requires you to have more than five people in
8     your home?  Is there?
9          A.   No, sir.

10          Q.   That determination is a factor of how much
11     money you can make?  Right?
12          A.   No, sir.
13          Q.   Speaking of kids, people who come to be
14     guests, they can't have kids?  Right?  They can't have
15     any kids stay there with them?  Right?
16          A.   No, sir.
17          Q.   You don't have any special wheelchair
18     accessibility at your house?  Do you?
19          A.   No, sir.
20          Q.   You don't have any special parking spaces
21     for handicapped people?  Do you?
22          A.   No, sir.
23                    MR. DURKIN:  If I could ask the Court's
24     indulgence to go through just a minute or two on my
25     file folders.  As you can imagine it's been a lot of
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1     paperwork.
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's go ahead and
3     call another break.  It's 11:10.  We'll break until
4     11:15.  So, just a five-minute break.  What I'd like
5     to do is take 11 -- depending on how things are going,
6     11:45 to 12:30 for lunch, 45 minutes.  All right?
7                    So five-minute recess for now.  We're
8     off the record.
9                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
10     segment.)
11                    (Segment 11 of DVD labeled as, "Court
12     9-20120515-1115_01cd328c1ae3810":)
13                    THE COURT:  All right.  We are back on
14     the record.  The State (inaudible) minutes, or?
15                    MR. DURKIN:  No, thank you.
16                    THE COURT:  Okay.
17                    MR. DURKIN:  I'll pass the witness.
18                    THE COURT:  All right.  Ms. Pacheco?
19                      RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION
20     BY MS. PACHECO:
21          Q.   Mr. Patterson, let's touch briefly.  I guess
22     we've been discussing whether you could have operated
23     Ebby's Place as a community home under the definition
24     in the Texas Human Resources Code.
25                    Do you recall that extensive line of
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1     questioning?
2          A.   Yes.
3          Q.   Now, are you also familiar with any case law
4     in the state of Texas that specifically states that
5     persons disabled by drug or alcohol abuse are
6     specifically excluded from the community home
7     definition contained in Chapter 123 of the Texas Human
8     Resources Code?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And are you familiar that that case is Deep
11     East Texas Regional Mental Health and Mental
12     Retardation Services versus Kinnear --
13                    MR. DURKIN:  Object to leading.
14          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) -- 877 southwest second
15     550?
16                    THE COURT:  Sustained.  The objection
17     was leading.
18                    MS. PACHECO:  I -- oh, okay.  As to
19     whether he knows the name of the case?
20                    THE COURT:  No.  The last question with
21     the citation.
22          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do -- do you know the name
23     of the case?
24          A.   I -- I don't remember the name of the case.
25          Q.   Okay.  Was the it Deep East Texas Mental
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1     Health and Mental Retardation Services versus Kinnear?
2          A.   Yes.
3          Q.   Does that sound familiar to you?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   Is that the case that specifically holds
6     that alcoholic and drug addicts --
7                    MR. DURKIN:  Object to continued
8     leading, and asking the witness about legal issues
9     that's up for the Court to decide.

10                    THE COURT:  Any response?
11                    MS. PACHECO:  My response would be that
12     we just spent the last hour and a half going through,
13     I guess, three or four entire chapters of codes within
14     the state of Texas.
15                    It's the State's position that
16     Mr. Patterson should have been operating as a
17     community home when, in fact, the case law in the
18     state of Texas specifically states that alcoholics and
19     drug addicts are specifically excluded from the
20     definition of persons of disability.
21                    THE COURT:  Okay.  As to this line of
22     questioning, I'm going to allow it.  That's overruled.
23                    As to leading, that is sustained.
24                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.
25          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do you know if the -- do
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1     you know what the holding was in Deep East Texas
2     Mental Health and Medal Retardation Services versus
3     Kinnear with regard to whether --
4          A.   Drug addicts and alcoholics were excluded
5     from the community home regulations.
6          Q.   Okay.  Do you know if they're also excluded
7     from the definition and the protections of a community
8     home?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   Okay.  And are they specifically excluded?
11          A.   Yes.
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  And I would like
13     the Court to take judicial notice of the citation.  I
14     don't have the case law with me because I didn't
15     anticipate that they were going to make that argument.
16     That the citation is 877 Southwest Second, 550.  Page
17     564.
18                    MR. DURKIN:  877 Southwest Second --
19     what?
20                    MS. PACHECO:  550.
21                    THE COURT:  What's the year of that
22     case?
23                    MS. PACHECO:  And the year of that case
24     is 1994.
25                    THE COURT:  Okay.  The Court will take
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1     that notice.  Thank you.
2                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  Now, let's go back
3     to clean up a little bit of the line of questioning
4     this morning and then, we'll go into some other
5     reasonable accomodation requests that you continually
6     made to the City of Fort Worth.
7                    First of all, let's this Tim Gorton
8     person, that's someone who had lived at Ebby's Place?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And you said that Mr. Gorton was killed in
11     an accident?
12          A.   He was.
13          Q.   Was -- was he living at Ebby's Place at the
14     time he was killed in the accident?
15          A.   No.
16          Q.   Where was he living?  Do you know?
17          A.   I don't know for sure exactly where he was
18     living at.
19          Q.   Had you turned Mr. Gorton's name over to a
20     collection agency to try to get back rent from him?
21          A.   No.
22          Q.   Had -- did you sue Mr. Gorton?
23          A.   No, ma'am.
24          Q.   Didn't go drag him down to court and get a
25     judgment against him for some type of back rent that's
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1     owed?
2          A.   Absolutely not.
3          Q.   Did you seek out Mr. Gorton and demand that
4     he sell off his possessions to pay you any money that
5     was owed?
6          A.   Absolutely not.
7          Q.   Were you even aware of the allegation that
8     Mr. Gorton sold his car to give money to you?
9          A.   No.

10          Q.   Do you even know if that is, in fact, a true
11     statement?
12          A.   I've heard from other people that he
13     actually made that statement, but they brought it to
14     my attention saying, "He's out of his mind.  Why is he
15     saying this?"
16                    And everybody was in agreement that he
17     was bitter and resentful because he got kicked out of
18     our house.
19          Q.   Okay.  So, you never took any type of
20     affirmative collection action against Mr. Gorton that
21     would require him to sell off any possessions?  Is
22     that correct?
23                    You never put a lien against any of his
24     possessions?
25          A.   No.
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1          Q.   Okay.  I want to go back to the contract
2     that Mr. Durkin was questioning you about earlier.
3     And what is that exhibit number on the bottom?
4          A.   This is 15.
5          Q.   Okay.  State's Exhibit 15?  Okay.  Going to
6     the contract marked as "State's Exhibit 15," there has
7     been a lot of issue made about the fact that people
8     are guests of Ebby's Place.
9                    Is that how you described them?

10          A.   Yes.
11          Q.   Okay.  And that's what they are referred to
12     in this contract?
13          A.   Correct.
14          Q.   And one of the reasons I think that you had
15     testified to both today and earlier, as to
16     specifically why Ebby's Place has guests as opposed to
17     tenants.  Is so that if there is a need to evict
18     someone that that can happen immediately without the
19     delay of court proceeding and that's been already
20     testified to.  Is that right?
21                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; leading.
22                    MS. PACHECO:  It's already in the
23     record and established.  It's just (inaudible.)
24                    MR. DURKIN:  As opposed to why did you
25     do that as compared to, say the statement:  Is that
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1     correct?
2                    THE COURT:  I'm going to sustain it as
3     to leading.  You can rephrase (inaudible.)
4                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  This is already
5     established in the record.  I mean, he has already
6     testified that the reason is that it was in a prior --
7     it was on the Direct Examination.
8                    MR. DURKIN:  He didn't say it like
9     that.
10                    THE COURT:  I am going to sustain the
11     objection.  The --
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.
13                    THE COURT:  The leading objection.
14          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Okay.  Well, Mr. Patterson
15     let's go back then, I guess, to the very beginning.
16                    What is Ebby's Place?
17          A.   Ebby's Place is a men's sober house.
18          Q.   What is a "sober house"?
19          A.   It is a structured living environment for
20     recovering alcoholics and drug addicts to move into
21     just as when they get out of rehab, they would move
22     into our house and there is specific rules.
23                    There are measures of accountability
24     that we go through that we hold the guest -- the
25     residents to.
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1                    And it gives them a safe environment
2     where other folks, other residents and recovering
3     alcoholics and addicts are also -- everybody is headed
4     in the same direction.  Everybody supports each
5     other's sobriety.  Sobriety being the primary purpose
6     of why we are there.
7          Q.   Now, are people who stay at Ebby's Place in
8     your opinion, tenants under Chapter 92 of the Texas
9     Property Code?

10                    That would be the code Mr. Durkin went
11     through extensively this morning?
12          A.   Yeah.  No.
13          Q.   Okay.  And do you consider yourself to be a
14     landlord under the definition of "landlord" in Chapter
15     92 of the Texas Property Code?
16          A.   No.
17          Q.   Now, is one of the reasons why you -- okay.
18                    Is one of the reasons why individuals
19     at Ebby's Place are considered guests instead of
20     tenants to avoid the eviction requirements of Chapter
21     92 of the Texas Property Code?
22          A.   Yes.
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; leading.
24     Answered before I could object.
25                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
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1          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Tell me why people at
2     Ebby's Place are guests instead of tenants.  Give me
3     one reason -- one of the reasons why.
4          A.   In this environment, recovering alcoholics
5     and addicts, they could relapse and maybe, you know,
6     get drunk, cause a scene.  And we have them as guests
7     in our contract so that we can avoid the
8     tenant/landlord laws so that we don't have to -- to
9     wait the 90-day period.

10                    I mean, I can't have a guy that's using
11     heroin or smoking crack in my house for 90 days while
12     I wait for the courts to decide what to do with him.
13                    And so, we've settled, all sober houses
14     have set it up this way so that you refer to them as
15     "guests" so that you can have them leave the premises
16     immediately if they fail to abide by these agreements.
17          Q.   Well, now, why is it important to not have
18     individuals who are actively abusing drugs or alcohol
19     living in your sober house?
20          A.   Well -- well, my job is to try to keep
21     everyone safe.  And if you have somebody that you --
22     it goes against the whole purpose of what we're doing
23     if somebody is hanging out using drugs or alcohol in
24     our house.
25          Q.   How could that be unsafe to the other
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1     residents living at Ebby's Place?
2          A.   Well, I mean, anybody that has relapsed and
3     is going to continue to use drugs in that fashion,
4     they're obviously not in their right state of mind.
5     And they could do stuff that could cause harm to
6     others.
7                    I mean, their -- their whole
8     personality and characteristics are going to be
9     completely different with everybody else in the house.

10     It's not conducive with a sober environment.  We're
11     providing a sober environment.  That is completely the
12     opposite of a sober environment.  There's other places
13     that you can go to in town where people can use heroin
14     and still pay rent, and they can stay there.
15          Q.   I believe Mr. Durkin had asked you -- you
16     made a statement that you go to great lengths to
17     appear like a home and I believe -- correct me if I'm
18     wrong but I think your answer is we don't appear to be
19     a home, but we provide a home.
20                    Am I correct in understanding, or is --
21     I mean, do you --
22                    MR. DURKIN:  I object.  I don't think
23     the Defendant said it like that.  I think the Defense
24     counsel is trying to put words in his mouth and lead
25     him.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  That's exactly what he
2     testified to.  He said -- he said that "appear" wasn't
3     accurate?  They are a home.
4                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
5          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do you recall that line of
6     questioning?
7          A.   I do.
8          Q.   Okay.  And I want to go through some of the
9     provisions of the contract to determine whether those

10     specific provisions are in your opinion, things that
11     make Ebby's Place more like a home, or more like a
12     traditional landlord/tenant relationship.
13                    And now, down here it says, "Ebby's
14     Place has a zero tolerance for any violation of
15     drinking/drug use at any time, and the guests will be
16     asked to vacate the premises if violated."
17                    Have you ever rented an apartment
18     before?
19          A.   Sure.
20          Q.   And your traditional residential lease
21     agreement, is there any provision that says that
22     you're not allowed to have a drink in your apartment
23     if you'd like to?
24          A.   No.
25          Q.   Now, you testified that you have a daughter.
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1          A.   I do.
2          Q.   And she's 20 now?
3          A.   She is 20.
4          Q.   Now, growing up, was it a rule that your
5     daughter living in your home couldn't just crack open
6     a beer at age 15, and sip it sitting on the couch?
7          A.   It was.
8          Q.   That's a rule that was in place to -- what
9     was the purpose of that?

10          A.   Well, I mean, it was my responsibility to --
11     to raise her in a proper way and -- and that was just
12     not something that was going to be allowed in the
13     house.  Same thing with sex or, you know, the various
14     other things, drugs, sex, smoking.
15          Q.   So you regulated your daughter's -- whether
16     she was drinking or smoking?
17          A.   To the best of my ability, yes.
18          Q.   Okay.  Another provision here on -- I
19     believe we said State's Exhibit 15.  Is that right?
20          A.   Yes.
21          Q.   On State's Exhibit 15 about halfway down, it
22     says, "Guests will take random drug tests along with
23     an initial drug test at move in."
24                    Now, in your experience as a
25     traditional tenant just leasing an apartment, did you
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1     have to submit to random drug testing when you were
2     living in that apartment?
3          A.   No.
4          Q.   I believe you also testified that in the
5     past your daughter has had -- also had some substance
6     abuse problems.  Is that right?
7          A.   That is correct.
8          Q.   Did you ever require your daughter to take a
9     drug test?

10          A.   I have.
11          Q.   That's something that you do in a familial
12     environment?
13          A.   Absolutely.
14          Q.   The next bullet point down on State's
15     Exhibit 15 says that, "Any medications must be
16     verified at the time of arrival with the house
17     manager, and that any changes or additions of any
18     medications must be verified with the house manager."
19                    Now, in your experience, as a tenant in
20     an apartment complex, do you have to register your
21     prescription medications with the manager of the
22     leasing office?
23          A.   No.
24          Q.   But in your relationship with your daughter,
25     do you allow your daughter to take drugs that she
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1     doesn't have a prescription for?
2          A.   No.
3          Q.   Is that something that you regulated at --
4     in a family environment when your daughter was growing
5     up?
6          A.   Yes.
7          Q.   Next down it says that guests are required
8     to attend at least four meetings each week?
9                    What type of meetings is that referring
10     to?
11          A.   Going to be a 12-step meeting, Alcoholic
12     Anonymous, Cocaine Anonymous, Narcotics Anonymous,
13     these types of meetings.
14          Q.   Do you ever have to attend any type of
15     12-step program to live in a general apartment as a
16     tenant?
17          A.   No.
18          Q.   A little bit further down, it says, "No
19     smoking in the house at any time.  Smoking is only
20     allowed on the back porch."
21                    When you lived in an apartment in the
22     complex as a tenant, did that apartment complex
23     regulate whether or not you smoked?
24          A.   No.
25          Q.   It says, "Guests must keep the grounds clean
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1     at all times."
2                    You rented your apartment, did the
3     manager come in and inspect whether you kept your
4     dishes done, and your carpets vacuumed, and your
5     shower scrubbed?
6          A.   No.
7          Q.   So, you could be messy or dirty if that
8     suited you?
9          A.   Correct.

10          Q.   A further little down it says, "No pictures,
11     no posters or frames will be permitted unless the
12     house manager approves."
13                    Now, has any guest ever come to you and
14     asked for approval to put up pictures, or painting, or
15     anything of that nature?
16          A.   Yes.
17          Q.   Has that approval been given?
18          A.   It has.
19          Q.   When you were just a tenant renting an
20     apartment, did you have to get prior approval from the
21     manager of the leasing office to put up photographs in
22     your apartment?
23          A.   No.
24          Q.   Did you have to get approval to hang a
25     picture on a wall?
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1          A.   No.
2          Q.   Were you allowed to, kind of, just decorate
3     however you wanted?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   Now, what about with your daughter?  Did --
6     did you ever regulate the type of wall hangings that
7     your daughter may have up in her room?
8          A.   Absolutely.
9          Q.   So there might be some things that you

10     wouldn't necessarily want your child to put up?
11          A.   It was attempted several times.
12          Q.   The last one on the first page of State's
13     Exhibit 15 says, "Each guest is expected to work, go
14     to school, or volunteer while living at Ebby's Place.
15                    Now, when you lease your apartment as a
16     tenants, did the manager of the apartment require that
17     you work?
18          A.   No.
19          Q.   Did they require that you go to school?
20          A.   No.
21          Q.   Any requirement to fulfill a certain number
22     of volunteer hours while you were there?
23          A.   No.
24          Q.   As long as you paid your rent, you didn't --
25     you could just sit at your home all day if you wanted
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1     to.  Is that right?
2          A.   Right.
3          Q.   On the second page of State's Exhibit 15, it
4     says, "Guests must sign a chore sheet weekly as to how
5     he is contributing to the house."
6                    When you leased your apartment, did you
7     have to have a chore sheet that you signed, or if you
8     had a roommate that your roommate signed?
9          A.   No.

10          Q.   Now, what about when your daughter lived
11     with you?  Did -- did you share household
12     responsibilities?
13          A.   Yes.  We did.
14          Q.   Give me some examples.
15          A.   Cooking, cleaning, yard work, basic -- basic
16     household things that everybody does.
17          Q.   Okay.
18          A.   Laundry.
19          Q.   So everybody would contribute to all of
20     these household chores?
21          A.   Yes.
22          Q.   Okay.  In your experience living with
23     family, is that what families do?
24          A.   Yes.
25          Q.   Going down, it says, "All dishes or cooking
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1     utensils are to be cleaned or put in the dishwasher
2     immediately after use."
3                    At your apartment complex require that
4     you immediately wash your dishes and put it in the
5     dishwasher each time you ate a meal?
6          A.   No.
7          Q.   Did your mom and dad ever require you to put
8     your dishes in a dishwasher after you ate a meat?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   Did you ever require your daughter to put
11     your dishes away after a meal?
12          A.   I did.
13          Q.   "Guests are required to be up and out of bed
14     each day by 9:00 a.m. and have the bed made."
15                    Did your apartment complex come in and
16     do an inspection on whether you made your bed each
17     morning?
18          A.   No.
19          Q.   Did you ever make your daughter make her
20     bed?
21          A.   I attempted to, yes.
22          Q.   How did that work out for you?
23          A.   Not too well.
24          Q.   No eating or drinking in bedrooms at any
25     time.  Next bullet down on State's Exhibit 15.
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1                    In traditional lease agreement that
2     you've had in apartment complexes, have they stated
3     that you weren't allowed to eat or drink in the
4     bedroom?
5          A.   No.
6          Q.   Is that a rule that you've ever experienced
7     either with your own parents or with your daughter?
8          A.   Yes.
9          Q.   "Guests are required to keep the bathroom

10     clean at all times, pick up after yourself,"
11     exclamation point.
12                    Have you ever entered into a
13     residential lease agreement where you had to agree
14     that you were going to pick up after yourself in your
15     own apartment?
16          A.   No.
17          Q.   Did you ever require that your daughter pick
18     up after herself in your home?
19          A.   Yes.
20          Q.   Growing up, did you have to pick up after
21     yourself at your home?
22          A.   Yes.
23          Q.   You have other friends who have families?
24     Don't you?
25          A.   Yes.

Page 187

1          Q.   Do they require kids to pick up after
2     themselves?
3          A.   Yes.
4          Q.   Husbands and wives say to the other one,
5     "Hey, can you pick your towel up off the floor?"
6          A.   Yes.
7          Q.   Are you an only child?
8          A.   No.
9          Q.   Did you ever live with siblings?

10          A.   Yes.
11          Q.   Did you ever have to share a bathroom with
12     siblings?
13          A.   Yes.
14          Q.   Did you ever have to fight for time in the
15     bathroom with your siblings?
16          A.   Yes.
17          Q.   Did your parents ever say, "Can you please
18     be mindful of each other's time and let each other get
19     ready"?
20          A.   Yes.
21          Q.   State's Exhibit 15 have a requirement in
22     here saying that guests need to limit the time in the
23     bathroom and be mindful of others sharing the same
24     bathroom?
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   And that's the type of thing that families
2     have to do all the time.  Right?
3          A.   Correct.  Yes.
4          Q.   Now, down here it says that there is a
5     curfew of 11:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday, and
6     1:00 a.m. on Friday and Saturday.
7                    And that T.V. must be off 30 minutes
8     after curfew.
9                    Now, in your experience living in a

10     residential apartment complex, did the manager ever
11     issue a curfew for you?
12          A.   No.
13          Q.   Come and go as you pleased?
14          A.   Pretty much, yeah.
15          Q.   Watch T.V. at 3:00 a.m. if it suited you?
16          A.   Yeah.
17          Q.   Now, how about with your daughter?  Did you
18     ever institute a curfew for her?
19          A.   Yes.
20          Q.   Did you ever regulate how much T.V. she
21     watched, or what time she watched T.V.?
22          A.   Yes.
23          Q.   Growing up, did you have a curfew?
24          A.   Yes.
25          Q.   Did your parents regulate when you watched



Job No. 13795 Transcript of CD Re:  Ebby's Place
State v. Patterson May 29, 2012

Phone:  817-336-3042 depos@merittexas.com Fax:  817-335-1203
Merit Court Reporters LLC

48 (Pages 189 to 192)

Page 189

1     T.V.?
2          A.   Yes.
3          Q.   It's here visiting hours are Friday from
4     6:00 p.m. to Sunday, normal curfew hours.
5                    When you lived in an apartment complex,
6     was there any regulation on the hours when you could
7     have visitors?
8          A.   No.
9          Q.   Growing up with your daughter living with

10     you, did you regulate when she could have visitors?
11          A.   Yes.
12          Q.   So, she couldn't have a boyfriend that
13     decided to come over and stay, you know, while she was
14     13 years old?
15          A.   No.
16          Q.   And she couldn't have 10 of her girlfriends
17     over 'til 1:00 a.m. on a school night?
18          A.   No.
19          Q.   Why did you do that?
20          A.   Because she needed to get good sleep, and
21     she needed to be up and ready school the next morning.
22          Q.   Are those concerns that an apartment manager
23     has at a traditional apartment complex?
24          A.   No.
25          Q.   Now, you've testified Ebby's Place is a
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1     sober house that provides a place for recovering drug
2     addicts and alcoholics.
3          A.   Right.
4          Q.   How do you know that the people that come to
5     you are, in fact, recovering alcoholics or recovering
6     addicts?
7          A.   We go through a -- well, there's two ways.
8     The majority of the people who move into Ebby's Place
9     are coming from a treatment center, a licensed

10     treatment center.
11                    And we also go through an application
12     process, and I have -- there is about 20 questions of
13     an application process that I have.  I probably have
14     it embedded in here somewhere if we needed to go
15     through that.
16          Q.   Has anybody ever lied about being a
17     recovering drug addict or alcoholic just to get to
18     stay at Ebby's Place?  Somebody who doesn't have any
19     addiction problems at all?
20          A.   No.
21          Q.   No?
22          A.   No.
23          Q.   So, the people who come to you are people
24     who have had problems with substance abuse?
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   Now, how can you make sure -- how do you
2     make sure that those individuals aren't currently
3     abusing drugs or alcohol?
4          A.   We -- even when they come from a treatment
5     center, we've learned the hard way, we drug test them
6     and/or breathalyze them when they get there.
7          Q.   Do you continue to do random drug testing?
8          A.   Yes.
9          Q.   Is Ebby's Place a structure that is occupied

10     as a residence?
11          A.   Yes.
12          Q.   In your opinion, is Ebby's Place a structure
13     that is designed or intended for occupancy as a
14     residence?
15          A.   Yes.
16          Q.   It's a single family home.  Isn't that
17     right?
18          A.   It is.
19          Q.   How long is the recommended stay for guests
20     at Ebby's Place?
21          A.   We try to stay right in line with the
22     National Institute of Chemical Dependency and they
23     recommend 90 days.
24          Q.   What -- what do you think is the average
25     stay for a guest at Ebby's Place?
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1          A.   The average stay is, probably, 60 days.
2          Q.   All right.  So, almost two months?
3          A.   Yeah.  There is some, obviously, a lot
4     shorter, and some a lot longer.
5          Q.   How long have some of the individuals been
6     there?  What's the -- what's the longest an individual
7     has been at Ebby's Place?
8          A.   Eighteen months.
9          Q.   Is that person still there?

10          A.   He is.
11          Q.   Do you know whether residents of Ebby's
12     Place view Ebby's Place as their home when -- when
13     they are staying there?
14          A.   They do.
15          Q.   Do residents eat meals at Ebby's Place?
16          A.   They do.
17          Q.   Do residents ever spend the evenings at home
18     at Ebby's Place?
19          A.   Yes.
20          Q.   Do residents ever have personal items such
21     as photographs up at Ebby's Place?
22          A.   Yes.
23          Q.   Do your residents ever receive mail at
24     Ebby's Place?
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   Do your residents have visitors to Ebby's
2     Place?
3          A.   Yes.
4          Q.   Have you asked the City of Fort Worth to
5     make a reasonable accomodation for Ebby's Place?
6          A.   I have.
7          Q.   What types of reasonable accommodations have
8     you requested?
9          A.   What types of reasonable accommodations?  We

10     have asked to be treated as a family just like any
11     other family in the neighborhood.
12                    We've also asked to allow eight
13     residents in the house as a reasonable accomodation.
14     Those are probably the two -- the two biggest ones, I
15     believe.
16          Q.   Why are those accommodations necessary for
17     the recovering alcoholics and recovering drug addicts
18     that reside at Ebby's Place?
19          A.   Well, it's been -- it's been proven that if
20     you can keep a recovering alcoholic and recovering
21     addict in an environment that is conducive with
22     sobriety, then it -- it allows them, it has been shown
23     to -- they can stay sober longer.
24                    The more you -- the longer you can keep
25     them plugged into the recovery process.  You know,
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1     typically when a -- when a kid goes to rehab, you
2     know, back in the old days before sober houses were in
3     every state in the country, the -- a kid would go
4     to -- or a person would go to a treatment center, and
5     then get out and go right back into the exact same
6     environment that he was in before.
7                    Possibly an angry wife, angry husband,
8     angry parents, and they would be treated basically
9     just like they were prior to, and so what they found

10     out over the years, everything has kind of migrated
11     into these long-term continuum care facilities,
12     houses.
13                    Some of them are facilities.  And so --
14     so, that there is a family atmosphere that is
15     conducive with sobriety long-term.
16                    Not -- they're treating -- it's a
17     chronic disease.  And back in the day they were
18     treating it as it was -- it was an acute disease.
19                    And it's chronic which means over and
20     over, longer term.  And so, that's why recovery is
21     migrating to treating it longer term.
22          Q.   Describe the neighborhood that Ebby's Place
23     is located in.
24          A.   It's a cookie-cutter neighborhood.  A
25     hundred to $140,000 houses, it's all single family,
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1     obviously.  It's families, mothers, daughters, kids
2     riding their bikes.
3                    There are -- you know, it's just normal
4     family -- family stuff.  There is actually other
5     businesses in the neighborhood.
6                    Lawn care people, plumbers that live in
7     the neighborhood, you know, there's -- it's all just
8     neighborhood-looking stuff.
9          Q.   So --

10          A.   Barbecues.  I mean, people cook in their
11     backyard.  And, you know, their houses are all pretty,
12     you know, close together.  And so, when you're doing
13     something in your backyard, if your neighbor's cooking
14     steaks you can typically smell it.  So.
15          Q.   So, the residents at Ebby's Place have the
16     opportunity to see mom taking a daughter for a walk?
17          A.   Absolutely.
18          Q.   They see kids riding their bikes up and down
19     the street?
20          A.   And they do it as well.
21          Q.   And they smell that steak cooking in the
22     backyard next door on Sunday?
23          A.   Yeah.
24          Q.   And in your opinion, as a recovering drug
25     addict, does that type of living environment appeal to
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1     you?
2          A.   Absolutely.
3          Q.   Does that type of living environment give
4     you incentive to not go back to the lifestyle that you
5     had before?
6          A.   Absolutely.
7          Q.   Why?
8          A.   I think that every -- I can't say -- speak
9     for -- I just speak for myself, that when you live 15,
10     20 years being at the wrong end of every argument, and
11     the black -- the black sheep of the family making bad
12     decisions.  Promising people you will never drink
13     again, and drinking again.
14                    Or promising people you won't use drugs
15     again, and you're using drugs again, when you live
16     that long in that type of environment and you are in
17     an environment where everybody is sober and -- and
18     it's normal family stuff going on, I mean, that's a --
19     that's a pretty big deal, you know.  That's kind of
20     what we've always wanted.
21                    THE COURT:  Okay.  It's 11:50.  If this
22     is an okay time, we'll going to take a break now, and
23     we will reconvene at 11:30.  All right.
24                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.
25                    THE COURT:  Thank you.  We are off the
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1     record at this --
2                    (End of audible portions of the DVD
3     segment.)
4                    (Segment 12 of DVD labeled as:  "Court
5     9-20120515-1233_01cd3296fl1921ba0":)
6                    THE COURT:  It's 12:35, and we are back
7     on the record.
8          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Mr. Patterson, have you
9     taken any steps to make a request for a reasonable

10     accomodation from the City of Fort Worth?
11          A.   Yes, ma'am.
12          Q.   Have you ever sent a request, a written
13     request for reasonable accomodation to the City of
14     Fort Worth?
15          A.   I have.
16          Q.   How many times?
17          A.   I have personally one time, and two separate
18     attorneys have as well.
19          Q.   And have any of those requests been granted?
20          A.   No.
21          Q.   Have you made any oral requests to the City
22     of Fort Worth for reasonable accomodation?
23          A.   I have.  When originally -- I originally
24     received tickets, I contacted the code officer who
25     testified.  I can't pronounce his name.  Oomging, I
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1     believe, or something.
2          Q.   Oomging?
3          A.   Oomging.  Yeah.  And I tried to explain to
4     him that we were recovering alcoholics and addicts.
5     We were exercising our fair housing rights and we fell
6     under the Americans with Disabilities Act.
7                    And he said it was above his pay grade
8     and referred me to his superior, Mr. Elder, I believe,
9     it is.  And I had pretty much the exact same

10     conversation with him.  And it got nowhere.  And they
11     basically just -- they were -- it was pretty much out
12     of their hands, I guess, at that point.  And they --
13     they just -- it didn't get approved.
14          Q.   Now, have you attempted to file for some
15     type of zoning variance that would allow Ebby's Place
16     to operate where Ebby's Place is currently operating?
17          A.   I did.
18          Q.   When did you do that?
19          A.   (Inaudible) the date.  I believe it was
20     last -- it was last week.  I don't have the exact
21     date, the exact date when I went down there.  I think
22     it was last Friday.
23          Q.   Why don't you tell me about that experience.
24                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection.  Open-ended.
25     Allows for narrative.  Not necessarily relevant.

Page 199

1                    THE COURT:  Irrelevance.  I will
2     overrule that.  I...
3                    THE WITNESS:  Okay.  (Inaudible.)
4          A.   I walked into the zoning and planning
5     development office at the instruction of my other
6     attorney and was going to file a variance so that I
7     could get a public hearing to be treated as a
8     community home, and we were asking for them to waive
9     the licensure requirement, and to waive the two

10     supervisory personnel requirements and so I walked
11     into the -- because that's where you have to go to
12     make the Court date.
13                    And the couple ladies that were
14     originally helping me, we couldn't get anywhere.  I
15     couldn't get anywhere with them.  They were -- they
16     were calling me a "halfway house."  I was trying to
17     explain to them we weren't a halfway house.
18                    To make a long story short, they ended
19     up getting Emilio Sanchez, who is the senior planner
20     in the zoning office because he was pretty much the
21     one telling them what to say.
22                    And then, when he came out, he
23     explained that, in fact, we could not even be
24     considered a community home.
25                    MR. DURKIN:  Object.  Hearsay.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  He's with the City of
2     Fort Worth.  It's an admission by a party opponent.
3                    THE COURT:  I'll allow it.  Go ahead.
4          A.   And he also said that -- that we couldn't be
5     a halfway house.  At that point, then -- so we decided
6     right there at the office to start going through the
7     different definitions, the definition of "halfway
8     house," the definition of "community home."
9          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Okay.

10          A.   And -- because we didn't fit the definition
11     of a halfway house.
12          Q.   Right.  Now, what was Mr. Sanchez's title
13     again, did you tell me?
14          A.   He's a senior planner.
15          Q.   With the City of Fort Worth?
16          A.   Yes.
17          Q.   And so Mr. Sanchez, the senior planner for
18     the City of Fort Worth specifically told you last
19     Friday that Ebby's Place is not at community home?
20                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; leading.
21                    MS. PACHECO:  He just testified to it.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, then it's
23     duplicative, it's cumulative if it's -- of he
24     already -- something he already testified to.  Either
25     one.
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1                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
2          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do you want me to repeat
3     the question?
4          A.   No.  He told me that I'm not a community
5     home.
6          Q.   Okay.  And in fact --
7          A.   He said:  "You have to be disabled to be in
8     a community home."
9                    And I said, "We are disabled."

10                    And he said, "Not by the City of Fort
11     Worth's definition."
12          Q.   So, he specifically told you the definition
13     of "disabled" as it applies to community homes does
14     not fit with the definition that alcoholics and drug
15     addicts who are in recovery are disabled?
16          A.   That's correct.
17          Q.   Okay.  And I believe we had testified before
18     lunch that that was also your understanding of what
19     case law in the State of Texas held?
20          A.   Correct.
21          Q.   In fact, Mr. Sanchez did not even allow you
22     to file the variance?  Did he?
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; leading.
24                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
25          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Were you allowed to file
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1     your request for variance?
2          A.   No.  I was turned away.
3          Q.   So, the City wouldn't even take the
4     application?
5          A.   They wouldn't hear me.
6          Q.   Are you asking for the City of Fort Worth to
7     take any action that will require the City of Fort
8     Worth to spend money on Ebby's Place?
9          A.   Absolutely not.

10          Q.   Are you asking the City of Fort Worth to
11     handle any administrative function for Ebby's Place?
12          A.   No.
13          Q.   Are you asking for the City of Fort Worth to
14     remove an obstacle that is preventing the residents of
15     Ebby's Place to continue to live peacefully as a
16     family?
17          A.   Yes.
18          Q.   Has the City of Fort Worth provided you with
19     any justification for its conduct?
20          A.   No.
21          Q.   Other than Mr. Sanchez telling you that
22     you're just not a community home and you're not a
23     halfway house.
24          A.   And that the City of Fort Worth doesn't
25     recognize alcoholics and drug addicts as being
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1     disabled.
2          Q.   Is it your understanding that that does not
3     comport with the federal law?
4          A.   Correct.
5          Q.   And with regard to halfway house, does
6     Ebby's Place provide any type of inpatient treatment
7     for chemical dependency?
8          A.   No.
9          Q.   Are you familiar with the definition of

10     "halfway house" that's contained in the Fort Worth
11     Municipal Code?
12          A.   I am.
13          Q.   In your opinion, does Ebby's Place fall
14     within that definition?
15          A.   No.
16          Q.   Now, you are aware that under the definition
17     of "community home" that there are groups of disabled
18     persons who are afforded some accomodation under that
19     chapter of the Texas Human Resources Code?
20          A.   Yes.
21          Q.   Aren't you?
22                    MR. DURKIN:  Object.  Leading.
23                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
24          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do you know if individuals
25     with Alzheimer's -- Strike that.
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1                    Do you know if somebody wanted to open
2     a home for individuals who have Alzheimer's disease,
3     if it is possible for that home to be considered a
4     community home under the definition of the Texas Human
5     Resources Code?
6          A.   It is.
7          Q.   How about, would it be possible for a home
8     opening its doors to individuals who have pre-senile
9     dementia?  Is it possible for that home to be treated

10     as a community home --
11                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; relevance.
12          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) -- under the Texas Human
13     Resources Code?
14                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
15     Answer if you know.
16          A.   It is.
17          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) How about individuals with
18     cerebral palsy?
19          A.   It is.
20          Q.   How about a home for individuals with
21     epilepsy?
22          A.   It is.
23          Q.   A home for individuals with muscular
24     dystrophy?
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   Multiple sclerosis?
2          A.   Yes.
3          Q.   Cancer?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   Heart disease?
6          A.   Yes.
7          Q.   Diabetes?
8          A.   Yes.
9          Q.   Mental retardation?

10          A.   Yes.
11          Q.   Autism?
12          A.   Yes.
13          Q.   Emotional illnesses?
14          A.   Yes.
15          Q.   Is drug addiction or alcohol addiction, is
16     that a physical illness?
17          A.   It affects you physically and mentally, yes.
18          Q.   But addiction, does that affect your -- is
19     it a physical desire to consume alcohol?
20                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; asked and
21     answered.
22                    MS. PACHECO:  The question --
23                    MR. DURKIN:  She got the answer from
24     the witness.
25                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
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1          A.   Addiction centered --
2                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection.  No question
3     has been asked.
4                    THE WITNESS:  Oh.
5                    MS. PACHECO:  Actually, there was a
6     question asked.
7                    MR. DURKIN:  I don't remember what it
8     was.
9                    THE COURT:  Ask it again to make sure

10     we're clear.
11          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do you remember what my
12     question was, Mr. Patterson?
13          A.   Does alcoholism and drug addiction -- does
14     it affect you physically and mentally?
15          Q.   Does it affect you physically?
16                    THE COURT:  Okay.  That's been asked
17     and answered.  Another --
18          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Is there a physical -- is
19     there a physical symptom from addiction?
20          A.   No.  A physical symptom?  I mean, what
21     exactly?  You mean, like something if I had a beer,
22     I'm going to break out in welts.
23          Q.   Let me rephrase the question.
24          A.   Okay.
25          Q.   Do you -- have you ever seen someone who has
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1     a drug or alcohol addiction get tremors --
2          A.   Absolutely.
3          Q.   -- if they are craving?
4          A.   Yes.  So -- yes.  Physical condition, yes,
5     absolutely.
6          Q.   Okay.
7          A.   Yeah.
8          Q.   Are you aware of any case under Texas law
9     that holds that alcohol addiction or drug addiction is

10     an emotional illness?
11          A.   No.
12          Q.   In fact, you are aware of Texas case law
13     that specifically states that a recovering drug
14     addicts and alcoholics are not included within the
15     provisions of the community homes for Disabled Persons
16     Location Act?
17          A.   Yes.
18          Q.   And that comports with Mr. Sanchez's
19     representations to you last Friday?
20          A.   Yes.
21          Q.   When the City of Fort Worth wouldn't even
22     let you file for a variance?
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; asked and
24     answered.
25                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
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1          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) So, you had just told me
2     that homes that take in people with Alzheimer's or
3     dementia, cerebral palsy, that the community homes for
4     Disabled Persons Location Act does apply to those
5     types of individuals?
6          A.   It does.
7          Q.   And those types of individuals could seek a
8     variance from the City of Fort Worth?
9          A.   Yes.
10                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; leading.
11          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Could those individuals
12     seek a variance from the City of Fort Worth, in your
13     opinion?
14          A.   Yes.
15          Q.   Okay.  But you, running a home for
16     recovering drug addicts and alcoholics were not given
17     that same privilege?  Were you?
18          A.   No.
19          Q.   Were you treated differently than
20     individuals who have disabilities such as Alzheimer's
21     disease or dementia, cerebral palsy, epilepsy?
22          A.   I believe I was.
23          Q.   Are the residents of Ebby's Place, do they
24     have access to the house?
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   They can go into the kitchen?
2          A.   Absolutely.
3          Q.   Hang out in the living room?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   Check out the backyard?
6          A.   Yeah.
7          Q.   So, you don't restrict them simply to a
8     guest room?
9          A.   No.

10          Q.   Are there special locks on the doors of the
11     guest rooms?
12          A.   No.
13          Q.   Do the residents of Ebby's Place share all
14     aspects of domestic day-to-day life with each other?
15          A.   Absolutely.  Watching movies, having people
16     over for sporting events, all chores, normal household
17     stuff.
18          Q.   Do you ever feed them something besides
19     HotPockets over there?
20          A.   Quite a bit of stuff besides HotPockets.
21          Q.   Yeah?  What kind of stuff might y'all have?
22          A.   We keep an ample supply, a wide -- a pretty
23     wide variety of stuff that's quick like HotPockets,
24     corn dogs, frozen burritos and frozen pizzas.
25                    We also keep -- because a lot of guys
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1     come in there who know how to cook, hamburgers,
2     steaks, fish, shrimp, chicken.  We keep all of that
3     stuff.
4                    Eggs, bacon, sandwich stuff.  So, just
5     we keep a wide variety just like I would keep for when
6     it was just me and my daughter.  It's the exact same
7     thing.
8          Q.   I see.  So, y'all cook together and share
9     meals together?

10          A.   We do.
11          Q.   And sometimes have those cookouts in the
12     backyard?
13          A.   We do.  We have fajita Sundays.
14          Q.   Yeah?  Neighbors might be smelling your
15     chicken grilling in there?
16          A.   They do.  And ask if they can come over and
17     eat with us.
18                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; hearsay.
19     Non-responsive.
20                    THE COURT:  Overruled.
21          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Now, do the people who come
22     sign a contract with you to live at Ebby's Place, do
23     they do that voluntarily?
24          A.   Yes.
25          Q.   Do you let them read the contract before

Page 211

1     they sign it?
2          A.   They have to read it.  We read it together,
3     actually.
4          Q.   And do you force them to sign it?
5          A.   You don't physically force them to, but it's
6     part of the obligations to stay at our house, you need
7     to go through this, you need to sign it.
8          Q.   Well, to live there?
9          A.   Yes.
10          Q.   But they don't have to live there if they
11     don't want to live there?
12          A.   Absolutely not.  We would prefer if someone
13     who didn't want to be there that they not be there.
14          Q.   Do people just voluntarily say, "I want to
15     abide by these rules"?
16          A.   Yes.
17          Q.   "I want to be a part of that community"?
18          A.   Yes.
19          Q.   "I want to join your family"?
20          A.   Yes.
21          Q.   "And to do that, I want to agree to all the
22     bullet points that are in that contract"?
23          A.   That's it.
24          Q.   Now, the people that live there at Ebby's
25     Place, could they live on their own?
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1          A.   Could they?
2          Q.   Uh-huh.
3          A.   Sure.  They could.
4          Q.   No physical limitation that prevents them
5     from being able to get an apartment, get up, take a
6     shower, get in their car, go to a job?
7          A.   No.  We don't have anybody that can't do
8     those pretty simple things.
9          Q.   Is there anybody who if they weren't at

10     Ebby's Place that they'd have to be in any type of
11     other monitored facility for mental problems?
12          A.   Can you repeat the question?
13          Q.   Sure.  If you have -- and it's probably a
14     bad question.
15                    There was some question on whether you
16     provide personal care services.
17          A.   Uh-huh.
18          Q.   And you're not a lawyer?  Are you?
19          A.   No, I'm not.
20          Q.   Is it your understanding that when you have
21     a statute, the particular words in the statute are
22     very important?
23                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection; leading, now.
24                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
25          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Tell me what -- when you
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1     read a statute, do you read it carefully?
2          A.   What's a statute?
3          Q.   I can tell you Mr. Durkin went through about
4     100 pages of statutes with you this morning.  All
5     those papers he was having you read.
6          A.   Oh, yeah.
7          Q.   Are things that are called "statutes."
8          A.   Okay.
9          Q.   So, when you read a statute, do you assume

10     that's what's written there is what's intended?
11          A.   Yes.
12          Q.   And part of the definition of "personal care
13     services" that's contained in Chapter 247 of the Texas
14     Health and Safety Code, it's under Section 247.002,
15     Number 5, personal care services.
16                    And it says that, "Personal care
17     services means general supervision or oversight of the
18     physical and mental well-being of a person who needs
19     assistance to maintain a private and independent
20     residence in an assisted living facility, or who needs
21     assistance to manage the person's personal life
22     regardless of whether a guardian has been appointed
23     for the person."
24                    Do the individuals living at Ebby's
25     Place need that assistance, or do they want it?
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1          A.   They don't need it.  They want it.
2          Q.   They could live on their own somewhere else?
3     They're capable of that?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   These are individuals who are capable of
6     renting an apartment?
7          A.   Yes.
8          Q.   And not having to be in by 11:00, if they
9     were at some other apartment?

10          A.   Right.
11          Q.   They wouldn't have to do their dishes right
12     after they eat?
13          A.   Right.
14          Q.   And in your opinion, all of the individuals
15     living at Ebby's Place are capable, physically and
16     mentally, of doing that?
17          A.   Yes.
18          Q.   In fact, they want the structure that Ebby's
19     Place provides?
20                    MR. DURKIN:  Objection.  Continued
21     leading.  Continued leading.
22                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
23          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Do you believe that the
24     residents living at Ebby's Place want the structure
25     that Ebby's Place provides?
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1          A.   Yes.
2          Q.   Why do you think that?
3          A.   Because they tell me that on the phone when
4     they call.  We have a pretty good reputation of being
5     a very good structured living environment.
6          Q.   You're a former drug addict.  Aren't you?
7          A.   Uh-huh.
8          Q.   You testified to that?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   Do you want to be in a structured
11     environment?
12          A.   Absolutely.
13          Q.   Are you capable of living on your own, by
14     yourself?
15          A.   I am.
16          Q.   But why do you want that environment?
17          A.   Because I have personal experience with
18     leaving a treatment center.  In 1994, I did exactly
19     that, and left a treatment center with no continued
20     care afterwards, and immediately relapsed into a much
21     worse condition than I was prior to going to relapse.
22     And that's the general consensus for alcoholics and
23     addicts.
24          Q.   But then there are those alcoholics and
25     addicts that walk out of the treatment center and go
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1     on about their business, live their own life, live in
2     their own place, and they -- they thrive?
3          A.   Uh-huh.
4          Q.   Is that right?
5          A.   That is right.  There are -- that's
6     absolutely correct.  There are some that as a result
7     of that consequence of going through a treatment
8     center, that consequence is enough for them to say,
9     "You know what, I don't ever want to do this again.  I

10     want to quit drinking."
11                    And I don't know if they are actual
12     alcoholics or drug addicts because as a significant --
13     as a -- as a significant consequence such as going to
14     rehab, they just make a decision to never do that
15     again.
16                    But there is then -- there is actual
17     alcoholics and drug addicts who experience the exact
18     same thing.  They say, "I'm never going to do this
19     again," and in a relatively short amount of time
20     later, they find themselves doing it again.
21          Q.   So each alcoholic or addict is different?
22          A.   There are --
23          Q.   Or is -- is every alcoholic and every addict
24     different?
25          A.   Absolutely.  As human beings, we're all
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1     different.
2          Q.   Okay.  And as human beings, it's up to the
3     individual person to determine what he or she needs?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   And is it up to the individual person to
6     determine what he or she wants?
7                    MR. DURKIN:  Continued leading.
8                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
9          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Mr. Patterson, what are you

10     here asking the Court to do today?
11          A.   We are asking the Court to dismiss these
12     tickets and let the Ebby's Place in -- continue to
13     live in a structured, safe, sober environment, and
14     allow us to continue operating just as we have, be
15     treated as a family.
16                    We are no different than any other
17     family in the neighborhood.  And we just want to
18     continue doing exactly what we have been doing.
19                    MS. PACHECO:  Pass the witness.
20                    THE COURT:  Mr. Durkin?
21                      RE-CROSS EXAMINATION
22     BY MR. DURKIN:
23          Q.   Do you have the guest contract that you had
24     your daughter sign for the entry into your family?
25          A.   She's never signed one of these.
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1          Q.   Do you have the guest contract that you
2     signed for entry into your family when you were
3     growing up?
4          A.   I don't.
5          Q.   That's a fundamental difference between a
6     family and the guys at your place?
7          A.   Uh-huh.
8          Q.   Your daughter doesn't sign that document.
9     You didn't sign that document, they're blood.  You had
10     those guys sign that document.  Didn't you?
11          A.   Uh-huh.  I did.
12          Q.   When your daughter was growing up with you,
13     she didn't pay you $200 a week to live with you?  Did
14     she?
15          A.   No.
16          Q.   How many times are you aware -- are you
17     aware that somebody has done heroin in your house?
18          A.   Actually done heroin in my house?
19          Q.   Yeah.
20          A.   Zero times.
21          Q.   How many times are you aware that somebody
22     has done cocaine in your house?
23          A.   Zero times.
24          Q.   How many times have you kicked somebody out
25     because they were out of their mind at your house?

Page 219

1          A.   Can you explain "out of your mind"?  As in
2     relapse?
3          Q.   Well, like Tim Gorton, for example, he was
4     out of his mind when he was at your house?  Right?
5          A.   There were period of time when Tim Gorton
6     was definitely out of his mind.
7          Q.   And that's why you kicked him out.  So there
8     was one.
9          A.   Yeah.
10          Q.   How many other times have you kicked
11     somebody out because they were out of their mind at
12     your house?
13          A.   I would say 25.
14          Q.   All right.  Let's refer to the chart.
15                    Do me a favor.  Go through that pack of
16     papers and find the chart.  Okay?  All right.
17                    Now, I think -- correct me if I'm
18     wrong.  You -- you were asking for some sort of
19     variance to be treated like a community home.  Is that
20     right?
21          A.   Yes.
22          Q.   Okay.  And your testimony was that the City
23     has the option to grant a variance to a community
24     home.  Is that your testimony?
25          A.   Yes.
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1          Q.   Well, let's look at the law.  Okay?
2                    Community home, you see the "P" with
3     the asterisk?  Right?
4          A.   Yes.
5          Q.   All right.  And then, it says "5.110."
6     With -- with the supplemental uses.
7          A.   Yes.
8          Q.   All right.  Then the next page, permitted
9     uses, P, a "P" in itself indicates that a use is

10     permitted by right.  By right.  As long as it meets
11     the standard, including being licensed?  All right?
12          A.   Right.
13          Q.   Okay.  Does that law indicate that the City
14     has to grant a variance or it's permitted by right?
15          A.   It's permitted by right.
16          Q.   So, that's incorrect?  Licensed community
17     home doesn't have to get a variance?  Does it?
18          A.   That's what we're asking for the variance
19     for.
20          Q.   Okay.  Wait a minute.  You said a community
21     home has to get a variance.  That's wrong.  Correct?
22                    I mean, the City -- a community home --
23     a licensed community home does not have to get a
24     variance.  It's (inaudible) by right?  Correct?
25                    MS. PACHECO:  He actually testified
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1     that he wanted a variance to be treated like a
2     community home, not stating that he met all of the
3     elements of the community home which would have
4     triggered the requirements for the statute.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  He stated community home
6     has to get a variance.  It does not.  It's permitted
7     by right.
8                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Overruled.
9     Continue.
10          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  So were you
11     trying to -- who was the guy you were arguing with?
12     The -- what's his name?  The one guy you were talking
13     with?  Who -- debating about whether or not you could
14     file?  What's has name?
15          A.   Emilio Sanchez.
16          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  So, Emilio Sanchez you're
17     saying he said you were not a community home.  Right?
18          A.   Yes.
19          Q.   And you were -- you are saying you were a
20     community home?  Right?
21          A.   We were asking to be treated as a community
22     home.  So that we could be allowed for this public
23     hearing to go file a variance, to do the variance.
24          Q.   Okay.  So, you were asking to be treated
25     like a community home but not a community home?  Is
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1     that it?
2          A.   Yes.
3          Q.   Okay.  Well, why do you want to be treated
4     like a community home even though you're not a
5     community home?
6          A.   So we could be allowed to continue to
7     operate.
8          Q.   You were really asking him to be treated
9     under the same rules as a community home?  You were

10     arguing with him, that you were a community home.
11     Weren't you?
12                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection.  That
13     misstates his testimony.
14                    MR. DURKIN:  That's my question on
15     Cross Examination.  And I want to make sure I
16     understand what he actually said.  There's a big
17     difference.
18                    MS. PACHECO:  He said he wanted to be
19     treated as community home but not have the same
20     requirements for licensing and to have the two
21     (inaudible) that's his testimony.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  Now, once again, the
23     Defense counsel is popping up at critical junctures
24     trying to coach her witness.  This is a vital area,
25     and one of the key examples of Cross Examination.  It
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1     makes a difference if he said "like a community home,"
2     or if he really said, "I want to be a community home."
3                    And the Defense Counsel sees the danger
4     and she is signalling her client once again.
5                    THE COURT:  Okay.  It's overruled.  Go
6     ahead.
7                    Okay.  Can you answer, Mr. Patterson?
8          A.   Yeah.  Ask the question.
9          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) You really told him that you
10     wanted a -- to file as a community home.  Didn't you?
11          A.   I didn't really care how I filed as long as
12     I could get the -- as long as we could have a public
13     hearing for the variance.
14          Q.   Yeah.  You didn't say "like"?  You said, "I
15     want to file as a community home."  Right?
16          A.   But that was --
17                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection.  That
18     misstates --
19                    MR. DURKIN:  Can this witness be
20     allowed to answer my question?  Without continued
21     coaching.
22                    THE COURT:  I need to hear the
23     objection.  Go ahead.
24                    MS. PACHECO:  My objection is, he is
25     misstating the prior testimony of the witness.
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1                    He is asking the question saying
2     that -- that he testified that he went into that
3     meeting and stated that Ebby's Place was a community
4     home.
5                    His testimony on Direct Examination was
6     specifically that he wanted to be treated like a
7     community home without the licensing requirements and
8     without having two professionals there at the home.
9     That was his testimony.

10                    Mr. Durkin has continually twisted and
11     convoluted the words of the witness on the stand to
12     accommodate his own needs (inaudible) --
13                    THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't agree with
14     that.  But I will sustain it, and ask that you
15     rephrase the question, and then ask it.
16          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) In your conversation with
17     this gentleman, you didn't -- isn't it true that you
18     didn't say, "I want to be treated quote 'like a
19     community home.'"
20                    But you said you wanted to file as a
21     community home?  You took the word "like" out of it?
22     Correct?
23          A.   That's not true.
24                    MS. PACHECO:  Objection.  Misstates the
25     testimony of the witness.
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1                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
2                    MR. DURKIN:  All right.
3                    MS. PACHECO:  He said it's not true so
4     it's been answered.
5          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Well, if you -- if your
6     position to this gentleman was that you were not a
7     community home, what rationale did you give that you
8     wanted to be treated like a community home?
9                    What gave you the right to be treated
10     like a community home?
11          A.   Other sober houses are treated as community
12     homes.  So why couldn't we in Fort Worth?
13          Q.   You have no idea whether they are actual
14     community homes?  Do you?
15          A.   Uh-huh.  Well, there's --
16          Q.   You have no personal knowledge to that
17     effect?  Do you?
18          A.   I do, actually.
19          Q.   Everything you have -- everything you have
20     to offer on that is based upon what you read in
21     hearsay?  Right?
22          A.   Here is one that's two miles away from our
23     house, 6500 Shadydell Drive, Volunteers of America.
24          Q.   You have no idea whether they've actual
25     filed or whether they are actually licensed and
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1     everything you have to say is based on what you have
2     talked to somebody about?  Right?
3          A.   Or what I have looked up on the Internet.
4          Q.   Right.  It's all hearsay.  Secondary
5     (inaudible.)
6          A.   Fort Worth zoning office.  Isn't that you?
7                    MS. PACHECO:  Actually that would be a
8     representation by a party opponent if it was taken
9     from the City of Fort Worth.

10          A.   That's where all of this other stuff came
11     from --
12          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Yeah.
13          A.   -- the Fort Worth zoning office.
14                    MS. PACHECO:  So, that's not hearsay.
15          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) You have -- you have no idea
16     whether they are licensed or not?  Do you?
17                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
18          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) The zoning maps says nothing
19     about whether they're licensed?  Do they?  Does it?
20          A.   No.  But I could get it pretty quick.
21          Q.   Yeah.  Okay.  Well, so, the answer is you
22     have no idea whether they're licensed right now?
23     Right?
24          A.   They are not being given tickets so I would
25     assume they are.  Maybe it's an assumption on my part.
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1          Q.   Okay.  Well, all right.  Well, all right.
2     Let's -- let's go on that.  You would assume they are
3     licensed.  All right.
4                    You just said that you're aware of this
5     case that says that sober houses for recovering drug
6     addicts and alcoholics do not have to be licensed as a
7     community center.  Right?  Are you aware of that case?
8     Right?  Is that -- is that --
9          A.   It's kind of a twist of the words.

10          Q.   Okay.  What do you understand that case to
11     say?
12          A.   That it excludes recovering alcoholics and
13     addicts from the regulations of the community home, I
14     believe it is what it says.
15          Q.   And that's -- that was Deep East Texas
16     Regional Mental Health and Mental Retardation
17     Services, 877 Southwest Second, 550.  Right?
18          A.   Yes.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  I have the case.  I would
20     like to tender to the Court.
21                    THE COURT:  Thank you.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  Here's a copy for Defense
23     counsel.
24          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Here is a copy for you,
25     Mr. Patterson.
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1                    Where in that case does that case say
2     that drug addicts and alcoholics are excluded from
3     licensing requirements or definitions?
4                    MS. PACHECO:  I think the Court can
5     take judicial notice of what's contained in the case.
6     I don't know that it's required that he sit here and
7     read it on the stand (inaudible.)
8                    MR. DURKIN:  It goes to credibility.
9     This witness -- this is different from what Defense
10     counsel provided.
11                    THE COURT:  I understand.  Overruled.
12                    Keep going.  We'll wait, give him some
13     time to answer.
14                    MR. DURKIN:  That will give us all a
15     chance to read it while he is reading it.
16          A.   I don't know where it is in here.  I'll
17     gladly sit here and continue reading if y'all want me
18     to.
19                    MS. PACHECO:  Just read.  Go ahead and
20     find it because it's exactly in there word for word
21     what I asked you.
22                    THE COURT:  We will call for a 10
23     minute recess.  It is 10 minutes -- it's almost 10
24     minutes after 1:00.  We will reconvene a 1:20.
25                    All right?  Thank you.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  Hey, Ben, we're on
2     recess, so.
3                    THE COURT:  We're off the record.
4                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
5     segment.)
6                    (Segment 13 of DVD labeled as, "Court
7     9-20120515-1325_01cd329e32b9a060":)
8                    THE COURT:  On the record.
9          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  You found it
10     now.  Right?
11          A.   Yes, sir.
12          Q.   All right.  Let's talk about that.  Going on
13     Page 18, about a little more than an inch down on the
14     left-hand column.  Correct?
15          A.   Yes, sir.
16          Q.   "And the act covers specific groups of
17     persons with ascertainable and certain disabilities.
18     However, persons disabled by drug or alcohol abuse are
19     not protected.  They are, in fact, excluded."
20                    That's where you get that from.  Right?
21          A.   That's what were (inaudible.)
22                    THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I'm not moving
23     as fast as you apparently.  Page 18?
24          A.   (Inaudible.)
25                    THE COURT:  (Inaudible.)  Okay.  Thank
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1     you.  Go ahead.
2          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) All right.  No case that law
3     that goes with that?  Right?  That's the only
4     statement to that effect?  Right?  Is that correct?
5          A.   Are you asking me?
6          Q.   Can you find another statement to that
7     effect?  Or is that the only statement that you've
8     found to that effect?
9          A.   It is.
10          Q.   All right.  So, you would agree there is no
11     case law cite to that?  Right?
12          A.   I don't know (inaudible.)
13          Q.   Okay.  There is no case that follows that?
14     That's fine.  The judge can -- can look at that, and
15     we can all look at that.
16                    But you would -- you do know that this
17     case is about mentally handicapped individuals?
18     Right?  That's one of the beginning premises of this
19     whole thing.  Is -- it involved mentally handicapped
20     individuals.  Right?
21          A.   It does (inaudible.)
22          Q.   It did -- right.  It did not involve people
23     who had alcohol and drug and abuse?  Right?
24          A.   Correct.
25          Q.   Okay.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  I have a question.
2     Judge, I'm sorry.  This is more administrative.
3                    THE COURT:  Uh-huh.
4                    MS. PACHECO:  Is there a way I can have
5     access to the Internet since the prosecutor has assess
6     to the Internet?  And is pulling things up as we go.
7                    THE COURT:  You can have access to the
8     Internet.  I believe you are guest but not be at
9     that -- that computer.

10                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.
11                    THE COURT:  That one there is not
12     hooked up.
13                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  Now, is there a
14     password.  I mean, I have my laptop.  Otherwise, I
15     feel like I am sort of at a disadvantage because the
16     prosecutor...
17                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
18     segment.)
19                    (Segment 14 of DVD labeled as:  "Court
20     9-20120515-1333_01cd329f51e51950":)
21          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Okay.  You don't know
22     anything about the case that overruled this case?  Do
23     you?  You didn't even know there was a case that
24     overruled this case?  Did you?
25          A.   No.
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1          Q.   All right.  So, let's pick up on your
2     statement that people who come to your house want to
3     be there and don't need to be there.  Right?
4          A.   Okay.
5          Q.   All right?  And they are able to function on
6     their own outside of your facility.  Right?
7          A.   Right.
8          Q.   All right.  Then how are they handicapped?
9          A.   Well, they are recovering alcoholics and
10     recovering addicts.
11          Q.   Yeah.  I get that.  Okay.  So what?  They
12     can function on their own outside of your facility.
13     It's a completely voluntary choice.  They don't need
14     to be there.  They want to be there.
15                    How are they handicapped?
16          A.   Well, it's in federal law.  You're a lawyer.
17     Can't you -- I mean, you know federal law.  Not me.
18     It's -- this is known -- "American with Disabilities
19     Act."
20          Q.   How are they handicapped?
21          A.   They're recovering from alcoholism and drug
22     addiction.
23          Q.   How does that handicap their ability to
24     function outside of your facility?
25          A.   I -- I don't know.
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1          Q.   Without any kind of oversight or agency
2     regulation of any kind for your home there, those
3     people that come there are completely and totally
4     dependent on your good judgment.  Right?
5          A.   No.
6          Q.   Who steps in on their behalf?  What
7     regulates your judgment?
8          A.   Parents, sometimes.
9                    Sponsors.
10                    Maybe -- maybe their counselors from
11     the treatment center they were in might call.
12                    There's -- there's other avenues.  It's
13     not just me.
14          Q.   Yeah.  But while they're in your house, it's
15     you?  Right?
16          A.   No.  I am in constant communication with the
17     therapists, with parents --
18          Q.   All right.
19          A.   -- or wives, maybe.
20          Q.   All right.
21          A.   Brothers and sisters, sometimes.
22                    People who are interested in, generally
23     interested in this person's sobriety.  And we
24     communicate about things.
25          Q.   And that helps you make your decisions.
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1     Right?
2          A.   Sure.
3          Q.   But they're your decisions?  Right?
4          A.   Yeah.  It's my decision.  Yeah.  Sure.
5          Q.   All right.  All right.  Is it fair to say
6     that in some instances, people's lives are in your
7     hand?
8          A.   I don't -- I don't look at it like that.
9          Q.   No?

10          A.   I mean, if a person stays sober and their
11     whole family is reassembled and everybody is happy and
12     celebrating because this kid has now transformed his
13     life into a productive member of society, then, yeah,
14     his life is in my hands.
15          Q.   Your decisions can reach -- can reach life
16     or death consequences?  Your decisions?  Right?
17          A.   I think everybody's decisions can reach life
18     or death sequences.
19          Q.   Yours --
20          A.   We all drive every single day.  You turn the
21     steering wheel.
22          Q.   Yeah.
23          A.   I mean, it's...
24          Q.   Yeah.  So you included, the -- the guys that
25     are at that house.  Right?
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1          A.   Human beings, in general.
2          Q.   Yeah, but in specifically at your house,
3     when they are there, under your care.  Right?
4          A.   That -- what -- what's the question?
5          Q.   You make life or death decisions?
6          A.   I make life or death decisions every day,
7     sure.
8          Q.   With regard to those guys.
9          A.   Addiction kills people.  So, yes, I do.
10          Q.   All right.
11          A.   Yeah.
12          Q.   With no oversight you are essentially
13     saying, "Trust me for my good judgment."  Right?
14          A.   Yes.
15          Q.   Did you have a best friend named Lynn
16     Everett Morse?
17          A.   I did.
18          Q.   He died because of a decision you made?
19     Right?
20          A.   That we both made, yes.
21          Q.   You tell us how that happened.
22          A.   Sure.
23                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm going to object to
24     the relevance this is getting into.  This doesn't have
25     anything to do with the citation at issue.
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1                    THE COURT:  I think it's relevant.
2     Overruled.  Go ahead.
3          A.   In 1997, we were in separate vehicles and we
4     had a head-on collision.  We were both speeding.  And
5     I had air bags and seat belts and he didn't.  And he
6     died in the crash.
7          Q.   (By Mr. Durkin) Yeah.  You had a habit, you
8     and he, of playing chicken whenever you met on the
9     freeway.  Right?

10          A.   No.
11          Q.   Y'all drove head-on at each other and
12     collided head-on?  Correct?
13                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm still going to
14     object.  He testified it was in '97.  It's 2012.
15     That's well beyond the statute.  If that's even what
16     this is referring.  This is not relevant --
17                    MR. DURKIN:  I'll -- I'll withdraw the
18     question.
19                    MS. PACHECO:  -- (inaudible.)
20                    THE COURT:  He is withdrawing the
21     question.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  I'll withdraw the
23     question.
24                    Pass the witness.
25                   FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION
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1     BY MS. PACHECO:
2          Q.   Mr. Patterson, if -- if a guest at Ebby's
3     Place didn't like the way you were running Ebby's
4     Place, could they leave?
5          A.   Absolutely.
6          Q.   Move out?
7          A.   Yes.
8          Q.   Go somewhere else?
9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   Go back home to their parents?
11          A.   Yes.
12          Q.   Go rent an apartment?
13          A.   Yes.
14          Q.   Go find another sober house?
15          A.   Yes.
16          Q.   It doesn't obligate them to stay there?
17          A.   No.
18          Q.   So -- so without -- I mean, these
19     individuals can oversee themselves then, in their
20     housing decisions?
21          A.   Yes.
22          Q.   They choose to live there with you?
23          A.   They do.
24          Q.   Could they go live somewhere else?
25          A.   We encourage them to go somewhere else if

Page 238

1     they don't want to be there.
2                    MS. PACHECO:  Permission to approach
3     the witness?
4                    THE COURT:  Sure.
5          Q.   (By Ms. Pacheco) Mr. Patterson, I'm handing
6     you a document.  Do you recognize that document?
7          A.   Yes.
8          Q.   Without going into the contents of the
9     document, can you tell me what that is?

10          A.   This is a reasonable accomodation request
11     sent from my attorney, Steve Polen, to the
12     department -- or to the City of Fort Worth.  Yeah.  To
13     the City of Fort Worth.
14          Q.   Okay.  So that was -- this document is the
15     written notice that you are making a reasonable
16     accomodation request to the City of Fort Worth?
17          A.   It is.
18                    MS. PACHECO:  I don't know what Exhibit
19     that we're up to.
20                    THE COURT:  Defense is Number 9.
21     Number 8.
22                    MS. PACHECO:  Would you mark this as
23     "Defendant's Exhibit 8"?
24                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Defense 8.
25                    MS. PACHECO:  I would offer Defendant's
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1     Exhibit 8 into evidence.
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll take a brief
3     recess.
4                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
5     segment.)
6                    (Segment 15 of DVD labeled as, "court
7     9-20120515-1344_01cd32a0e8e09180":)
8                    MS. PACHECO:  My request would be that
9     I have the same Internet access the Court has provided

10     to Mr. Durkin, the prosecutor.
11                    THE COURT:  The Court, he's -- he's an
12     employee of the City Attorney's office with the City
13     but I don't oversee him.  I don't supply him Internet
14     access.  That is something the City Attorney's office
15     has supplied him.
16                    Most of the defense attorneys come
17     equipped with their own air cards, whatever device it
18     is to use -- to get that access.  It's highly unusual
19     for someone to make a request of the judge to start
20     making those provisions.  I know more -- if his
21     Internet goes out, I don't provide that to him.  I
22     wouldn't call a recess to provide it, and I don't set
23     the limitations on what he can and cannot do on that.
24                    What I'm saying is a reasonable
25     accomodation (inaudible.)  Limited tool so that we can
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1     keep going and not drag this down or take more time
2     than we should.
3                    The administrator here at the building
4     is willing to log in under his log-in but he's taking
5     a risk.  It's his log-in.  So --
6                    MALE SPEAKER:  That's correct.
7                    THE COURT:  -- I need to know what
8     sites.
9                    Is it a purpose for you to access the

10     case law?
11                    Is it Westlaw that you're wanting?
12                    What's the urgency?  Why can't your law
13     firm provide it?
14                    And if not, he's willing to do that so
15     we can keep going.  It's 1:45.  And I want to go until
16     5:00 o'clock today.
17                    But I am not interested, or going to go
18     into whatever restrictions on Mr. Durkin.  I don't --
19     I'm not in charge of that.  But I'm just saying this
20     is just a thing that -- to facilitate keeping going in
21     the trial right now.
22                    MS. PACHECO:  I mean, this utilization
23     to Google basically to look up any type of relevant
24     any case law statutes.  Or anything that's --
25                    THE COURT:  Okay.  With that
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1     understanding, (inaudible) if you're willing to log on
2     just for today, and then, we'll revisit this after we
3     (inaudible.)
4                    MALE SPEAKER:  (Inaudible.)
5                    THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  He is
6     going to do that now.
7                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
8     segment.)
9                    (Segment 16 of DVD labeled as, "court

10     9-20120515-1350_01cd32a1b442799b0":)
11                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm still reading, Your
12     Honor.
13                    MS. PACHECO:  (Inaudible) the document.
14                    THE COURT:  I apologize.
15                    MR. DURKIN:  I object.  This is
16     hearsay.
17                    MS. PACHECO:  Actually, it's not for
18     demonstrate -- it's the written -- it's the written
19     request, and then putting the City on notice of the
20     written request for the reasonable accommodations it's
21     being offered for that purpose.
22                    MR. DURKIN:  I don't mind the Court
23     looking --
24                    MS. PACHECO:  It's -- it's the best
25     evidence of the fact that the written request, and
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1     putting the City on notice it actually occurred as the
2     witness has testified.
3                    MR. DURKIN:  I don't mind the Court
4     looking at it to -- to determine if it contains
5     hearsay, but this is the classic definition of
6     hearsay, is it's written by Stephen Polen, and out of
7     court declarant.
8                    It references some case law but it
9     makes factual assertions, it makes many, many, many

10     factual assertions.  It's about 50/50.  And it is used
11     to prove the truth of the matter asserted.
12                    MS. PACHECO:  And if the Court only
13     wants to look at the case law that he's asserted
14     (inaudible) to put the Court on the Notice of the
15     request and discard the factual assertions, I won't
16     offer it for the truth of the facts asserted therein.
17                    THE COURT:  Explain to me the hearsay
18     exception you were (inaudible.)
19                    MS. PACHECO:  I'm not offering it to
20     prove the truth of the matter that's asserted in
21     there.  What I'm offering is to demonstrate to the
22     Court that Mr. Patterson did in fact make a written
23     request to the City for reasonable accomodation,
24     thereby putting the City on notice of the fact that a
25     reasonable accomodation request has been made under
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1     best evidence rule.  The document containing that
2     putting the City on notice is the best evidence rather
3     than the testimony of the witness.  It's not being
4     offered for the truth of (inaudible.)
5                    THE COURT:  It is his request.  Right?
6     I mean, he is the witness.  It's his request.
7                    MS. PACHECO:  Right.  But a notice does
8     not -- I mean, simply putting the City on notice that
9     a request has been made it's not -- it's not going to

10     prove the truth of the facts that are asserted
11     therein, and I'll make that statement on the record.
12                    THE COURT:  All right.  Your response?
13                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes.  I don't mind if
14     counsel wants to offer a redacted version that
15     eliminates all factual assertions and just relies on
16     case law.  I don't have any problem with that.
17                    MS. PACHECO:  I think the Court can
18     take judicial notice not relying on the facts
19     contained therein.
20                    THE COURT:  How much?  (Inaudible) are
21     we talking about half of the document?
22                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, I don't certainly
23     don't mind the Court looking at it to make
24     determination, would the Court like to do so?
25                    There's a lot, it makes a lot of
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1     factual assertions in there, a lot of which we're
2     arguing about.
3                    THE COURT:  All right.  I'm going to
4     sustain the hearsay objection.  Because it is hearsay.
5                    However if you want to go ahead and
6     take some time and redact it out, and you can make a
7     copy, and you can reoffer it with those -- those
8     provisions if you would like to do so.
9                    MS. PACHECO:  (Inaudible) Court have

10     some (inaudible.)
11                    THE COURT:  We will go off of the
12     record, take a brief, 10-minute...
13                    (End of audible portions of the DVD
14     segment.)
15                    (Segment 17 of DVD labeled as, "Court
16     9-20120515-1414_01cd32a50b0f7f10":)
17                    MS. PACHECO:  I believe that before the
18     break, Your Honor, had indicated that the Defendant
19     could redact out any factual --
20                    THE COURT:  Right.
21                    MS. PACHECO:  -- reference to Ebby's
22     Place which I have done.
23                    THE COURT:  Okay.  State, have you seen
24     that?
25                    MR. DURKIN:  No, Your Honor.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  I left only the actual
2     request for the accomodation, the basis for the
3     request, and took out anything that referenced the
4     facts of this specific case.
5                    THE COURT:  All right.
6                    MR. DURKIN:  I agree that it appears
7     Defense has gotten most of the factual assertions out.
8     There is a couple that I see.
9                    What we are left with now, Your Honor,
10     is assertions from Stephen Polen that the cited cases
11     say what he says they say.
12                    Once again, using -- offering
13     statements from an out of court witness to use the
14     proof to prove the truth of the matter asserted with
15     regard to this unknown person's summary as to what the
16     cases say.
17                    Now, I don't -- I don't -- I haven't
18     stopped to count the cases but I'd be willing to bet
19     that there are, probably, I don't know, 50 cases cited
20     in here.  I certainly don't have time to look at them
21     and read them and see if what is in them is true and
22     respond to them.
23                    THE COURT:  Response?
24                    MS. PACHECO:  My response is that what
25     this is, is the -- putting the City on notice of the
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1     request being made -- the request being made and the
2     basis for that request.  It's not being offered for
3     the truth that's asserted but that is the notice that
4     was given to the City, and that is what establishes
5     the basis for the request.
6                    THE COURT:  Okay.  What number is that?
7     Is it marked as?
8                    MS. PACHECO:  That is Number 8.
9                    THE COURT:  I'm going to overrule the

10     State's objections and allow it in.  So Defense 8 is
11     admitted.
12                    All right.  Thank you.
13                    MR. DURKIN:  And do I understand it's
14     being offered not for the truth of any matter asserted
15     in there --
16                    THE COURT:  That is my understanding.
17     And I am only admitting it under those -- that
18     understanding alone.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.
20                    THE COURT:  Is that correct?
21                    MS. PACHECO:  That's correct.
22                    Pass the witness.
23                    MR. DURKIN:  No further questions.
24                    THE COURT:  Anything further for this
25     witness?
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  No, Judge.
2                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you for your
3     testimony.
4                    THE WITNESS:  What do I do with all of
5     (inaudible) stuff?
6                    THE COURT:  Are any of those admitted
7     exhibits?
8                    THE WITNESS:  I think so.
9                    THE COURT:  If they're something that

10     has been admitted as evidence, then I need it.
11                    If they're papers that were given to
12     you to look at, ask the State if they want it back.
13     But that's definitely been admitted.  Yeah.
14                    MS. PACHECO:  Is that the one -- did
15     you offer that one?  I thought he did not offer the
16     website.
17                    THE COURT:  Oh.
18                    MS. PACHECO:  I think that was not
19     admitted.
20                    THE COURT:  Okay.  I can't see from
21     here.  There is one that had been admitted before.  It
22     would have been -- probably not that one.  That 18.
23                    But 10 had been admitted.  This one is
24     the one I was thinking of.
25                    And 15, already admitted.
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1                    Do you want back what you provided to
2     the witness?
3                    MR. DURKIN:  Yes.
4                    THE COURT:  Okay.
5                    MR. DURKIN:  Sometime we are going to
6     need it again.
7                    THE COURT:  All right.  And that is
8     those papers back.
9                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.

10                    THE COURT:  It's still your case.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  The Defense rests, Your
12     Honor.
13                    THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  The
14     State?
15                    MR. DURKIN:  Once again, I would ask
16     for a five-minute recess to confer with my witness to
17     see if I would like to put on any rebuttal.
18                    THE COURT:  Okay.  That's fine.  Okay.
19                    (End of audible portion of the DVD
20     segment.)
21                    (Segment 18 of DVD labeled as, "Court
22     9-20120515-1428_01cd32a707d5ed00":)
23                    THE COURT:  We're back on the record.
24                    MR. DURKIN:  Rest and close, Your
25     Honor.
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1                    THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Closing
2     statements when you are ready.
3                    MR. DURKIN:  Thank you.  I'd ask that
4     you find Mr. Patterson guilty.  The State has proven
5     the elements of the case beyond a reasonable doubt.
6                    The State has shown that on the date
7     alleged that the Defendant was operating a business in
8     an A5 residentially zoned district at 6245 Granite
9     Creek Drive.  And the State has shown that he

10     knowingly did those actions, knowingly maintained the
11     premises in a manner such that he was operating that
12     business.
13                    I will go so far as to say that the --
14     the elements of the case were proven before we
15     reconvened today when the Defendant got through
16     testifying, and essentially admitted at -- by the end
17     of that day before we reconvened, all the elements of
18     the case.  And the bulk of today's testimony was --
19     fleshed that out, basically.
20                    Added detail to the nature of that
21     business, showed how the nature of that business
22     denied the people that came to him, the protections of
23     tenants, and denied the people that came to him the
24     protections of any oversight for -- of the nature of a
25     community home, and granted him no protection
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1     whatsoever.  All at the discretion of the Defendant,
2     whatever he chose.
3                    The State has shown, for example, that
4     this was not a situation where the Defendant was
5     simply renting out his house.  It was not a single
6     family use.  It was not a family.  It was not like a
7     family.  A family is defined as up to five unrelated
8     people, or more than five people.
9                    No matter -- no matter how many times
10     the Defendant can answer "yes" to the Defense's
11     leading questions of:  "Can y'all smell the steaks in
12     the back yard cooking on the barbecue?"
13                    "And can y'all -- do y'all -- are you a
14     family?"
15                    "Oh, yes."
16                    It's not a family because these were
17     unrelated recovering alcoholics and drug addicts.  And
18     this Defendant had signed this business contract in
19     exchange for money, $200 a week times 10 occupants of
20     his four-bedroom house, four grown men to his master
21     bedroom.  It's a business arrangement.
22                    In fact, by the very nature of how the
23     Defendant advertises alcoholic and drug addiction
24     recovery services, that is the core nature of his
25     business, the Defendant himself admits that nobody is
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1     going to live at his place like that under his terms
2     for 200 bucks a week, if he didn't provide the
3     business services that went with it.  So that's core.
4                    I would submit that it's beyond any
5     dispute.  The Defendant was operating a business in a
6     residentially zoned district.  And if the Defense
7     claims that is a dispute, the facts underlying that
8     decision are not in dispute because the Defendant
9     admits every single fact that would allow the Court to

10     conclude, yeah, it was a business in a residential.
11                    So, what we are left with is the
12     most -- the most pressing defense, I suppose, or the
13     one that's most prominent is the Defense claim that,
14     yeah, but.  Yeah, but federal law should pre-empt the
15     City law in that they have some sort of protection
16     above the City that allows them to do this and because
17     of that claim, this Court should say, okay.  Even
18     though he did it, there is some sort of federal
19     protection that protects it, and so they're going to
20     ask you to find him not guilty.  And that is
21     premature.
22                    I'll draw this analogy.  Let's say the
23     City were dumb enough, dumb enough to pass a law to
24     say, you know what?  From now on, black people can't
25     drink out of the same water fountains as white people.
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1                    Well, that's an obvious constitutional
2     violation that this Court would be well justified in
3     saying, "There is no way that I'm going to enforce
4     that law, I'm going to uphold that law and I'm going
5     to find him not guilty.  Done."
6                    That's because -- that's because it's
7     beyond argument.  Right?
8                    Well, what -- what are we left with at
9     the end of this trial with Defense's claim that he is

10     somehow protected?
11                    Well, we're left with the Defendant
12     making a request for some sort of reasonable
13     accomodation, or make -- we're left with the Defendant
14     doing something.  All right?
15                    We're left with the intimidation that
16     somehow it -- what he is doing is entitled to some
17     sort of protection from the City ordinance.
18                    But I -- I want the Court to ask
19     itself:  Has the Court been convinced to any degree?
20     I would submit, no.  It's a vastly open question
21     because I submit the best that the Defense can do is
22     raise the issue for consideration.  That's it.  There
23     is no answer at this point.  And in -- in the absence
24     of a compelling case where the Court says, "Well, it's
25     obvious.  So obviously I have to overrule the City
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1     ordinance."
2                    Then it's the Court's -- it's the
3     proper decision or at it's -- I would submit it is the
4     Court's duty to follow the law.
5                    If the -- if -- let's take a -- a
6     situation where if -- if the Court were to say, "You
7     know what I think?  I think maybe this issue deserves
8     federal protection so I'm going to find him not
9     guilty."

10                    Does that answer the question?  I would
11     submit, no, because we've got a whole bunch more
12     cases.  Does that stop the State from bringing another
13     case?  No.  Maybe the Court -- maybe the Court would
14     change its mind next time.  Maybe we would get a
15     different Judge next time.  That doesn't answer the
16     question.
17                    Is there any -- if that happens, is
18     there any higher court that addresses the issue?  No.
19     The question essentially remains unanswered.
20                    For this, for this decision, for there
21     to be a definitive answer on this, it has to happen at
22     a higher level than this Court.
23                    At this point without an obvious
24     answer, the proper decision is to follow the law.  And
25     you know what if -- if the Defense wants to appeal,
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1     and if they can convince some kind of higher court
2     that it's deserving of some federal protection, well,
3     then there will be some authority on that.  Then, but
4     not until then.
5                    If they want to sue and, I don't know,
6     have some civil case.  I couldn't even tell you what
7     the proper mechanism for -- for addressing that issue.
8     But the only way there is going to have any kind of
9     authority on the issue is that that would be happening

10     at a higher level.
11                    Now, what we have established, though,
12     is that the Defendant operates his business in a
13     netherworld, completely devoid of any kind of
14     regulation.  And that's relevant as to sentencing.
15     Because I will submit that's a scary situation.
16     That's a scary situation, you know.
17                    Now, no matter how many times the
18     Defendant can say, "Oh, you know, I am there for their
19     benefit.  We're like a family."  Da, da, da, you
20     cannot escape the fact that he is the decider.  He is
21     the boss.  He is the one who sets the rules.
22                    He says, "Oh, yes, I need to live in a
23     structured environment."  That's a pretty good gig
24     when he is the one setting the structure.  That's a
25     pretty good gig.
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1                    He is the one who determines every rule
2     by which these people live.  And if that's not enough,
3     he reserves the right to set more rules.  Unlimited.
4     Unlimited.
5                    Now, I remember back in high school
6     reading a book about something like that.  That's the
7     Heart of Darkness, Joseph Conrad's Heart of Darkness.
8     We all remember that.  Right?  We all know the danger
9     of that.  I'm not saying that that's what he is doing.

10     But that is a danger.
11                    That is a danger, to operate in a
12     netherworld without any effective regulations that
13     would be afforded to tenants, or to people protected
14     by the laws of community homes.
15                    You know, if he were to rent out his
16     house, you've got -- you've got a stack of laws that
17     protects the tenants.  About how long they can stay
18     and under what terms they can stay, and all of their
19     rights, and da, da, da, da, da.  He has skirted every
20     one of those.  Well, it wouldn't be so bad if he fell
21     under a different set of regulations.
22                    Now, you know what?  I would submit
23     it's fair to say that we presented a pretty good body
24     of laws that apply to community homes.  All right?
25                    And, you know, I don't know whether --
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1     I guess, I really don't know whether those laws,
2     whether the Defendant should be -- is covered by the
3     laws of community homes.  All right?
4                    I will submit to you the Defendant
5     agreed to the definitions of what would make that
6     happen.  And a reading of those laws certainly could
7     make a compelling argument to that case.
8                    Now, in -- in response to that, Defense
9     pointed out a case that got overruled on other

10     grounds, I guess, that has one sentence about that
11     when it talks about the plaintiff's allegations.  All
12     right?  And just makes an off-the-cuff -- I'm going to
13     say what's -- what's the -- what's -- I forget the
14     legal phrase for somebody, when a court says something
15     that doesn't really relate to the issue of the case.
16                    But the point is, is that the people in
17     that case were mentally -- mental patients.  They
18     weren't drug addicts and alcoholics.  And so -- dicta.
19     That's the word.  Thank you.
20                    So, that wasn't an issue in that case
21     about whether or not the community home statute covers
22     recovering alcoholics and drug addicts.
23                    But -- but I will tell you that every
24     reason why the Defendant says they should be entitled
25     to some special protection says it should fall in
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1     there.  I mean, either they are disabled or not.
2     Right?  I mean, pick one.  Pick one.
3                    Are they disabled?  Well, then they
4     should fall under the protection.
5                    Are they not disabled?  And not fall
6     under the protection?  Then why do you get special
7     treatment?
8                    If they can -- and if they can fully
9     function outside of his home, outside of his own home,

10     why are they disabled or handicapped?
11                    And you know what?  I would submit that
12     you could even dice this a little -- a little cleaner.
13     You could say:  All right, well, maybe there is some
14     holding somewhere that recovering alcoholics and
15     recovering drug addicts generally might be
16     handicapped, and yet this Defendant couldn't name a
17     single reason why the people that went to his place
18     couldn't function fully outside of his environment and
19     get an apartment or a rental place on their own.
20                    So, you could even make the argument,
21     oh, well, okay, maybe even -- maybe generally, you
22     know, recovering alcoholics and drug addicts might be
23     disabled.  Maybe.  Or disabled.
24                    But this Defendant testified that his
25     guys weren't because they can function fully outside
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1     of his place.
2                    So, my point on that is, you really
3     can't have it both ways.  And my point is this, is
4     that when -- when the -- when you have a situation as
5     the Defendant described.  All right?
6                    When he purports to be providing
7     recovery services, when he says that he is providing
8     recovery services for recovering alcoholics and drug
9     addicts.  All right?

10                    And he is providing their meals and he
11     is dictating the terms under which they live, all
12     right?  That is this -- I'll tell you this.  That is a
13     situation that cries out for regulation.
14                    And if it is really the case, that the
15     regulations of the community homes for some technical
16     reason don't apply to him, it must be somewhere that
17     what he's doing must be regulated.
18                    I can't believe that the law would
19     allow the stuff that he's doing without any oversight
20     whatsoever.  And if that's the case, that is a
21     dangerous, dangerous situation for a guy who has been
22     to -- a drug addict and alcoholic, himself, with a
23     GED, who has been in and out of jails or prisons, and
24     a spotty work history to say, "You know what?  I am
25     going to take it upon myself to guide these people's
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1     lives, out of my house."
2                    That is a dangerous situation.  So, I
3     would ask the Court to find that the State has proven
4     its case.  He's operating a business in residential
5     area (inaudible) and fine him $2,000.  Thank you.
6                    THE COURT:  Ms. Pacheco?
7                    MS. PACHECO:  The State has the
8     obligation to prove its case beyond all reasonable
9     doubt.  If Your Honor, is sitting here thinking, gee.

10     I just don't know.  I wonder if Ebby's Place is
11     subject to a reasonable accomodation affirmative
12     defense raised.  That's the reasonable doubt.
13                    The issue that we have here today is
14     that there is a very big, yeah, but.  And that very
15     big yeah, but, that's out there is that federal law
16     when it comes to the Fair Housing Act, when it comes
17     to the American with Disabilities Act, that law does
18     trump city law.  That law does trump state law.  And
19     Mr. Durkin has pointed out that there seems to be a
20     gap in the City's regulations, and in the State's
21     regulations, on how to treat an entity like a sober
22     house.
23                    Respectfully, it is not the Court's job
24     to create those regulations simply because those
25     regulations do not exist.  That is what we have the
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1     legislative branch of government for, and I will be
2     the first to say that something needs to be done about
3     that on the State level, on City level, on some level.
4                    But the fact of the matter is that the
5     Supreme Court of the United States has addressed
6     similar issues in the City of Oxford House case, which
7     I believe the Court is familiar with.
8                    Texas courts have dealt with similarly
9     situated circumstances.  And Texas courts have

10     recognized that the Fair Housing Act prohibits the
11     enforcement of restrictive covenants that
12     discriminate, or that have the effect of
13     discriminating on the basis of a handicap.
14                    Nationwide, courts have held that when
15     you have a zoning requirement that is a use-based
16     requirement, that that is subject to the reasonable
17     accomodation requirements of the Fair Housing Act.
18     And by a use space zoning requirement, that means the
19     same things that counsel has brought up.  There is
20     this definition that a family can only be people
21     related by blood.  Well, it's 2012, and quite frankly,
22     there's a lot of families out there that are situated
23     in such that --
24                    MR. DURKIN:  I object that's a --
25     that's a misstatement of the law.  I object.  A
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1     misstatement of the law.  Up to five unrelated people.
2                    MS. PACHECO:  Five unrelated people can
3     reside in a house.
4                    THE COURT:  Okay.  (Inaudible.)
5                    MR. DURKIN:  That's the definition of
6     "family."
7                    THE COURT:  Right.  Sustained.
8                    MS. PACHECO:  So, federal case law, I
9     don't know if, perhaps, the prosecution is just not
10     familiar with it.  There is an extensive body of
11     federal case law relating to use-based covenant
12     restrictions for individuals who are considered
13     handicapped.
14                    I'll submit to you that there is a
15     significant problem with the definition of persons
16     with handicap under the Texas Human Resources Code.
17     That definition does not include individuals with drug
18     and alcohol addiction.  It's not in there.
19                    The City of Fort Worth's own senior
20     planning person said -- a sober house is not a
21     community home.  Case law before the Court, the Court
22     specifically stated within the body of the case, that
23     alcoholics, drug addicts, are not included in the
24     definition of community home.  There is a gap.
25     There's a gap in the law.  I don't know why there is a
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1     gap in the law.  You don't know why there is a gap in
2     the law.  Because we didn't write the law.  But what
3     we're here for today is for you to interpret the law.
4     And when the City of Fort Worth's own planning and
5     zoning person has stated that this does not apply, the
6     community home definition of disabled does not apply,
7     that's an admission by the City of Fort Worth.
8                    MR. DURKIN:  I object.  He never said
9     that.  Misstatement of the evidence.

10                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
11                    MS. PACHECO:  Mr. Patterson testified
12     that he was told that a sober house is treated as a
13     halfway house in the City of Fort Worth.
14                    He was told that the community home
15     definition does not include --
16                    MR. DURKIN:  I object.  That wasn't --
17                    MS. PACHECO:  That was the testimony by
18     Mr. Patterson.  That's an admission of party opponent.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  No.  Mr. Patterson said,
20     that gentlemen said, it's not a community home.
21     That's what Mr. Patterson's testimony was.  And it's
22     not a halfway house.  He didn't say, "A community home
23     is like a halfway house."
24                    He didn't say --
25                    MS. PACHECO:  Nor did I say that.
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1                    MR. DURKIN:  He didn't say he doesn't
2     meet the definition of disabled.
3                    He didn't say any of that stuff.
4                    He said it's not -- Mr. Patterson's
5     account was, it's not a halfway house.  It's not a
6     community home.
7                    MS. PACHECO:  The City of Fort Worth
8     has held -- the City of Fort Worth has made the
9     definitive ruling in the planning and zoning office

10     that Ebby's Place is not a community home.  So for
11     counsel to stand up and now say that Ebby's Place
12     should be meeting all of the requirements of a
13     community home and that because they weren't they
14     should be held liable on a citation.
15                    THE COURT:  Okay.  State's objection is
16     overruled.
17                    MS. PACHECO:  Okay.  Then, that
18     argument does not hold any water.
19                    Mr. Patterson testified was that the
20     residents who live in Ebby's Place, they want to be
21     there.  They want an environment that will promote
22     their sober living.  They don't need it.
23                    Mr. Patterson told you that he knows
24     former drug addicts and former alcoholics who have
25     stopped using, gone to a rehab facility, come out,
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1     lived on their own and been perfectly fine.
2                    There are -- there are people who
3     function in society with handicaps.  Somebody does not
4     have to be 100 percent incapacitated and debilitated
5     to have a handicap.  Somebody who has an addiction
6     under federal law, who is not currently using, but who
7     is a recovering alcoholic or a recovering drug addict,
8     they are considered handicapped.
9                    I don't write that law.  I don't make
10     that law.  I don't sit on the Supreme Court of the
11     United States.  I didn't draft the Americans with
12     Disabilities Act.  That is the law.  And the Court is
13     required to abide by federal law.  And federal law
14     does hold that those who are recovering addicts and
15     recovering alcoholics are treated as handicapped.
16                    What Mr. Patterson sat up here and told
17     the Court today is all of the ways that the gentlemen
18     who live at Ebby's Place function in a family
19     environment.
20                    He testified that they share bedrooms.
21                    They share bathrooms.
22                    They have to compete for -- if two
23     people need to get in the shower to be ready for work
24     at the same time.
25                    They share food, they eat meals
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1     together.
2                    They cook out in the backyard.
3                    They take walks.
4                    They ride their bikes.
5                    They watch T.V.
6                    They hang photos of family members.
7                    They put up pictures of their pets.
8                    They have guests come over.
9                    These individuals function together as

10     a family unit.  And what he testified is that for him
11     and for some individuals, that is what keeps them on
12     the road to sobriety.  That is what assists them in
13     maintaining their sober living so that they can be
14     contributing members of society.
15                    Mr. Patterson's testimony established
16     that these residents had a handicap.  He said that
17     they're recovering drug addicts, they're recovering
18     alcoholics.  They come to him from treatment
19     facilities.
20                    Established Ebby's Place is a dwelling.
21     It's a single family residence that these gentlemen
22     live in.
23                    They treat it like a residence.  They
24     have their bedrooms.
25                    They have their common areas.
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1                    They have their kitchen.
2                    Mr. Patterson testified that for those
3     who choose to be there, that's necessary to
4     accommodate their sober living.
5                    For those individuals, that is a
6     reasonable accomodation that helps them.  It assists
7     them.  It makes it a little bit easier for them to
8     turn down that drink.  It makes it a little bit easier
9     to not reach for those pills because they are in an
10     environment of people who understand and know what
11     they're going through, and can provide that support
12     that quite frankly, someone who has not ever been in
13     their shoes may not be able to give the same type of
14     support.
15                    The City of Fort Worth has failed to
16     make any attempt at a reasonable accomodation.
17     Mr. Patterson has been met with such a gross amount of
18     ignorance at every level that it's almost appalling to
19     me.  And I'll be quite honest when I took this case I
20     didn't know -- I didn't know what I was getting into.
21     This is someone who is a recovering drug addict.  I
22     understand that there is a stigma that goes with that
23     because I have it, too.  I hear that and I think --
24                    MR. DURKIN:  I object to Defense
25     counsel's introduction of her personal opinion.
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1                    MS. PACHECO:  It's closing argument.
2                    THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.
3                    MS. PACHECO:  But I do know that there
4     are certain federal laws in place, and I do know that
5     people are entitled to be treated with at least some
6     modicum of dignity and respect, and it has been
7     disgusting to me what he has faced.  There is such a
8     level of ignorance about what he does and about who
9     these individuals are.  And there seems to be a

10     complete disregard for the fact that somebody like you
11     or me could just as easily be an alcoholic or a drug
12     addict, or some other type of addict and you'd never
13     know.
14                    These people -- it's a struggle, and
15     it's a day-to-day struggle, and it's a struggle that
16     they will face every day for their entire lives
17     because every restaurant you walk into has a bar,
18     every store has a beer section.  They need all of the
19     help that can be provided and all the City has to do
20     is say, "I'll let you live in the way that you've been
21     living for years without disturbing anyone and this
22     continual" --
23                    MR. DURKIN:  That's outside the
24     evidence.  That's outside the evidence.  Without
25     disturbing anyone?  That's outside the evidence.
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1                    THE COURT:  I'm going to allow it.
2     Overruled.  Go ahead.
3                    MS. PACHECO:  All the City has to do is
4     say, "Okay.  More than five people can live there."
5                    All the City has to say is, "Okay,
6     Mr. Patterson, you can go ahead and collect the money
7     weekly so that you can afford to pay the mortgage, so
8     that you can afford to pay the electricity, so you can
9     afford to cover food expenses in the house, so that

10     you can afford to fix the air conditioning when it
11     goes out."
12                    All the City has to do is passively
13     allow these gentlemen to remain where they have been
14     living for several years now.
15                    The City is not going to have to spend
16     any additional money.
17                    The City is not going to have to handle
18     any of the administrative oversight of Ebby's Place.
19                    All the City has to do is say:  "Ebby's
20     Place, we are going to go accommodate your request
21     that we slightly vary the use-based restrictions in
22     our zoning code and let you keep on keeping on."
23                    As I said, if you're sitting here and
24     you have any question in your mind as to whether
25     Ebby's Place deserves that reasonable accomodation,
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1     that's reasonable doubt, and there should be because
2     there is an entire body of case law on whether sober
3     houses are entitled to reasonable accommodations with
4     respect to use-based zoning requirements.  And the
5     federal case law that's out there has held over and
6     over and over that use-based zoning requirements are
7     subject to reasonable accommodations where it's been
8     established that that is going to assist someone who
9     is suffering with a disability.

10                    I think the evidence has been clear
11     that people are being helped by Ebby's Place, and I
12     cannot possibly imagine why the City of Fort Worth
13     would not want to assist in that endeavor and try to
14     make these individuals be functional members of
15     society.
16                    Why, instead, dump them back into
17     whatever environment they came from that led to drug
18     abuse, that led to alcohol addiction.  Why not let
19     them live in a nice neighborhood surrounded by
20     families so that these individuals can see first hand
21     that if they can keep it together that they, too, can
22     be one of those families and have that type of a life?
23                    For those reasons, I would ask that you
24     dismiss the citation.
25                    THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.
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1     Let's hear from the State.
2                    MR. DURKIN:  Well, I'm not aware of any
3     provision that would allow the Court to do what
4     Defense wants, and ask you to dismiss this citation.
5     It's not a matter of whether you find the Defendant
6     guilty or not guilty.
7                    THE COURT:  (Inaudible.)
8                    MR. DURKIN:  Okay.  Well, my answer is
9     this.  You know, it's fair to say that I have taken

10     great care to when I want to make a point, when I want
11     to say, all right, there's case law out there that
12     does this, or this statute says this, you know what?
13     I make a copy of it, all right?  And I -- and I -- and
14     in open court, we've gone through it.  Sometimes line
15     by line.  I give a copy to the Judge.  I give a copy
16     to the Defense.  I give a copy to the Defendant.  All
17     right?
18                    Now, in contrast, the Defense cited
19     this one other case here and I'm the one that
20     presented that case.  I'm the one that looked that
21     case up and presented a copy.  All right?
22                    So, I guess what I'm trying to say is
23     I'm waiting.  I'm still waiting for a case, to look at
24     a case in my hand that the Defendant says, "Here is
25     the case that says that what the Defendant is doing,

Page 271

1     the combination of stuff that he is doing, here is the
2     case that says that stuff is entitled to federal
3     protection that overrides the City's case law -- or
4     statutes or ordinances."  All right?
5                    That has not yet happened.  The
6     Defendant has not yet presented, "Here is the case,
7     Judge."  Here is the defense prosecutor that says what
8     he is doing is protected.
9                    The best I can glean from her

10     references to cases, to her arguments about cases,
11     is -- is her claim that, all right, recovering
12     alcoholics and drug addicts are handicapped or
13     disabled according to federal law.  That's a claim.
14     And that it's entitled to some protection in some way
15     under the Federal Fair Housing Act in some way.
16     That's the best I can glean.  All right?
17                    Well, let's take a logical extension of
18     that.  I'm onboard 100 percent that if Mr. Patterson
19     wanted to rent his house out and provide housing for
20     up to five unrelated people, he can do that.
21                    And the -- I would, you know, I will
22     just say, I don't have a problem, and I'm not going to
23     argue against it at this point if these people are
24     recovering alcoholics and drug addicts and if they are
25     entitled to the handicap -- the handicapped.  And
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1     entitled to provisions of fair housing, all right?
2     Then we can't -- the City can't keep him from renting
3     out his house to up to five unrelated tenants who
4     happen to be recovering alcoholics and drug addicts.
5                    Now, how do we know that's not the
6     protection that the federal law provides.  That's the
7     best I got.  Do we -- do we say anything else?  Do we
8     see anything else that goes beyond that provided by
9     the Defense?  No.

10                    MS. PACHECO:  I would object there has
11     been a trial brief submitted to the Court that does
12     outline all of the case law that's relevant.
13                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm --
14                    THE COURT:  Sustained.
15                    MR. DURKIN:  I'm looking for the case
16     in my hand that says:  This is what it says.  That has
17     not been provided.
18                    THE COURT:  All right.  Go ahead.
19                    MR. DURKIN:  And I would submit that
20     despite all the trial briefs, I would submit there is
21     no case that says what Mr. Patterson is doing, the
22     specific thing that Mr. Patterson is doing is entitled
23     to federal protection.  That means the City cannot
24     prosecute him for this case.
25                    I would like to address Defense
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1     counsel's claim that the City has made some sort of
2     pronouncement that they're not a community home.  At
3     best what we have is the Defendant saying what he
4     claims this person in Zoning said.  And he claims the
5     person in Zoning said, "Well, you are not a community
6     home."
7                    Okay.  Well, maybe he said that.  Maybe
8     he said, "You're not a licensed community home."  You
9     know, that makes a big difference, really.  Doesn't
10     it?
11                    "You're not a licensed community home.
12     So, you are not entitled to the -- to be in that
13     zoning as a matter of right."
14                    That's a whole big difference.  And you
15     know what?  They sure didn't call that person.  They
16     relied on what Mr. Patterson said he -- says he said.
17     So, that is not a definitive pronouncement.
18                    And you know what?  That's a -- that's
19     a -- that -- I guess that's still an open question
20     about whether he's a community home.  I don't know, so
21     what if this other person may think that or not.  So
22     what?
23                    In summary, this case is really very,
24     very simple.  He's operating a business in a
25     residential.  That's it.  And the Defense, through all
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1     their effort, has been unable to show that what
2     Mr. Patterson is doing, the specific business services
3     that he is providing in the residential neighborhood
4     is entitled to federal protection that trumps our City
5     ordinance.  And what we're left with is him packing as
6     many people as he can get away with in his house in a
7     single-family neighborhood when there is no disability
8     related reason to have more than five.
9                    Therefore, I would ask that you find

10     him guilty and assess the highest fine.  Thank you.
11                    THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, very
12     much.  I do believe the State has proven their case
13     beyond a reasonable doubt.  Mr. Patterson, I'm going
14     to find you guilty, assess a fine and Court cost of
15     $2,000.
16                    If you wish to appeal, I will hand you
17     an appeal packet.  Of course, your attorney will have
18     the best information, this is the standard packet that
19     the Court has.
20                    If you don't appeal, you have 30 days
21     to either pay the fine, apply for a timed payment
22     plan, or community service.  That paperwork is for the
23     time payment plan community service.
24                    If you pay it in full within 30 days
25     should you not appeal, then you don't need that
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1     paperwork.
2                    All right?  I will ask the clerk to
3     please print off a copy of the judgment for Defense
4     counsel so that she can have that to provide to her
5     client and take with her.
6                    Is there anything further from either
7     party?
8                    MR. DURKIN:  Not from the State, Your
9     Honor.
10                    THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, very
11     much.  At this time, we are off the record.  And I
12     would ask the clerk to please log off of that
13     computer.  And if you can, shut it down so that you
14     have that done.
15                    (End of audible portions of DVD.)
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1     State of Texas)
2     Tarrant County)
3
4          I, Suzanne Kelly, Certified Shorthand Reporter in
5     and for the State of Texas, hereby certify that the
6     above and foregoing page numbered 1 through 275
7     constitute a full, true and correct transcription of
8     the audible portions of provided DVD.
9          Signed on this 11th day of June, 2012.
10
11                    _________________________________

                   Suzanne Kelly, CSR, RDR, CRR
12                    Certificate No. 1260

                   Expiration Date:  12-31-12
13                    Merit Court Reporters LLC

                   Firm Registration No. 133
14                    Suite 1350

                   307 West 7th Street
15                    Fort Worth, Texas 76102
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